PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT AND NOTICE OF SALE DATED MAY 30, 2013
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc.:

In the opinion of Edwards Wildman Palmer LLP, Bond Counsel, based upon an analysis of existing law and assuming, among
other matters, compliance with certain covenants, interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”). Interest on the Notes is not a specific preference item for
purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although such interest is included in adjusted current
earnings when calculating corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Under existing law, interest on the Notes is exempt
from Massachusetts personal income taxes, and the Notes are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. The Notes
will be designated as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. Bond Counsel expresses
no opinion regarding any other tax consequences related to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest
on, the Notes. See “Tax Exemption” herein.

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
$7,000,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES

The City of Brockton, Massachusetts (the “City”) will receive telephone and electronic bids at First Southwest Company (617-
619-4400) in the case of telephone bids and via PARITY in the case of electronic bids until 11:00 A.M. Eastern Time,
Wednesday, June 5, 2013 for the purchase of the following described General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes (the “Notes”).

$7,000,000 General Obligation Bond Anticipation Notes (renewal) dated June 14, 2013 and payable June 13, 2014.
Interest will be computed on a 30 day month/360 day year basis (359/360). The Notes are not subject
to redemption prior to their stated maturity dates.

Bids may be submitted electronically via PARITY pursuant to this Notice of Sale until 11:00 A.M., local time, but no bid will be
received after the time for receiving bids specified above. To the extent any instructions or directions set forth in PARITY conflict
with this Notice of Sale, the terms of this Notice of Sale shall control. For further information about PARITY, potential bidders
may contact First Southwest Company (617) 619-4400 or PARITY at (212) 404-8102.

The Notes will be issued by means of a book-entry system, evidencing ownership of the Notes in principal amounts of $1,000, or
integral multiples thereof, with transfers of ownership effected on the records of The Depository Trust Company (DTC) and its
participants pursuant to rules and procedures adopted by DTC. (See "Book-Entry-Transfer System.")

Principal and interest will be payable upon maturity in Federal Reserve funds at U.S. Bank National Association, in Boston,
Massachusetts, or its successor as Paying Agent. If the Notes are issued in book-entry form, disbursements of such payments
to DTC Participants are the responsibility of DTC and disbursements of such payments to the Beneficial Owners are the
responsibility of DTC Participants and the Indirect Participants, as more fully described herein. .

Bids may be for all or part of the Notes at a single or various rates of interest in a multiple of one-hundredth (1/100) of one
percent (1%). No bid for less than par and accrued interest to the date of delivery will be considered and a premium of
at least $2.55 must be included for each $1,000 bid. The right is reserved to reject any or all bids and to reject any bid not
complying with this Notice of Sale and, so far as permitted by law, to waive any irregularity with respect to any bid.

An electronic bid made in accordance with this Notice of Sale shall be deemed an offer to purchase the Notes in accordance
with the terms provided in this Notice of Sale and shall be binding upon the bidder as if made by a signed and sealed written bid
delivered to the City.

Any bidder who submits a winning bid by telephone in accordance with this Notice of Sale shall be required to provide written
confirmation of the terms of the bid by faxing or e-mailing a completed, signed bid form to First Southwest Company by not later
than 12 P.M. on the date of sale.

The award of the Notes to the winning bidders will not be effective until the bid has been approved by the Treasurer and the
Mayor of the City.

The successful bidder for all or a portion of the Note issue may request that said Notes be issued in the form of one fully
registered physical certificate, rather then in book-entry form through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company. The
successful bidder seeking the issuance of such Notes in this manner shall bear any and all costs of any re-registration or
transfer of Notes from time to time. Any bidder seeking to have such Notes issued in the form of fully registered physical
certificates, rather than in book-entry form shall indicate this preference to the City at the time of the submission of the winning
bid. The City reserves the right to decline any request to issue the Notes in non-book entry form if it should determine, in its
sole discretion that issuing the Notes in this manner is not in its best interests.



On or prior to the date of delivery of the Notes, the successful bidder shall furnish to the Town a certificate acceptable to Bond
Counsel to the effect that (a) as of June 5, 2013 (the “Sale Date”), the purchaser had offered or reasonably expected to offer all
of the Notes to the general public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons acting in the capacity of underwriters or
wholesalers) in a bona fide public offering at the price set forth in such certificate, plus accrued interest, if any, (b) such price
represents the fair market price of the Notes as of the Sale Date, and (c) as of the date of such certificate, all of the Notes have
been offered to the general public in a bona fide offering at the price set forth in such certificate, and at least 10% of the principal
amount of the Notes actually has been sold to the general public at such price. To the extent the certifications described in the
preceding sentence are not factually accurate with respect to the reoffering of the Notes, Bond Counsel should be consulted by
the bidder as to alternative certifications that will be suitable to establish the “issue price” of the Notes for federal tax law
purposes. If the purchaser is purchasing the Notes for its own account and not on behalf of another party, and the purchaser
does not presently intend to resell the Notes, the successful bidder will be required to so certify.

The Note issue will be awarded on the basis of lowest net interest cost to the City. Such cost will be determined by computing
the total amount of interest payable on the Notes, at the rate or rates stated, from June 14, 2013 until the maturity of the Notes
and deducting there from the sum, if any, by which the amount bid for the Notes exceeds the aggregate principal amount of the
Notes. In the event a bidder offering a premium for the Notes is awarded a lesser amount of notes than bid, the premium shall
be reduced proportionately.

The purchaser(s) will be furnished the opinion of Edwards Wildman Palmer LLP of Boston, Massachusetts, approving the
legality of the Notes. The opinion will also indicate that the Notes and the enforceability thereof may be subject to bankruptcy
and other laws affecting creditor's rights and that their enforceability may also be subject to the exercise of judicial discretion in
appropriate cases. Payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes is not limited to a particular fund or source of revenue
nor is any lien or pledge for such payment created with respect to any such fund or source. See "Tax Exemption". The Notes
will be valid general obligations of the City of Brockton and, except to the extent they are paid from the bond proceeds in
anticipation of which they are issued, or from any other available moneys, the principal of and interest on the Notes are payable
from taxes which may be levied upon all taxable property in the City subject to the limit imposed by Chapter 59, Section 21C of
the General Laws (Proposition 2 ¥%).

It is anticipated that CUSIP identification numbers will be printed on the Notes. All expenses in relation to the printing of CUSIP
numbers on said Notes shall be paid for by the issuer, provided however, that the issuer assumes no responsibility for any
CUSIP Service Bureau charge or other charge that may be imposed for the assignment of such numbers.

THE NOTES WILL BE DESIGNATED AS "QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS” FOR PURPOSES OF SECTION
265(b)(3) OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE “CODE").

In order to assist bidders in complying with the requirements of paragraph (b)(5)())(C) of Rule 15c¢2-12 promulgated by the
Securities and Exchange Commission, the City will undertake to provide notices of certain significant events. A description of
this undertaking is set forth in the Preliminary Official Statement.

It shall be a condition of the successful bidder’s obligation to accept delivery of and pay for the Notes that, contemporaneously
with or before accepting Notes and paying therefore, it shall be furnished, without costs, with (a) the approving opinion of the
firm of Edwards Wildman Palmer LLP, Boston, Massachusetts, with respect to the Notes, (b) a certificate in form satisfactory to
said firm, dated as of the date of delivery such Notes and receipt of payment therefore, to the effect that there is no litigation
pending, or to the knowledge of the signer or signers therefore, threatened affecting the validity of such Notes or the power of
the City to levy and collect taxes to pay them, and (c) a certificate of the City Treasurer to the effect that, to the best of his
knowledge and belief, both the Preliminary Official Statement as of the date of sale and the Final Official Statement as of the
date of delivery of such Notes referred to below, do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and do not omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading.

Additional information concerning the City of Brockton and the Notes is contained in the Preliminary Official Statement dated
May 30, 2013 to which prospective bidders are directed. The Preliminary Official Statement is provided for informational
purposes and is not a part of this Notice of Sale. The Preliminary Official Statement has been deemed final by the City except
for the omission of the reoffering prices, interest rates, and other terms of the Notes depending on such matters, and the identity
of the underwriters, but is subject to change without notice and to completion or amendment in a Final Official Statement.
Copies of the Preliminary Official Statement may be obtained from First Southwest Company, 54 Canal Street, Boston,
Massachusetts, 02114 telephone (617-619-4400). Within seven business days following the award of the Notes and receipt of
necessary information from the successful bidder(s), 5 copies of the Final Official Statement will be made available to the
successful bidder. Upon request, additional copies will be provided at the expense of the requester.

The Notes in definitive form will be delivered to The Depository Trust Company on or about June 14, 2013 for credit to the City in
federal reserve funds.

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
May 30, 2013 /sl Martin Brophy, Treasurer



OFFICIAL STATEMENT
CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
$7,000,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION BOND ANTICIPATION NOTES

This Official Statement is provided for the purpose of presenting certain information relating to the City of Brockton,
Massachusetts (the “City”) in connection with the sale of an aggregate $7,000,000 principal amount of its General Obligation
Bond Anticipation Notes (the “Notes”). The information contained herein has been furnished by the City except information
attributed to another governmental agency or official as the source.

Authorization of the Notes and Use of Proceeds

The following sets forth the principal amount, purpose, statutory reference and date of mayoral approval for the current
offering of Bond Anticipation Notes:

Statutory
This BANs Total Amount Date Authority
Issue Outstanding (1) Authorized Approved Purpose (M.G.L., as amended)

$ 7,000,000 $ 7,000,000 $ 36,001,597 6/28/2011  School Building Remodeling Ch. 44,s.7(3A)
Total  $ 7,000,000

(1) To be renewed with this issue.

Book-Entry Transfer System

The Depository Trust Company ("DTC"), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Notes. The Notes will be
issued in fully-registered form registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such other name as
may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One-fully registered Note certificate will be issued for each
interest rate, each in the aggregate principal amount bearing such interest rate, and will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking
Law, a "banking organization" within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve
System, a "clearing corporation" within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agency"
registered pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides
asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money
market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC's participants ("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also
facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants' accounts. This
eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S.
securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for
DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing
agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others
such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that
clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly ("Indirect
Participants"”). DTC has an AA+ rating with Standard & Poor's. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are on file
with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and

www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Notes under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit for
the Notes on DTC's records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Note ("Beneficial Owner") is in turn
to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from
DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the
Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Notes are to be accomplished by
entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will
not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in the Notes, except in the event that use of the book-entry
system for the Notes is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Notes deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The
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deposit of Notes with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any
change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Notes; DTC's records
reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Notes are credited, which may or may not be the
Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on
behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect
Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Notes unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's MMI Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an
Omnibus Proxy to the City as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s
consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the Notes are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Principal and interest payments on the Notes will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by
an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is to credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC's receipt of funds
and corresponding detail information from the City or the Paying Agent, on the payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing
instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or
registered in "street name," and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC (nor its nominee), the [Issuer]
or the Paying Agent, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of
principal and interest to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC) is the responsibility of the City or the Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be the
responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and
Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Notes at any time by giving reasonable
notice to the City or the Paying Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not
obtained, Note certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

The City may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, Note certificates will be printed and delivered.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources that the
City believes to be reliable, but the City takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

Tax Exemption

In the opinion of Edwards Wildman Palmer LLP, Bond Counsel to the City (“Bond Counsel”), based upon an analysis of
existing laws, regulations, rulings, and court decisions, and assuming, among other matters, compliance with certain
covenants, interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”). Bond Counsel is of the further opinion that interest on the Notes is not a
specific preference item for purposes of the federal individual or corporate alternative minimum taxes, although Bond
Counsel observes that such interest is included in adjusted current earnings when calculating corporate alternative
minimum taxable income. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the Notes are “qualified tax exempt obligations” for purposes of
Section 265(b)(3) of the Code. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any other federal tax consequences arising
with respect to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Notes.

The Code imposes various requirements relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of
interest on obligations such as the Notes. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in interest on the Notes
being included in gross income for federal income tax purposes, possibly from the date of original issuance of the Notes.
The City has covenanted to comply with such requirements to ensure that interest on the Notes will not be included in
federal gross income. The opinion of Bond Counsel assumes compliance with these requirements.

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Notes is exempt from Massachusetts personal
income taxes, and the Notes are exempt from Massachusetts personal property taxes. Bond Counsel has not opined as
to other Massachusetts tax consequences arising with respect to the Notes. Prospective Noteholders should be aware,
however, that the Notes are included in the measure of Massachusetts estate and inheritance taxes, and the Notes and
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the interest thereon are included in the measure of certain Massachusetts corporate excise and franchise taxes. Bond
Counsel expresses no opinion as to the taxability of the Notes or the income therefrom or any other tax consequences
arising with respect to the Notes under the laws of any state other than Massachusetts.

To the extent the issue price of the Notes is less than the amount to be paid at maturity of such Notes (excluding amounts
stated to be interest and payable at least annually over the term of such Notes), the difference constitutes “original issue
discount,” the accrual of which, to the extent properly allocable to each owner thereof, is treated as interest on the Notes
which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is exempt from Massachusetts personal income
taxes. For this purpose, the issue price of the Notes is the first price at which a substantial amount of the Notes is sold to
the public (excluding bond houses, brokers, or similar persons or organizations acting in the capacity of underwriters,
placement agents or wholesalers). The original issue discount with respect to any maturity of the Notes accrues daily
over the term to maturity of such Notes on the basis of a constant interest rate compounded semiannually (with straight-
line interpolations between compounding dates). The accruing original issue discount is added to the adjusted basis of
such Notes to determine taxable gain or loss upon disposition (including sale, redemption, or payment on maturity) of
such Notes. Noteholders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of ownership of
Notes with original issue discount, including the treatment of purchasers who do not purchase such Notes in the original
offering to the public at the first price at which a substantial amount of such Notes is sold to the public.

Notes purchased, whether at original issuance or otherwise, for an amount greater than the stated principal amount to be
paid at maturity of such Notes, or, in some cases, at the earlier redemption date of such Notes ("Premium Notes"), will be
treated as having amortizable note premium for federal income tax purposes and Massachusetts personal income tax
purposes. No deduction is allowable for the amortizable note premium in the case of obligations, such as the Premium
Notes, the interest on which is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. However, a Noteholder's
basis in a Premium Note will be reduced by the amount of amortizable note premium properly allocable to such
Noteholder. Holders of Premium Notes should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the proper treatment of
amortizable note premium in their particular circumstances.

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to determine (or to inform any person) whether any actions taken (or not taken) or
events occurring (or not occurring) after the date of issuance of the Notes may adversely affect the value of, or the tax
status of interest on, the Notes.

Prospective Noteholders should be aware that from time to time legislation is or may be proposed which, if enacted into
law, could result in interest on the Notes being subject directly or indirectly to federal income taxation, or otherwise
prevent Noteholders from realizing the full benefit provided under current federal tax law of the exclusion of interest on the
Notes from gross income. To date, no such legislation has been enacted into law. However, it is not possible to predict
whether any such legislation will be enacted into law. Further, no assurance can be given that any pending or future
legislation, including amendments to the Code, if enacted into law, or any proposed legislation, including amendments to
the Code, or any future judicial, regulatory or administrative interpretation or development with respect to existing law, will
not adversely affect the market value and marketability of, or the tax status of interest on, the Notes. Prospective
Noteholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to any such legislation, interpretation or
development.

Although Bond Counsel is of the opinion that interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is exempt from Massachusetts personal income taxes, the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or
receipt of interest on, the Notes may otherwise affect the federal or state tax liability of a Noteholder. Among other
possible consequences of ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on, the Notes, the Code
requires recipients of certain social security and certain railroad retirement benefits to take into account receipts or
accruals of interest on the Notes in determining the portion of such benefits that are included in gross income. The nature
and extent of all such other tax consequences will depend upon the particular tax status of the Noteholder or the
Noteholder’s other items of income, deduction or exclusion. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any such
other tax consequences, and Noteholders should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to such consequences.

Bank Eligibility

In the opinion of Bond Counsel, the Notes are “qualified tax exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265(b)(3) of the
Code.



Security and Remedies

Full Faith and Credit. General obligation bonds and notes of a Massachusetts city or town constitute a pledge of its full faith
and credit. Payment is not limited to a particular fund or revenue source. Except for “qualified bonds” as described below
(see “Serial Bonds and Notes” under “INDEBTEDNESS - Types of Obligations”) and setoffs of state distributions as described
below (see “State Distributions” under “CITY FINANCES — Revenues” below), no provision is made by the Massachusetts
statutes for priorities among bonds and notes and other general obligations, although the use of certain moneys may be
restricted.

Tax Levy. The Massachusetts statutes direct the municipal assessors to include annually in the tax levy for the next fiscal year
“all debt and interest charges matured and maturing during the next fiscal year and not otherwise provided for [and] all
amounts necessary to satisfy final judgments”. Specific provision is also made for including in the next tax levy payments of
rebate amounts not otherwise provided for and payment of notes in anticipation of federal or state aid, if the aid is no longer
forthcoming.

The total amount of a tax levy is limited by statute. However, the voters in each municipality may vote to exclude from the
limitation any amounts required to pay debt service on indebtedness incurred before November 4, 1980. Local voters may
also vote to exempt specific subsequent bond issues from the limitation. (See “Tax Limitations” Under “PROPERTY
TAXATION” below.) In addition, obligations incurred before November 4, 1980 may be constitutionally entitled to payment
from taxes in excess of the statutory limit.

Except for taxes on the increased value of certain property in designated development districts which may be pledged for the
payment of debt service on bonds issued to finance economic development projects within such districts, no provision is made
for a lien on any portion of the tax levy to secure particular bonds or notes or bonds and notes generally (or judgments on
bonds or notes) in priority to other claims. Provision is made, however, for borrowing to pay judgments, subject to the General
Debt Limit. (See “INDEBTEDNESS — Authorization Procedure and Limitations” below.) Subject to the approval of the State
Director of Accounts for judgments above $10,000, judgments may also be paid from available funds without appropriation
and included in the next tax levy unless other provision is made.

Court Proceedings. Massachusetts cities and towns are subject to suit on their general obligation bonds and notes and courts
of competent jurisdiction have power in appropriate proceedings to order payment of a judgment on the bonds or notes from
lawfully available funds or, if necessary, to order the city or town to take lawful action to obtain the required money, including
the raising of it in the next annual tax levy, within the limits prescribed by law. (See “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERTY
TAXATION” below.) In exercising their discretion as to whether to enter such an order, the courts could take into account all
relevant factors including the current operating needs of the city or town and the availability and adequacy of other remedies.
The Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court has stated in the past that a judgment against a municipality can be enforced by
the taking and sale of the property of any inhabitant. However, there has been no judicial determination as to whether this
remedy is constitutional under current due process and equal protection standards.

Restricted Funds. Massachusetts statutes also provide that certain water, gas and electric, community antenna television
system, telecommunications, sewer, parking meter and passenger ferry fee, community preservation and affordable housing
receipts may be used only for water, gas and electric, community antenna television system, telecommunications, sewer,
parking, mitigation of ferry service impacts community preservation and affordable housing and related purposes, respectively;
accordingly, moneys derived from these sources may be unavailable to pay general obligation bonds and notes issued for
other purposes. A city or town that accepts certain other statutory provisions may establish an enterprise fund for a utility,
health care, solid waste, recreational or transportation facility and for police or fire services; under those provisions any surplus
in the fund is restricted to use for capital expenditures or reduction of user charges. In addition, subject to certain limits, a city
or town may annually authorize the establishment of one or more revolving funds in connection with use of certain revenues
for programs that produce those revenues; interest earned on a revolving fund is treated as general fund revenue. A city or
town may also establish an energy revolving loan fund to provide loans to owners of privately-held property in the city or town
for certain energy conservation and renewable energy projects, and may borrow to establish such a fund. The loan
repayments and interest earned on the investment of amounts in the fund shall be credited to the fund. Also, the annual
allowance for depreciation of a gas and electric plant or a community antenna television and telecommunications system is
restricted to use for plant or system renewals and improvements, for nuclear decommissioning costs, and costs of contractual
commitments, or, with the approval of the State Department of Telecommunications and Energy, to pay debt incurred for plant
or system reconstruction or renewals. Revenue bonds and notes issued in anticipation of them may be secured by a prior lien
on specific revenues. Receipts from industrial users in connection with industrial revenue financings are also not available for
general municipal purposes.




State Distributions. State grants and distributions may in some circumstances be unavailable to pay general obligation bonds
and notes of a city or town in that the State Treasurer is empowered to deduct from such grants and distributions the amount
of any debt service paid on “qualified bonds” (See “Serial Bonds and Notes” under “INDEBTEDNESS-TYPES OF
OBLIGATIONS” below) and any other sums due and payable by the city or town to the Commonwealth or certain other public
entities, including any unpaid assessments for costs of any public transportation authority (such as the Massachusetts Bay
Transportation Authority or a regional transit authority) of which it is a member, for costs of the Massachusetts Water
Resources Authority if the city or town is within the territory served by the Authority, for any debt service due on obligations
issued to the Massachusetts School Building Authority, or for charges necessary to meet obligations under the
Commonwealth’'s Water Pollution Abatement or Drinking Water Revolving Loan Programs, including such charges imposed
by another local governmental unit that provides wastewater collection or treatment services or drinking water services to the
city or town.

If a city or town is (or is likely to be) unable to pay principal or interest on its bonds or notes when due, it is required to notify
the State Commissioner of Revenue. The Commissioner shall in turn, after verifying the inability, certify the inability to the
State Treasurer. The State Treasurer shall pay the due or overdue amount to the paying agent for the bonds or notes, in trust,
within three days after the certification or one business day prior to the due date (whichever is later). This payment is limited,
however, to the estimated amount otherwise distributable by the Commonwealth to the city or town during the remainder of
the fiscal year (after the deductions mentioned in the foregoing paragraph). If for any reason any portion of the certified sum
has not been paid at the end of the fiscal year, the State Treasurer shall pay it as soon as practicable in the next fiscal year to
the extent of the estimated distributions for that fiscal year. The sums so paid shall be charged (with interest and
administrative costs) against the distributions to the city or town.

The foregoing does not constitute a pledge of the faith and credit of the Commonwealth. The Commonwealth has not agreed
to maintain existing levels of state distributions, and the direction to use estimated distributions to pay debt service may be
subject to repeal by future legislation. Moreover, adoption of the annual appropriation act has sometimes been delayed
beyond the beginning of the fiscal year and estimated distributions which are subject to appropriation may be unavailable to
pay local debt service until they are appropriated.

Bankruptcy. Enforcement of a claim for payment of principal or interest on general obligation bonds or notes would be subject
to the applicable provisions of Federal bankruptcy laws and to the provisions of other statutes, if any, hereafter enacted by the
Congress or the State legislature extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon enforcement insofar as
the same may be constitutionally applied. Massachusetts municipalities are not generally authorized by the Massachusetts
General Laws to file a petition for bankruptcy under Federal Bankruptcy laws. In cases involving significant financial difficulties
faced by a single city, town or regional school district, the Commonwealth has enacted special legislation to permit the
appointment of a fiscal overseer, finance control board or, in the most extreme cases, a state receiver. In a limited number of
these situations, such special legislation has also authorized the filing of federal bankruptcy proceedings, with the prior
approval of the Commonwealth. In each case where such authority was granted, it expired at the termination of the
Commonwealth’s oversight of the financially distressed city, town or regional school district. To date, no such filings have
been approved or made.

Financial Advisory Services of First Southwest Company

First Southwest Company, Boston, Massachusetts, serves as financial advisor to the City of Brockton, Massachusetts.

Disclosure of Significant Events

In order to assist underwriters in complying with the requirements of paragraph (b)(5)(i)(C) of Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated
by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”) applicable to municipal securities having a stated maturity of 18
months or less, the Issuer will covenant for the benefit of the owners of the Notes to file with the Municipal Securities
Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB"), notices of the occurrence of any of the following events with respect to the Notes within
ten business days of such occurrence: (@) principal and interest payment delinquencies; (b) non-payment related
defaults, if material; (c) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties; (d) unscheduled draws
on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties; (e) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to
perform; (f) adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final determination of
taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with respect to the
tax status of the Notes, or other material events affecting the tax status of the Notes; (g) modifications to rights of owners
of the Notes, if material; (h) bond calls, if material, and tender offers; (i) defeasances; (j) release, substitution or sale of
property securing the repayment of the Notes, if material; (k) ratings changes on the Notes; (I) bankruptcy, insolvency,
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receivership or similar event of the Issuer; (m) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the
Issuer or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the ordinary course of business, the
entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any
such actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material; and (n) appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the
change of name of a trustee, if material.

Other than the City, there are no obligated persons with respect to the Notes within the meaning of the Rule.

The covenant will be included in a Significant Events Disclosure Certificate to be executed by the signers of the Notes and
incorporated by reference in the Notes. The sole remedy available to the owners of the Notes for the failure of the Issuer
to comply with any provision of the certificate shall be an action for specific performance of the Issuer’s obligations under
the certificate and not for money damages; no other person shall have any right to enforce any provision of the certificate.

The Issuer has never failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings to provide annual
reports or notices of significant events in accordance with the Rule.



CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
General

Brockton is an industrial-residential city located in Plymouth County, 20 miles southwest of Boston. The City has a
population of approximately 93,810 (2010 federal census) and occupies a land area of 21.4 square miles. Brockton is the
population center of a primary metropolitan statistical area of approximately 170,000 persons. Settled in 1649 and
incorporated as a city in 1881, it is governed by an elected mayor and an 11-member city council.

Principal Executive Officers

The following table sets forth the principal executive officers of the City.

Title Name Term Expires
Mayor Linda M. Balzotti January 2014
Chief Financial Officer John A. Condon April 2015

City Auditor Heidi Chuckran December 2013
Treasurer/Collector Martin Brophy October 2013
City Clerk Anthony J. Zeoli January 2016
Chairman-Board of Assessors Paul Sullivan June 2013

Municipal Services

The City provides general governmental services for the territory within its boundaries, including police and fire protection,
public education, water and sewer maintenance, trash disposal and parks and recreational facilities. Residential trash
disposal and operation of the water filtration and tertiary wastewater treatment plant facilities are contracted out to private
parties.

The City distributes water from Silver Lake in Halifax, the Brockton Reservoir in Avon, and the desalination plant owned
by Aquaria in Dighton to its residents and to a portion of several area towns. The City has complete (approximately 98%)
and separate storm and sanitary sewer systems. The Water, the Sewer, the Refuse, and the Renewable Energy
Departments operate under separate enterprise funds.

Water Supply

The City has met its long-term need for additional water by connecting to a new water system through a joint effort by
Bluestone Energy Inc. and the Spanish Company, Inima. The joint venture (called Aquaria) constructed a desalinization
(Reverse Osmosis) plant on the tidal estuary of the Taunton River. In 2002, the City executed a twenty year contract
which requires the payment of a fixed price attached to an increasing volume commitment, regardless of the amount of
water actually taken, plus an additional charge for water actually delivered. The financial obligation is primarily attached
to the fixed price component.

The schedule for the City’s fixed purchase commitment resembles the projected growth in water demand for the City, but
the schedule somewhat exceeds this curve, especially in years three to eight. In the event that other water purchase
contracts are executed, the City has the right to offset its fixed commitment with the volume commitment of other long-
term purchasers or the right to reduce by about 50%, on a gallon-for-gallon basis, its fixed price for its fixed volume
commitment. The contract also provided the significant benefit that all of the risk of financing the permitting process, plant
construction and operation, rested with a third party and not with the City’s rate payers. The City made no payment until
the water was available for delivery. Construction of both the plant and the pipeline was completed and delivery of water
began in 2008.

The agreement will require increasing the City’s water revenues in order to pay for the contractual minimum purchase
commitment, if other entities do not sign contracts. Effective on all bills mailed on or after July 1, 2008, the water rates
were increased 60%. However, even with this kind of increase, the City’s water rates would be comparable to those of
other Massachusetts communities, especially those in southeastern Massachusetts, whose projected growth is expected
also to make them potential customers of the desalinization plant. The Water Commission and Chief Financial Officer
recommended a 3% increase effective July 1, 2012, however the City Council has not acted upon the recommendation.



Industry, Commerce and Quality of Life

Originally a farming community, Brockton serves as the primary industrial, trade and medical center for the approximately
170,000 persons of the Brockton Primary Metropolitan Statistical Area. Brockton functions both as a suburb to Boston
and as the central city within the Greater Brockton area.

There are three hospitals located within the City: the Good Samaritan Medical Center, Brockton Hospital and the V.A.
Medical Center. The City also is host to other health facilities such as Blue Cross/Blue Shield, Bridgewater Park/ Goddard
Medical Associates, clinical and professional offices and convalescent facilities. The City is also host to "Metro South
Chamber of Commerce”.

There are 4 industrial parks totaling approximately 283 acres located in Brockton: Brockton Business Center, Oak Hill
Way Industrial Park, Campanelli Industrial Park and Northeast Industrial Park. Brockton Business Center includes such
tenants as Copeland Toyota, Concord Foods, Bernardi Honda and Hyundai, G & S Candy, Kinyon-Campbell Business
School, U.S. Post Office (Regional Distribution Center), GZA Drilling and Hart-Hankers Inc. The Oak Hill Way Industrial
Park includes such tenants as Bay State Gas, Ryder Student Transportation, Mullare News Agency, Powers
Pharmaceutical, U.P.S. and the City of Brockton Wastewater Treatment Plant. The Northeast Industrial Park includes a
Pizzeria Uno materials production plant.

One of New England’s first regional malls, the 615,000 square foot Westgate Mall, is situated at the junction of routes 24
and 27 in Brockton. In 1998 the mall began a comprehensive, on-going renovation and expansion. The renovations have
been extensive and include the major additions of both retail and dining establishments. Included in the expansions and
renovations are a new Sears building and a new building for anchor store Macy’s, as well as Best Buy, Dick’s Sporting
Goods, Old Navy, Modell's Sporting Goods, and Texas Road House Steakhouse. In May 2012, Market Basket opened an
81,000 square foot freestanding supermarket at the mall.

Open space in Brockton consists primarily of a 756 acre recreational area known as D.W. Field Park. The park includes
six ponds, bike and foot paths, and an 18-hole golf course. There are also more than 35 neighborhood playgrounds and
parks.

The Brockton Recycling Program, formerly a limited and self-sufficient program managed and operated by its residents,
has been significantly expanded, with curbside pickup now offered by the City’s contract vendor for trash pickup. Curbside
recycling includes newspapers, bottles, cans and plastics. Other materials such as paints, electronics, automotive
products and hazardous materials, can be recycled by drop-off at the City recycling center.

Cultural offerings for the public include the Brockton Historical Society, Brockton Symphony Orchestra, Opera of New
England of Greater Brockton and the Brockton Art Centre-Fuller Memorial, which has won several architectural design
awards. The Brockton Shoe Museum was erected in 1981, serving as a continuing reminder of Brockton's past as a
leader in the manufacture of men's shoes.

In May 2002, the City sold $8 million in economic development bonds to finance a loan to the Brockton 21% Century
Corporation, the City’s non-profit economic development agency. The corporation added this funding to a $6 million state
grant and $4 million in private financing to construct an $18 million Baseball Stadium/Conference Center Complex. The
complex is situated about one mile from the interchange with Route 24, a limited access highway. The Stadium capacity
is just over 5,000. The 14,000 square foot Shaw’s Conference Center is on land leased from the City, adjacent to the
High School and has a view of the ball field. The Shaw’s Center has enjoyed steady growth since 2003.

In May 2002, the Brockton Rox began playing in an independent league unaffiliated with major league baseball clubs.
Most years the team has been number 1 or 2 in attendance. In 2004, the club led the league in attendance and
established a league record in doing so. The club has enjoyed success on the field as well: the Rox won the league
championship in 2003 and in seven out of ten years, reached the playoffs. However, the recession significantly affected
the team’s revenues from 2007 through 2011, its 10" year of play. At the conclusion of the 2011 season, the Rox
underwent a significant reorganization. The Rox will operate under new ownership, under a new lease and will move to
the Futures Collegiate Baseball League, consisting of amateur players. The schedule will be for about one-half as many
games. The lease agreement will be about 45 percent of the previous payment.

Today, Brockton is a diversified commercial center and industrial-residential city. The following tables list the major
categories of employment from and aggregate annual wage and payroll data.
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Calendar Year Average

Industry 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
Construction 1,239 1,101 871 923 939
Manufacturing 2,496 2,387 2,030 2,010 1,989
Trade, Transportation and Utilities 7,836 7,614 7,270 7,632 7,714
Information 610 527 557 510 454
Financial Activities 1,261 1,128 1,066 1,075 1,112
Professional and Business Services 3,899 3,647 3,438 3,487 3,508
Education and Health Services 14,003 14,645 15,031 14,724 14,750
Leisure and Hospitality 2,840 2,768 2,694 2,572 2,517
Other Services 2,296 2,248 2,297 2,436 2,570
Total Employment 36,480 36,065 35,254 35,369 35,553
Number of Establishments 2,200 2,098 2,193 2,381 2,397
Average Weekly Wages 3 780 $ 812 §$ 823 § 834 $ 846
Total Wages $ 1542,763,146 $ 1517,087,782 $ 1572,669,454 $ 1,598,991,083 $ 1,629,434,236

Source: Massachusetts Department of Education and Training. Data based upon place of employment, not place of
residence. Due to the reclassification the U.S. Department of Labor now uses the North American Industry
Classification System (NAICS) as the basis for the assignment and tabulation of economic data by industry.

The establishment of commuter rail service linking Brockton to Boston in 1997 is believed to have had a positive effect on
housing prices in the City. The following table sets forth the trend in residential sales in the City.

Year Median Selling % Change
Price
2012 $150,765 -2.16 %
2011 154,000 -10.85
2010 172,750 +6.14
2009 162,750 -10.08
2008 181,000 -22.20
2007 232,644 -13.19
2006 268,000 -2.55
2005 275,000 10.04
2004 249,913 7.98
2003 231,450 175
2002 196,975 21.1
2001 162,550 16.1
2000 140,000 17.4
1999 119,300 16.6
1998 102,300 16.4
1997 87,900 4.1
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Largest Employers

The following table lists the largest employers in Brockton, including the City itself.

Product/ Approximate Number
Name Function of Employees
City of Brockton (full-time, school only) School Personnel 2,700
Signature Health (including Goddard Park) Hospital 2,275
Caritas Good Samaritan Medical Center Hospital 1,902
BAMSI Human Services 1,570
Old Colony YMCA Social Services 1,450
VA Boston Health Care System Hospital 1,274
South Bay Mental Health Services Hospital 850
US Post Office Post Office 834
UPS Distributor 810
City of Brockton (full-time, excluding schools) City Government 689
HarborOne Credit Union Finance 377
Brockton Neighborhood Health Center Health Center 351
Brockton Professional Baseball Pro Sports 340
WB Mason Business Supplies 320
PharMerica Pharmacy 270
Verizon Communications Communications 270
Columbia Gas of Mass. (Bay State Gas) Utility 228
Uno Foods Restaurant/Food Materials Production 225
Baypoint Rehabilitation Center Rehabilitation Center 224
Concord Foods Food Preparation 222
Self Help Social Service 220
U.S. Laboratory Corp. Medical Laboratory 220
St. Joseph Manor Health Care Skilled Nursing Care 208
Northeast Electrical Company Utility 200
Shaw's Supermarket Grocery Store 192
Super Stop & Shop Grocery Store 186
Brockton Area Transit Transportation 180
West Acres Skilled Nursing Care 170
Father Bill Mainspring House Social Services 167
Old Colony Elder Services Aging Services 160
Wal-Mart Department Store 150
Brockton Visiting Nurses Association Health Care 135
Crescent Credit Union Finance 127
Lowes Home Centers 125
Zoots Garment Press 114
Home Depot Home Centers 105
Kinneally Foods Meat Purveyor 101
Berndai Auto Automotive 98
Brockton Housing Authority Home Centers 85
Barbour Corporation Manufacturing 85
White's Pastry Shop Retail Bakery 85
Cardinal Spellman School 80
Trinity Catholic School School 75

SOURCE: Brockton 21* Century Corporation, May 2013.
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Labor Force, and Unemployment Rates

According to the Massachusetts Division of Employment Security data, in March 2013 the City had a total labor force of
45,204, of which 41,323 were employed and 3,881 or 8.6% were unemployed as compared with 6.8% for the
Commonwealth. The following table sets forth the City's average labor force and unemployment rates for calendar years
2008 through 2012 and the unemployment rates for the State and U.S. as a whole for the same period.

Massachusetts u.S.
Unemployment Unemployment

City of Brockton
Unemployment

Year Labor Force Rate Rate Rate
2012 45,531 9.0% 6.7% 8.1%
2011 45,336 10.1 6.9 8.5
2010 46,107 11.6 8.5 9.6
2009 45,518 10.7 8.2 9.3
2008 44,558 6.8 5.3 5.8

SOURCE: Massachusetts Division of Employment Security, Federal Reserve Bank of Boston and U.S. Bureau of Labor
Statistics. Data based upon place of residence, not place of employment.

Retail Sales

The following table compares the most recent retail trade data for the City of Brockton with that of the Commonwealth as
a whole.

Brockton Massachusetts
Establishments: 2007 328 25,469
1997 329 25,761
1997 359 26,209
1992 534 38,491
1987 590 38,905
Sales (000): 2007 $1,263,529 $88,082,966
2002 1,313,341 73,903,837
1997 932,387 58,578,048
1992 711,913 47,663,248
1987 825,798 44,818,481
Per Capita Sales:
2007 $13,584 $13,553
1997 9,887 9,736
1992 7,549 7,920
1987 8,880 7,609
1982 6,256 5,023

SOURCE: U.S. Census of Retail Trade and Federal Census.
Education

Education in the Brockton area is available at all levels. The City's school department maintains 25 schools: 14
elementary schools, 2 alternative education centers (grades 5 through 12), 5 middle schools, 1 comprehensive high
school, a preschool and kindergarten diagnostic and service center, and a kindergarten center. Through its Community
Schools division, the school department also operates a self-sustaining Evening High School Diploma program, various
self-sustaining and grant—funded remedial, enrichment and child care programs with extended-day and summer school
options, as well as a 90% grant-funded Adult Learning Center providing services to more than 700 in adult basic
education, GED preparation, English-as-a-second language and family literacy.
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The school department also has its own Champion Charter School, chartered by the State as Horace Mann Institution,
providing an accessible alternative high school education for approximately 125 Grade 9-12 students who had previously
dropped out of school.
The following table sets forth the actual public school enrollments for 2008 through 2012 with projected enroliments for
2013.

Public School Enrollments — October 1,

Actual Projected
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

Kindergarten 1,330 1,272 1,289 1,394 1,461 1,375
Elementary 5,636 6,058 6,203 6,330 6,485 6,746
Junior High 3,373 3,654 3,695 3,726 3,820 3,928
Senior High 4,266 4,344 4,500 4,428 4,518 4,543
Other (1) 640 271 252 263 312 314
Totals 15,245 15,599 15,939 16,141 16,596 16,906

(1) Pre-school and ungraded enrollment and elementary grade levels being reconfigured from K-6, 7-8, 9-12 to K-5, 6-8,
and 9-12.

Higher education is available in Brockton at Massasoit Community College, a two-year state college with 242
instruction/research and public service members and 67 administrators. Massasoit's ten buildings occupy 100 acres of
land. The school offers 41 programs to 8,053 day and evening students at the Brockton campus. Stonehill College is
located on the Brockton/Easton boundary and Bridgewater State College is within 10 miles.

Parochial schools in Brockton enroll approximately 1,300 students from grades K-12 at five separate campuses.
Approximately 50% of these students are from Brockton and the others from surrounding towns.

The State School Choice, Charter and Technical/Vocational Schools

During the 2012/2013 school year, approximately 205 Brockton students in grades K-12 are attending other public
schools under the state sponsored school choice, approximately 286 are attending Charter Schools and 749 are attending
Technical/Vocational High Schools.

Private Schools in the City of Brockton

As of October 2012, approximately 594 Brockton-residing students were enrolled in the City’s four private schools in
grades K-12. The individual student population/enroliment of these four schools, including students who do not live in
Brockton, ranges from 75 to 600. Approximately 50% of these students receive home-to-school-and-back transportation
provided by the Brockton School Department.

The School Assignment Plan

In 1995, the Massachusetts Board of Education approved a school assignment plan submitted by the School Committee.
Brockton’s plan is exceptionally comprehensive in promoting informed parental choice of local educational opportunities.
Enrollment is monitored for class size and a fair representation of the demographic makeup of the school system.

Since a substantial percentage of the parents select schools outside of their neighborhood, the plan has improved the
distribution of class sizes without the periodic adjustment of fixed school boundaries. Typically, more than 90% of the first
grade and seventh grade parents receive assignments to their first or second choice schools. The school assignment
process is coordinated by the School Registration and Parent Information Center located in the school’'s central
administration building.

Brockton school facilities range from turn-of-the-century buildings to newer schools constructed when enroliment peaked
during the 1970’s. As a result of the plan, the City undertook the construction of five new schools with 90%
reimbursement by the state’s School Building Assistance Program. The 300-pupil pre-1900 vintage Winthrop Elementary
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School has been replaced, at the same location, with the new Louis F. Angelo Elementary School housing approximately
700 students. The 300-pupil Paine Elementary School (constructed in 1916) and the 200-pupil Goddard School
(constructed in 1881), have been replaced by the new 700-student Joseph F. Plouffe Elementary School in an adjacent
site. Both new elementary schools opened during the 1998-1999 school year. The new 700-pupil Dr. William H. Arnone
Elementary School opened in January 2002 at the gateway to the City center. The Mary E. Baker School opened in
October 2008. The Manthala George School Opened in January 2009. The twin K-5 schools each have a capacity of
800 students and are equipped with state of the art educational technology. The Mary E. Baker School was awarded a
grant from the Massachusetts State Renewable Energy Trust and has been designated as a “green” school. All five
schools have contributed to transforming the character of their immediate neighborhoods.

Transportation and Utilities

The major highway serving the City is State Route 24. Other highways within a ten mile radius include Interstates 93, 95
and 495 and State Routes 3 and 128. Public bus service is provided by the Brockton Area Transit Authority (BAT). Rail
freight service is provided by Conrail.

Commuter rail service was reinstated in September 1997 on the "OIld Colony Line". One branch of this line runs from
Boston's South Station through Brockton to the Middleborough/Lakeville area about 45 miles south of Boston. There are
three train stops in Brockton: one in the north end (Montello), one in the south end (Campello) and one in the City center.
This downtown station was constructed next to the police station, two blocks from Main Street and three blocks from City
Hall. In order to create a transportation center at this station, in February 1999 Brockton Area Transit Intermodal Center
was relocated across Commercial Street.

Gas and electric services are provided by established private utilities with both major offices and distribution centers
located within the City.

Population, Income and Wealth Levels

Brockton Massachusetts u.s.

Median Age

2010 35.2 39.1 37.2

2000 34.0 36.5 35.3

1990 31.5 33.6 32.9

1980 29.3 31.2 30.0
Median Family Income

2010 $57,228 $81,165 $51,144

2000 46,235 61,664 50,046

1990 38,544 44,367 35,225

1980 18,606 21,166 19,908
Per Capita Income

2010 $22,312 $33,966 $27,334

2000 17,163 25,952 21,587

1990 13,455 17,224 14,420

1980 9,944 12,510 10,797

On the basis of the 2010 Federal Census, the City has a population density of 4,384 persons per square mile.

Population Trends
2010 2000 1990 1980 1970
93,810 94,304 92,788 95,172 89,040

SOURCE: Federal Census.
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PROPERTY TAXATION

In addition to state aid, one of the principal revenue sources of the City is the tax on real and personal property. The
amount to be levied in each year is the amount appropriated or required by law to be raised for municipal expenditures
less estimated receipts from other sources and less appropriations voted from available funds. The total amount levied is
subject to certain limits prescribed by law; for a description of those limits, see "Tax Limitations" below. The estimated
receipts for a fiscal year from other sources may not exceed the actual receipts during the preceding fiscal year from the
same sources unless approved by the State Commissioner of Revenue. Excepting special funds the use of which is
otherwise provided for by law, the deduction for appropriations voted from available funds for a fiscal year cannot exceed
the "free cash" as of the beginning of the prior fiscal year as certified by the State Director of Accounts plus up to nine
months' collections and receipts on account of earlier years' taxes after that date. Subject to certain adjustments, free
cash is surplus revenue less uncollected overdue property taxes from earlier years. Although an allowance is made in the
tax levy for abatements (see “Abatements and Overlay” below), no reserve is generally provided for uncollectible real
property taxes. Since some of the levy is inevitably not collected, this creates a cash deficiency which may or may not be
offset by other items. (See “Taxation to Meet Deficits” below).

Tax Levy Computation
The following table illustrates the trend in the manner in which the tax levy is determined.

TAX LEVY COMPUTATION

Fiscd Fiscd Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Estimated Fiscal
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 (6)
Tatd Appropritiors(1) $ 316701514 $ 31042981 $ R43038 $ B9H90HB $ FH73BI3E $ 363756654
Additiors;
Sate and County Assesserts 5140616 5,610,283 5,686,037 581488 6,061,306 7,135900
Overlay Reserve 1,983% 2,067,017 2324286 2738111 2947648 2,900,000
Cher Additions(2) 88266 2418647 5630 2216183 349,308 47306
Total Addtions 7,937,274 10,085,947 8335953 10,769,197 9358256 10,453,206
Gross Amaourt to be Raised 324633783 320,5158 332645321 H0118273 367,280,601 374,209,710
DedLctiors:
Locd Estimated Recapts(3) 55929354 56,105537 65,062,033 633123% 6505633 60,065,666
Sate Ad(4). 159,666,620 149,192,490 151,980,9(2 160,274,056 169,938 04 177,584
Available Funds(5) 12,671,800 15,386,625 12,277,783 18314625 207%6,613 20,369,362
Tatal Deductions 228257783 220,684,702 229310718 241,901,055 255789340 258,390,832
Net Amaurt to ke Raised
(Tax Lewy) $ 96BL0B $ POBOR6 $ 103B460B $ 108217218 $ 11150261 $ 115818828

(1) Includes additional appropriations from taxation and other revenues voted subsequent to adoption of the annual budget but prior to
setting of the tax rate. Includes sewer and water enterprises.

(2) Includes state educational offsets, overlay deficits and other deficits.

(3) Includes sewer and water enterprise revenue.

(4) Includes prior year’s estimates. Estimated by the State Department of Revenue and required by law to be used in setting of the tax rate.
Actual state aid payments may vary upward or downward from said estimates and the State may withhold payments pending receipt of
State and County assessments. The City has confronted reductions in discretionary State aid since fiscal 2008, projected to continue in
fiscal 2012. The City has laid off employees, restricted new hires and negotiated with unions to counter these reductions. All retirees
have been shifted to less expensive health insurance plans, and all non-union employees have been required to increase their
contribution to health insurance costs from a 25% share to a 40% share. Concessions were negotiated with the firefighters’ union and
library employees’ union to temporarily defer or postpone scheduled compensation. The City’s local revenue compensation to the school
budget, both for education and for school buses, was cut by almost $7 million in total. (Some portion of this was made up by federal
stimulus money). Finally, the City analyzed the status of its health insurance trust fund, from which the City’s health/dental benefits are
paid, and which is funded by both the employer and covered person contributions. The City’s analysis after accounting for the need to pay
incurred but not reported claims and prudently reserving for the possibility of high claims which fell short of this City’s reinsurance levels,
determined that the fund’s cash balances significantly exceeded the reserve requirements. Accordingly, the health budget was reduced
with the expectations that the reserves would be drawn down. In fiscal 2012 the City expects only inflation increases for education aid and
a 7% reduction in discretionary aid. The City anticipates using reserves, including health trust reserves, to counter this reduction. The
City also intends to negotiate with the unions and only as a last resort will lay off employees. The City expects an increase in state aid in
fiscal 2013.

(5) Transfers from available funds, including "free cash", generally made as an offset to a particular appropriation item.

(6) Based on the Mayor’s budget submitted to City Council for approval.
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Assessed Valuations and Tax Levies

Property is classified for the purpose of taxation according to its use. The legislature has in substance created three classes
of taxable property: (1) residential real property, (2) open space land, and (3) all other (commercial, industrial and personal
property). Within limits, cities and towns are given the option of determining the share of the annual levy to be borne by each
of the three categories. The share required to be borne by residential real property is at least 50 per cent of its share of the
total taxable valuation; the effective rate for open space must be at least 75 per cent of the effective rate for residential real
property; and the share of commercial, industrial and personal property must not exceed 175 per cent of their share of the
total valuation. A city or town may also exempt up to 20 per cent of the valuation of residential real property (where used as
the taxpayer’s principal residence) and up to 10 per cent of the valuation of commercial real property (where occupied by
certain small businesses). Property may not be classified in a city or town until the State Commissioner of Revenue certifies
that all property in the city or town has been assessed at its fair cash value. Such certification must take place every three
years, or pursuant to a revised schedule as may be issued by the Commissioner.

Related statutes provide that certain forest land, agricultural or horticultural land (assessed at the value it has for these
purposes) and recreational land (assessed on the basis of its use at a maximum of 25 per cent of its fair cash value) are all to
be taxed at the rate applicable to commercial property. Land classified as forest land is valued for this purpose at five per cent
of fair cash value but not less than ten dollars per acre.

In order to determine appropriate relative values for the purposes of certain distributions to and assessments upon cities and
towns, the Commissioner of Revenue bhiennially makes a redetermination of the fair cash value of the taxable property in each
municipality. This is known as the “equalized value”. See “DEBT LIMITS” below.

The City has used multiple tax rates under classification since fiscal 1984 when it first revalued all real and personal
property in the City to full value.

The following table sets forth the trend in the City's assessed valuations, tax levies, and tax levies per capita.

Personal Total
Fiscal Real Estate Property Assessed Tax Levy
Year Valuation Valuation Valuation Tax Levy Per Capita(1)
2013 $ 5,293,452,622 $ 192,787,250  $ 5,486,239,872 $ 111,500,261 $ 1,189
2012 5,453,125,711 181,508,380 5,634,634,091 108,217,218 1,154
2011 (2) 5,448,775,565 180,413,520 5,629,189,085 103,334,603 1,102
2010 5,684,315,129 183,886,760 5,868,201,889 99,830,326 1,064
2009 7,005,442,810 168,780,780 7,174,223,590 96,381,006 1,027
(1) Based on the 2010 federal census.
(2) Revaluation year.
Tax Rate Factor and Levy Distribution
% of Levy
Tax Rate Commercial,
Fiscal Year Factor (1) Residential Industrial/Personal Property
2013 $1.57 64.0% 36.0%
2012 1.56 65.3 34.6
2011 1.61 65.4 34.6
2010 1.66 66.8 33.2
2009 1.70 66.2 33.8

@

In communities using multiple tax rates, the factor by which the uniform rate (see below) is multiplied to determine the

Commercial/Industrial Tax Rate.
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Tax Rate Per $1,000 Valuation

All Other
Fiscal Uniform Residential (Commercial, Industrial
Year Rate(1) Real Property and Personal Property)
2013 $20.32 $16.88 $31.91
2012 19.21 16.14 29.96
2011 18.36 15.29 29.55
2010 17.01 13.77 28.24
2009 13.43 11.10 22.84

(1) The rate at which real estate and personal property would be taxed if the City used a single rate rather than multiple
tax rates. Provided for comparative purposes only.

Largest Taxpayers

The following is a list of the largest taxpayers in the City and the fiscal 2013 valuation of each. All taxpayers listed below
are current in their tax payments.

Fiscal 2013 % of Total
Assessed Assessed
Name N ature of Business Valuation Value

Steward Health Care Hospital $ 80,059,130 1.46 %
Mass Electric Co. (National Grid) Utility 48,776,090 0.89
Columbia Gas of Massachusetts Utility 32,985410 0.60
Westgate Brockton Mall LLC Westgate Mall 27,007,930 0.49
New England Telephone (Verizon) Utility 26,466,500 0.48
110 Liberty St. Realty Company LLC Medical Office 16,752,500 0.31
Mucci Investment Prop LLC Developer 16,735,800 0.31
Acadia Crescent Plaza, LLC Developer 15,823,640 0.29
Beacon Communities, LLC (1) Housing 27,805,040 0.51
Lowes Home Center Inc. Retail 14,393,310 0.26
Total $ 306,805,350 5.59 %

(1) Calculated at the residential tax rate.

State Equalized Valuation

In order to determine appropriate relative values for the purposes of certain distributions to and assessments upon cities
and towns, the Commissioner of Revenue biennially makes a redetermination of the fair cash value of the taxable
property in each municipality as of January 1 of even numbered years. This is known as the "equalized value". The
following table sets forth the trend in equalized valuations of the City of Brockton.

Annual
Percentage
State Increase
January 1, Equalized Valuations (Decrease)
2012 $ 5,986,229,500 6.7) %
2010 6,416,494,600 (25.6)
2008 8,627,153,400 10.4
2006 7,787,790,000 29.7
2004 6,003,792,100 35.1
2002 4,420,483,600 32.7
2000 3,330,760,700 15.1
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Abatements and Overlay

The City is authorized to increase each tax levy by an amount approved by the State Commissioner of Revenue as an
"overlay" to provide for tax abatements. If abatements are granted in excess of the applicable overlay reserve, the excess
is required to be added to the next tax levy. Abatements are granted where exempt real or personal property has been
assessed or where taxable real or personal property has been overvalued or disproportionately valued. The assessors
may also abate uncollectible personal property taxes. They may abate real and personal property taxes on broad grounds
(including inability to pay) with the approval of the State Commissioner of Revenue. But uncollected real property taxes are
ordinarily not written off until they become municipal “tax titles” by purchase at the public sale or by taking, at which time the
tax is written off in full by reserving the amount of the tax and charging surplus.

The following table sets forth the trend in overlay reserves and abatements for recent levies.

Overlay Reserve Abatements Granted Surplus

Fiscal Net Tax Dollar As a % of through (Deficiency)

Year Levy (1) Amount Net Levy June 30,2012 Through June 30, 2012
2012 $ 105,479,107 $ 2,738,111 2.60 % $ 831,777 $ 1,906,334
2011 (2) 101,010,317 2,324,286 2.30 1,202,533 1,121,753
2010 97,773,309 2,057,017 2.10 1,549,389 507,628
2009 94,452,612 1,928,394 2.04 1,699,675 228,719
2008 (2) 90,819,194 1,953,092 2.15 1,745,841 207,251

(1) Tax levy prior to addition of overlay reserve.
(2) Revaluation years.

Tax Levies and Collections

The City issues tax bills which are payable in four installments. Under the statute, preliminary tax payments are due on
August 1 and November 1 with payment of the actual tax bill (after credit is given for the preliminary payments) in
installments on February 1, and May 1, if actual tax bills are mailed by December 31. Interest accrues on delinquent
taxes currently at the rate of 14% per annum. Real property (land and buildings) is subject to a lien for the taxes
assessed upon it (subject to any paramount federal lien and subject to bankruptcy and insolvency laws). If the property
has been transferred, an unenforced lien expires on the fourth December 31 after the fiscal year to which the tax relates.
If the property has not been transferred by the fourth December 31, an unenforced lien expires upon a later transfer of the
property. Provision is made, however, for continuation of the lien where it could not be enforced because of a legal
impediment. The persons against whom real or personal property taxes are assessed are personally liable for the tax
(subject to bankruptcy and insolvency laws). In the case of real property, this personal liability is effectively extinguished
by sale or taking of the property as described below.

The following table compares the trend in the City's net tax collections with its net (gross tax levy less overlay reserve for
abatements) tax levies.
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Collections During Collections as of
Overlay Fiscal Year Payable May 17, 2013

Fiscal Gross Tax Reserve for Net Dollar % of Dallar % of
Year Levy Abatements Tax Levy Amount(1) Net Levy Amount(1) Net Levy
2013 $ 111500261 $ 2947648 $ 108552613 $ 105,002,735 96.7 % $ 105,002,735 96.7 %
2012 108,217,218 2,733,111 105,479,107 102,364,585 97.0 104,107,584 98.7
2011 (2 103,334,603 2,324,286 101,010,317 97,535,074 96.6 100,236,789 99.2
2010 99,830,326 2,057,017 97,773,309 93,691,363 95.8 96,204,127 984
2009 96,381,006 1,928,3% 94,452,612 90,556,405 959 93,782,284 99.3
2008 (2 92,772,286 1,953,092 90,819,144 86,310,291 95.0 83,830,505 97.8

(1) Actual dollar collections net of refunds. Does not include abatements or proceeds of tax titles redemptions attributable to each

levy.
(2) Revaluation years.



Taking and Sale

Massachusetts law permits a municipality either to sell by public sale (at which the municipality may become the purchaser) or
to take real property for nonpayment of taxes. In either case the property owner can redeem the property by paying the
unpaid taxes, with interest and other charges, but if the right of redemption is not exercised within six months (which may be
extended an additional year in the case of certain installment payments), it can be foreclosed by petition to the Land Court.
Upon foreclosure, a tax title purchased or taken by the municipality becomes a “tax possession” and may be held and
disposed of in the same manner as other land held for municipal purposes.

The following table sets forth the amount of tax titles and possessions outstanding at fiscal year end and the amount
realized through the redemption of tax title accounts during the fiscal year. Amounts collected through such redemptions
are treated as general receipts of the City and are not credited back to specific tax levies.

Amount Realized

Tax Possessions From Redemption

Fiscal Tax Titles at Fiscal of Tax Titles
Year at Fiscal Year End Year End During Fiscal Year(1)
2012 $5,354,808 $2,445,122 $1,898,849

2011 4,417,334 2,278,752 2,307,260

2010 3,429,118 2,612,101 1,554,396

2009 2,843,757 2,613,666 3,160,094

2008 5,838,589 2,518,083 3,166,455

In order to maximize the collection efforts, the City has implemented a system of collection whereby a minimum of three
notices of delinquency are sent to the payers. Also, the City instituted a notice of previous taxes owed on the current tax bill.
This notice gives taxpayers an additional five notices per year when taxes are delinquent. By targeting the fiscal years before
these accounts are placed in tax title, the City has reduced the amount of delinquent taxes that fall into tax title. In order to
maximize the collection of tax title accounts and forestall foreclosure proceedings, the City requires payment in full or, with a
minimum of 25% down, a written agreement with the delinquent taxpayer to make timely payments on current tax bills, and
pay the balance in full within 12 months. The City has a property disposition plan in place to sell foreclosed properties. City
owned buildings and large parcels of land are sold at public auction or through a sealed bid process. This maximizes the
influx of cash while putting the sold properties back on the tax rolls.

Taxation to Meet Deficits

Overlay deficits, i.e., tax abatements in excess of the overlay included in the tax levy to cover abatements, are required to
be added to the next tax levy. It is generally understood that revenue deficits, i.e., those resulting from non-property tax
revenues being less than anticipated, are also required to be added to the next tax levy (at least to the extent not covered
by surplus revenue). Amounts lawfully expended since the prior tax levy and not included therein are also required to be
included in the annual tax levy. The circumstances under which this can arise are limited since municipal departments are
generally prohibited from incurring liabilities in excess of appropriations except for major disasters, mandated items,
contracts in aid of housing and renewal projects and other long-term contracts. In addition, established utility rates and
certain established salaries, e.g., civil service, must legally be paid for work actually performed, whether or not covered by
appropriations.

All deficits and overdrafts in existence at the time the City's tax rates have been set have been provided for as required by
Massachusetts law.

Cities and towns are authorized to appropriate sums, and thus to levy taxes, subject to any overall limits on tax levies, to
cover deficits arising from other causes, such as "free cash" deficits arising from a failure to collect taxes. This is not
generally understood, however, and it has not been the practice to levy taxes to cover free cash deficits. Except to the
extent that free cash deficits have been reduced or eliminated by subsequent collections of uncollected taxes (including
sales of tax titles and tax possessions), lapsed appropriations, non-property tax revenues in excess of estimates, other
miscellaneous items or funding loans authorized by special act, they remain in existence. See "CITY FINANCES -
Undesignated Fund Balance and Free Cash.”
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Tax Limitations

Chapter 59, Section 21C of the General Laws, also known as Proposition 2Y2, imposes two separate limits on the annual tax
levy of a city or town.

The primary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed 2 1/2 percent of the full and fair cash value. If a city or town
exceeds the primary limitation, it must reduce its tax levy by at least 15 percent annually until it is in compliance, provided
that the reduction can be reduced in any year to not less than 7 1/2 percent by majority vote of the voters, or to less than 7
1/2 percent by two-thirds vote of the voters.

For cities and towns at or below the primary limit, a secondary limitation is that the tax levy cannot exceed the maximum
levy limit for the preceding fiscal year as determined by the State Commissioner of Revenue by more than 2 1/2 percent,
subject to exceptions for property added to the tax rolls and for property which has had substantial valuation increases
other than as part of a general revaluation, in its assessed valuation over the prior year's valuation. This "growth" limit on
the tax levy may be exceeded in any year by a majority vote of the voters, but an increase in the secondary or growth limit
under this procedure does not permit a tax levy in excess of the primary limitation, since the two limitations apply
independently. In addition, if the voters vote to approve taxes in excess of the “growth” limit for the purpose of funding a
stabilization fund, such increased amount may only be taken into account for purposes of calculating the maximum levy
limit in each subsequent year if the board of selectmen of a town or the city council of the city votes by a two-thirds vote to
appropriate such increased amount in such subsequent year to the stabilization fund.

The applicable tax limits may also be reduced in any year by a majority vote of the voters.

The State Commissioner of Revenue may adjust any tax limit "to counterbalance the effects of extraordinary, non-
recurring events which occurred during the base year".

Proposition 2 % further provides that the voters may exclude from the taxes subject to the tax limits and from the
calculation of the maximum tax levy (a) the amount required to pay debt service on bonds and notes issued before
November 4, 1980, if the exclusion is approved by a majority vote of the voters, and (b) the amount required to pay debt
service on any specific subsequent issue for which similar approval is obtained. Even with voter approval, the holders of
the obligation for which unlimited taxes may be assessed do not have a statutory priority or security interest in the portion
of the tax levy attributable to such obligations. It should be noted that Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 44, Section 20
requires that the taxes excluded from the levy limit to pay debt service on any such bonds and notes be calculated based on
the true interest cost of the issue. Accordingly, the Department of Revenue limits the amount of such taxes which may be
levied in each year to pay debt service on any such bonds and notes to the amount of such debt service, less a pro rata
portion of any original issue premium received by the city or town that was not applied to pay costs of issuance.

Voters may also exclude from the Proposition 2 1/2 limits the amount required to pay specified capital outlay
expenditures. In addition, the city council of a city, with the approval of the mayor if required, or the board of selectmen or
the town council of a town may vote to exclude from the Proposition 2 1/2 limits taxes raised in lieu of sewer or water
charges to pay debt service on bonds or notes issued by the municipality (or by an independent authority, commission or
district) for water and sewer purposes, provided that the municipality's sewer or water charges are reduced accordingly.

In addition, Proposition 2 ¥2 limits the annual increase in the total assessments on cities and towns by any county, district,
authority, the Commonwealth or any other governmental entity (except regional school districts, the Massachusetts Water
Resources Authority, and certain districts for which special legislation provides otherwise) to the sum of (a) 2 1/2 percent
of the prior year's assessments and (b) "any increases in costs, charges or fees for services customarily provided locally
or for services subscribed to at local option". Regional water districts, regional sewerage districts and regional veterans
districts may exceed these limitations under statutory procedures requiring a two-thirds vote of the district's governing
body and either approval of the local appropriating authorities (by two-thirds vote in districts with more than two members
or by majority in two-member districts) or approval of the registered voters in a local election (in the case of two-member
districts). Under Proposition 2 %2 any State law to take effect on or after January 1, 1981 imposing a direct service or cost
obligation on a city or town will become effective only if accepted or voluntarily funded by the city or town or if State
funding is provided. Similarly, State rules or regulations imposing additional costs on a city or town or laws granting or
increasing local tax exemptions are to take effect only if adequate State appropriations are provided. These statutory
provisions do not apply to costs resulting from judicial decisions.
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The City has been in full compliance with Proposition 2 1/2 since fiscal 1984 following completion of a professional
revaluation of all real and personal property in the City to full value. Revaluations were subsequently completed by the
City for use in fiscal years 1987, 1990, 1993, 1996, 1999, 2002, 2005, 2008 and 2011. The City has never voted to
override or exclude taxes from the tax-levy limit imposed by Proposition 2 1/2. The following table sets forth the trend in
the City's tax levies and levy limits under Proposition 2 1/2.

Total Under (Over) Under (Over)
Fiscal Assessed Primary Secondary Actual Primary Secondary
Year Valuation Levy Limit Levy Limit Levy Limit Levy Limit
2013 $ 5,486,239,872  $ 137,155,997 $ 112,506,174 $ 111,500,261 $ 24,649,823 $ 1,005,913
2012 5,634,634,091 140,865,852 108,261,967 108,217,218 32,603,885 44,749
2011 5,629,189,685 140,729,727 103,342,047 103,334,603 37,387,680 7,444
2010 5,868,201,889 146,705,047 99,864,769 99,830,326 46,840,278 34,443
2009 7,174,223,590 179,355,590 96,443,017 96,381,006 82,912,573 62,011

Sale of Tax Receivables

Cities and towns are authorized to sell delinquent property tax receivables at public sale or auction, either individually or in
bulk. The City does not expect to utilize this option at the present time.

Pledged Taxes

Taxes on the increased value of certain property in designated development districts may be pledged for the payment of
costs of economic development projects within such districts and may therefore be unavailable for other municipal
purposes. (See “Tax Increment Financing for Development Districts” below).

Community Preservation Act

The Massachusetts Community Preservation Act (the “CPA”) permits cities and towns that accept its provisions to levy a
surcharge on its real property tax levy and to receive state matching funds for the acquisition, creation, preservation,
rehabilitation and restoration of open space, historic resources and affordable housing. The provisions of the CPA must
be accepted by the voters of the city or town at an election after such provisions have first been accepted by either a vote
of the legislative body of the city or town or an initiative petition signed by 5% of its registered voters.

A city or town may approve a surcharge of up to 3% of the real property tax levy, and it may accept one or more
exemptions to the surcharge under the CPA, including an exemption for low-income individuals and families and for low
and moderate-income senior citizens, an exemption for $100,000 of the value of each taxable parcel of residential real
property, and an exemption for commercial and industrial properties in cities and towns with classified tax rates. The
surcharge is not counted in the total taxes assessed for the purpose of determining the permitted levy amount under
Proposition 2 %2 (see “Tax Limitations” under “PROPERTY TAXATION"). A city or town may revoke its acceptance of the
provisions of the CPA at any time after 5 years from the date of such acceptance and may change the amount of the
surcharge or the exemptions to the surcharge at any time, provided that any such revocation or change must be approved
pursuant to the same process as acceptance of the CPA.

Any city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA will receive annual state matching grants to supplement amounts
raised by its surcharge on the real property tax levy. The state matching funds are raised from certain recording and filing
fees of the registers of deeds. Those amounts are deposited into a state trust fund and are distributed to cities and towns
that have accepted the provision of the CPA, which distributions are not subject to annual appropriation by the state
legislature. The amount distributed to each city and town is based on a statutory formula which requires that 80% of the
amount in the state trust fund be used to match an equal percentage of the amount raised locally by each city and town,
and that the remaining 20% of the amount in the fund be distributed only to those cities and towns that levy the maximum
3% surcharge base on a formula which takes into account equalized property valuation and population, resulting in larger
distributions to those communities with low valuations and small populations. The total state distribution made to any city
or town may not, however, exceed 100% of the amount raised locally by the surcharge on the real property tax levy.
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The amounts raised by the surcharge on real property taxes and received in state matching funds are required to be
deposited in a dedicated community preservation fund. Each city or town that accepts the provisions of the CPA is
required to establish a community preservation committee to study the community preservation needs of the community
and to make recommendations to the legislative body of the city or town regarding the community preservation projects
that should be funded from the community preservation fund. Upon the recommendations of the committee, the
legislative body of the city or town may appropriate amounts from the fund for permitted community preservation purposes
or may reserve amounts for spending in future fiscal years, provided that at least 10% of the total annual revenues to the
fund must be spent or set aside for open space purposes, 10% for historic resource purposes and 10% for affordable
housing purposes.

The CPA authorizes cities and towns that accepts its provisions to issue bonds and notes in anticipation of the receipt of
surcharge revenues to finance community preservation projects approved under the provisions of the CPA. Bonds and
notes issued under the CPA are general obligations of the city or town and are payable from amounts on deposit in the
community preservation fund. In the event that a city or town revokes its acceptance of the provisions of the CPA, the
surcharge shall remain in effect until all contractual obligations incurred by the city of town prior to such revocation,
including the payment of bonds or notes issued under the CPA, have been fully discharged.

The City has not adopted the Community Preservation Act, and there are no plans to do so.
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CITY FINANCES

Budget and Appropriation Process

In a city, within 170 days (unless otherwise provided by special legislation) after the annual organization of the city
government (which is ordinarily in early January), the Mayor is required to submit a budget of proposed expenditures for
the fiscal year beginning on the next July 1. The city council may make appropriations for the recommended purposes
and may reduce or reject any item. Without a recommendation of the Mayor, the council may not make any appropriation
for a purpose not included in the proposed budget, except by a two-thirds vote in case of a failure of the Mayor to
recommend an appropriation for such a purpose within 7 days after a request from the city council. The council may not
increase any item without the recommendation of the Mayor (except as provided by legislation, subject to local
acceptance, under which the school budget or regional school district assessment can be increased upon
recommendation of the school committee or regional district school committee and by two-thirds vote of the council,
provided that such increase does not cause the total annual budget to exceed property tax limitations). If the council fails
to act on any item of the proposed budget within 45 days, that item takes effect.

Under certain circumstances and subject to certain limits and requirements, the city council of a city, upon the
recommendation of the Mayor, may transfer amounts appropriated for use of one department (except for the use of a
municipal light department or a school department) to another appropriation for the same department for the use of any
other department.

If the Mayor does not make a timely budget submission, provision is made for preparation of a budget by the council.
Provision is also made for supplementary appropriations upon recommendation of the Mayor.

Water and Sewer department expenditures are included in the budget adopted by the city council. Gas and electric
department expenditures may be appropriated by municipal light boards. Under certain legislation any city or town which
accepts the legislation may provide that the appropriations for the operating costs of any department may be offset, in
whole or in part, by estimated receipts from fees charged for services provided by the department. It is assumed that this
general provision does not alter the pre-existing power of an electric or gas department to appropriate its own receipts.
The school budget is limited to the total amount appropriated by the city council, but the school committee retains full
power to allocate the funds appropriated, subject to the provisions of the Education Reform Act of 1993, which is further
discussed herein under “Education Reform”.

City department heads are generally required to submit their budget requests to the Finance Department for compilation
and recommendation to the Mayor between December 1 and January 31. This does not apply to the school department,
which must submit its requests to the Finance Department for review and recommendation in time for the Mayor to include
them in his submission to the council.

State and county assessments, abatements in excess of overlays, principal and interest not otherwise provided for, and
final judgments are included in the tax levy whether or not included in the budget. Revenues are not required to be set
forth in the budget but estimated non-tax revenues are taken into account by the assessors in fixing the tax levy.

In the City of Brockton, the Finance Department independently develops revenue estimates and evaluates the

impact of each proposed spending request as the Chief Financial Officer is required under Chapter 324 of the
Acts of 1990 to certify in writing to the Mayor and the City Council as to the affordability of any spending request.
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Budget Trends

The following table sets forth the trend in operating budgets in the format recommended by the Mayor and voted by the
city council. The budgets are inclusive of supplemental appropriations and transfers between appropriation items made
during the fiscal year. The budgets are inclusive of expenditures for state and county assessments, overlay for tax
abatements and deficits to be raised.
COMPARATIVE BUDGET TRENDS
General and Enterprise Funds

Proposed

Fiscal 2009 Fiscal 2010 Fiscal 2011 Fiscal 2012 Fiscal 2013 Fiscal 2014 (5)
Water (1) $ 13948971 $ 15250,020 $ 15911513 $ 16478246 $ 17,1169 $ 15,967,028
Sewer (1) 15,409,679 17,582,107 18,304,684 18,213,411 18,060,630 18,465,985
Other Public Works and Trash 14,609,177 14,778,498 16,434,971 16,616,591 15,371,536 14,586,900
Fire 19,390,591 19,060,837 20,000,703 20,373,633 19,868,295 21,232,160
Police 18,311,501 18,526,895 17,457,643 17,950,478 17,412,066 18,538,973
Public Property 2,421,590 2,285,041 2,360,447 2,336,950 2,211,203 2,424,731
City Schools 138,129,236 128,708,177 140,877,082 152,390,474 156,420,332 164,293,149
Regional School Assessment 2,588,411 2,414,501 2,715,744 2,702,679 2,741,616 2,932,308
General Government and Other 22,010,239 23,423,390 19,316,828 21,385,797 20,343,838 22,975,406
Employees/Retiree Health Insurance 45,420,452 43,812,151 40,097,965 42,229,978 52,003,360 49,778,155
Retirement 9,809,576 9,864,017 10,171,188 12,580,316 15,424,055 16,021,867
Capital 1,021,595 864,800 4,188,393 1,373,298 5,258,499 3,668,902
Debt Service (2) 14,083,889 13,908,707 15,630,960 12,613,238 12,662,769 12,495,017
Overlay Reserve 1,928,393 2,057,017 2,058,181 2,120,000 2,840,000 2,900,000
State County Charges 5,140,616 5,610,283 5,692,129 5,879,360 6,395,186 7,135,900
Reserves (3) 414,872 2,368,587 - 704,990 262,094 793,228
Total(4) $ 324,638,788 $ 320,515,028 $§ 331,218431 $§ 345949439 $§ 364,392414 $ 374,209,709

(1) Enterprise Funds capital expenditures included in the Capital category.

(2) Debt service includes all City debt service, other than water and sewer, and debt issued under the State Qualified Bond Act.
(3) Consists of net additions to the stabilization and supplemental reserve funds.

(4) Totals include cash appropriations for departmental capital spending.

(5) Reflects the amount submitted by the Mayor for City Council approval.

Revenues (General Fund)

Local Options Room Occupancy Tax: Under this tax, local governments may tax the provision of hotel, motel and lodging
house rooms at a rate not to exceed six percent (6%) of the cost of renting such rooms. The tax is paid by the operator of
the hotel, motel or lodging house, and bed and breakfast to the State Commissioner of Revenue, who in turn pays the tax
back to the municipality in which the rooms are located in quarterly distributions. In 2009, the City increased the local
room occupancy excise tax from 4% to 6% as permitted under G.L. c. 64G section 3A. The City collected $600,019 from
this tax in fiscal 2011. The City collected $560,958 from this tax in fiscal 2012. Projected revenue collected from this tax is
expected to be comparable in future years.

Local Option Meals Tax: On June 6, 2010, the City adopted the local meals excise tax to be effective October 1, 2010. In
fiscal year 2011, the local meals excise tax is a 0.75% tax on the gross receipts of a vendor from the sale of restaurant
meals. The tax is paid by the vendor to the State Commissioner of Revenue, who in turn pays the tax to the municipality
in which the meal was sold. The City collected $821,433 from this tax in fiscal 2012. The revenue from this tax is projected
to be comparable in future years.

Property Taxes: Property taxes are a major source of revenue for the City. The total amount levied is subject to certain
limits prescribed by law; for a description of those limits see "PROPERTY TAXATION - Tax Limitations" above.

State Aid: The City's state aid entitlement is based upon a number of different formulas, and while said formulas might
indicate that a particular amount of state aid is owed, the amount of state aid actually paid is limited to the amount
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appropriated by the state legislature. The state annually estimates state aid but actual payments may vary from the
estimate.

In addition to grants for specified capital purposes (some of which are payable over the life of the bonds issued for the
projects), the Commonwealth provides financial assistance to cities and towns for current purposes. Payments to cities and
towns are derived primarily from a percentage of the State’s personal income, sales and use, and corporate excise tax
receipts, together with the net receipts from the State Lottery. A municipality’s state aid entitlement is based on a number of
different formulas, of which the “schools” and “lottery” formulas are the most important. Both of the major formulas tend to
provide more state aid to poorer communities. The formulas for determining a municipality’s state aid entitlement are subject
to amendment by the state legislature and, while a formula might indicate that a particular amount of state aid is owed, the
amount of state aid actually paid is limited to the amount appropriated by the state legislature. The state annually estimates
state aid, but the actual state aid payments may vary from the estimate.

In the fall of 1986, both the State Legislature (by statute repealed as of July 1, 1999) and the voters (by initiative petition)
placed limits on the growth of state tax revenues. Although somewhat different in detail, each measure essentially limited
the annual growth in state tax revenues to an average rate of growth in wages and salaries in the Commonwealth over the
three previous calendar years. If not amended, the remaining measure could restrict the amount of state revenues
available for state aid to local communities.

Legislation was enacted in 1991 to help municipalities compensate for additional local aid reductions by the
Commonwealth for fiscal year 1992. Under that law, municipalities were allowed to defer budgeting for teacher’'s summer
compensation payable by the end of fiscal years 1992 and 1993. Municipalities that chose to defer such amounts are
required to amortize the resulting budget deficiency by raising at least one fifteenth of the deferred amount in each of the
fiscal years 1997 through 2011, or in accordance with a more rapid amortization schedule.

Motor Vehicle Excise: An excise is imposed on the registration of motor vehicles (subject to exemptions) at a rate of $25
per $1,000 of valuation. Valuations are determined by a statutory formula based on manufacturer's list price and year of
manufacture. Bills not paid when due bear interest at 12% per annum. Provision is also made, after notice to the owner,
for suspension of the owner’s operating license or registration by the registrar of motor vehicles.

Trash Fees: In fiscal 2002 the City assessed a fee of $110 per household for the pickup and disposal of residential trash.
For fiscal 2003, an ordinance change raised trash fees from $110 to $220 per household effective July 1, 2002 and to
$280 per household effective July 1, 2003. At the current rate of $280, the trash fee generates revenues sufficient to fully
fund the service.

Enterprise Revenues: See “Enterprise Funds” herein.

Other: Other major sources of revenue include penalties and interest on taxes, investment income, fines, licenses and
permits.

Education Reform

State legislation known as the Education Reform Act of 1993, as amended, imposes certain minimum expenditure
requirements on municipalities with respect to funding for education and related programs, and may affect the level of
state aid to be received for education. The requirements are determined on the basis of formulas affected by various
measures of wealth and income, enrollments, prior levels of local spending and state aid, and other factors. In every year
since passage of the act, the City’s school related appropriations have exceeded the minimum required funding.

State School Building Assistance

Under its school building assistance program, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts provides grants to cities, towns and
regional school districts for school construction projects. Until July 26, 2004, the State Board of Education was
responsible for approving grants for school projects and otherwise administering the program. Grant amounts ranged from
50% to 90% of approved project costs. Municipalities generally issued bonds to finance the entire project cost, and the
Commonwealth disbursed the grants in equal annual installments over the term of the related bonds.
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Pursuant to legislation which became effective on July 26, 2004, the state legislature created the Massachusetts School
Building Authority (the “Authority”) to finance and administer the school building assistance program. The Authority has
assumed all powers and obligations of the Board of Education with respect to the program. In addition to certain other
amounts, the legislation dedicates a portion of Commonwealth sales tax receipts to the Authority to finance the program.

Projects previously approved for grants by the State Board of Education are entitled to receive grant payments from the
Authority based on the approved project cost and reimbursement rate applicable under the prior law. The Authority has
paid and is expected to continue to pay the remaining amounts of the grants for such projects either in annual installments
to reimburse debt service on bonds issued by the municipalities to finance such projects, or as lump sum payments to
contribute to the defeasance of such bonds.

Projects on the priority waiting list as of July 1, 2004 are also entitled to receive grant payments from the Authority based
on the eligible project costs and reimbursement rates applicable under the prior law. With limited exceptions, the
Authority is required to fund the grants for such projects in the order in which they appear on the waiting list. Grants for
any such projects that have been completed or substantially completed have been paid and are expected to continue to
be paid by the Authority in lump sum payments, thereby eliminating the need for the Authority to reimburse interest
expenses that would otherwise be incurred by the municipalities to permanently finance the Authority’s share of such
project costs. Interest on debt issued by municipalities prior to July 1, 2004 to finance such project costs, and interest on
temporary debt until receipt of the grant, is included in the approved costs of such projects. Grants for any such projects
that have not yet commenced or that are underway have been and are expected to continue to be paid by the Authority as
project costs are incurred by the municipality pursuant to a project funding agreement between the Authority and the
municipality, eliminating the need for the municipality to borrow even on a temporary basis to finance the Authority’s share
of the project costs in most cases.

The range of reimbursement rates for new project grant applications submitted to the Authority on or after July 1, 2007
has been reduced to between 40% and 80% of approved project costs. The Authority promulgated new regulations with
respect to the application and approval process for projects submitted after July 1, 2007. The Authority pays grants for
such projects as project costs are incurred pursuant to project funding agreements between the Authority and the
municipalities. None of the interest expense incurred on debt issued by municipalities to finance their portion of the costs
of new projects will be included in the approved project costs eligible for reimbursement.

Financial Operations

During each year from fiscal 1992 through fiscal 2012, and projected at June 30, 2013, the City has generated free cash
surpluses ranging from 1% to 8% of General Fund Revenues. These surpluses resulted in part from conservative
expenditure budgets and aggressive monitoring and control of actual expenditures during the years. They also resulted in
part from deliberate underestimation of likely revenues in preparing annual budgets. In the fiscal 1998 to 2009 budgets,
free cash amounts have been appropriated to support capital expenses, to pay debt service, and to increase permanent
reserves. Conservative budgetary strategies were employed in constructing the budgets and utilized during each fiscal
year.

Investment of City Funds

Investments of funds of cities and towns, except for trust funds, are generally restricted by Massachusetts General Laws
Chapter 44, Section 55. That statute permits investments of available revenue funds and bond and note proceeds in term
deposits and certificates of deposits of banks and trust companies, in obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by
the federal government or an agency thereof with a maturity of not more than one year, in repurchase agreements with a
maturity of not more than 90 days secured by federal or federal agency securities, in participation units in the
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (“MMDT"), or in shares in SEC - registered money market funds with the
highest possible rating from at least one nationally recognized rating organization.

MMDT is an investment pool created by the Commonwealth. The State Treasurer is the sole trustee, and the funds are
managed under contract by an investment firm under the supervision of the State Treasurer's office. According to the State
Treasurer the Trust's investment policy is designed to maintain an average weighted maturity of 90 days or less and is limited
to high-quality, readily marketable fixed income instruments, including U.S. Government obligations and highly-rated corporate
securities with maturities of one year or less.

Trust funds, unless otherwise provided by the donor, may be invested in accordance with Section 54 of Chapter 44, which
permits a broader range of investments than Section 55, including any bonds or notes that are legal investments for
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savings banks in the Commonwealth. The restrictions imposed by Sections 54 and 55 do not apply to city and town
retirement systems.

Accounting Policies
Please refer to attached audited financial statements of the City.

Fiscal Year 2012 Results

General Fund Revenues

The City of Brockton’s year to date general fund total revenues as of June 30, 2012 of $292.332 million has increased by
$13.353 million over the prior year’'s year to date general fund total revenues as of June 30, 2011 of $278.979 million
which represents an overall percentage increase in year to date general fund revenues of 4.786%. The overall increase is
attributable to three (3) revenue source areas: real estate tax revenue has marginally increased by $4.856 million; motor
vehicle excise collections have marginally increased by $0.582 million; and state aid to the City has marginally increased
by $9.8 million. The City has finishing the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012 with an unassigned fund balance of $18.030
million (formerly known as the undesignated fund balance) for the general fund similar to the amount in unassigned fund
balance at June 30, 2011.

Business Type Activities
Year To Date Summary Revenue Analysis
of Business Type Activities

Increase Overall %

6/30/2012 6/30/2011 (Decrease) Increase
Year to date Revenues Revenues Revenues (Decrease)

(millions) (millions) (millions) Revenues
Sewer enterprise fund $19.006 $19.829 -$0.823 -4.150%
Water enterprise fund $15.218 $14.928 $0.290 1.942%
Refuse enterprise fund $7.456 $7.427 $0.029 0.004%
Renewable energy enterprise fund $0.138 $0.125 $0.013 10.400%

Certified Free Cash and Certified Retained Earnings

The City has not drawn down free cash for capital outlay purposes in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2012.

It has been the management philosophy of the City to utilize any free cash that is certified to augment the subsequent year's
expenditures; typically those expenditures are for retirement assessments, treasurer's debt service, and stabilization and
Chapter 324 reserve fund contributions. The City generally utilizes certified retained earnings from the business type activities of
the enterprise funds to augment the subsequent year's expenditures typically for debt service.
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Annual Audits

Audits covering all funds of the City for recent fiscal years have been performed annually by KPMG Peat Marwick,
certified public accountants. The most recent audit is for fiscal 2012 which is attached hereto as Appendix A. Said audit
reports the City’s operations in accordance with the new accounting standards of GASB 34. Copies of prior year audits
are available upon request. The attached report speaks only as of its date, and only to the matters expressly set forth
therein. The auditors have not been engaged to review this Official Statement or to perform audit procedures regarding
the post-audit period, nor have the auditors been requested to give their consent to the inclusion of their report in
Appendix A. Except as stated in their report, the auditors have not been engaged to verify the financial information set out
in Appendix A and are not passing upon and do not assume responsibility for the sufficiency, accuracy or completeness of
the financial information presented in that appendix.

Financial Statements
Set forth on the following pages are the following tables and financial statements of the City of Brockton: Governmental
Funds Balance Sheets for fiscal years 2012, 2011 and 2010 and a Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Equity - General Fund for fiscal 2008 through fiscal 2012. Said financials were extracted from the
City’s audited financial statements.

28



Assets

Cash and investments
Receivables, net:
Property taxes
Motor vehicle excise
Departmental and other
Tax liens
Intergovernmental

Total receivables

Due from other funds

Long-term note receivable

Long-term intergovernmental receivable
Deposit with health claims agent

Total Assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Warrants and accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:

Tax abatement refunds

Payroll and related withholdings
Due to other funds
Health claims payable
Bond anticipation note payable
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances (deficits):
Nonpendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liability and fund balances

(1) Extracted from the annual audit.

City of Brockton, MA
Balance Sheet- Governmental Funds
June 30, 2012 (1)

School Roof Other

General Repairs Governmental Total
$78,586,173 $ - $ 26,077,115 $ 104,663,288
7,047,582 - 7,047,582
2,253,325 - - 2,253,325
18,815 - 183,145 201,960
5,356,101 - - 5,356,101
2,841,444 7,498,872 4,562,149 14,902,465
17,517,267 7,498,872 4,745,294 29,761,433
2,675,606 - 2,675,606
7,298,888 - 7,298,888
13,573,502 - 13,573,502
7,544,000 - 7,544,000
$ 127,195,436 $ 7,498,872 $ 30,822,409 $ 165,516,717
$ 7,193,534 $ 4,377,521 $ 3,167,064 $ 14,738,119
1,772,750 - - 1,772,750
11,693,945 - 59,021 11,752,966
- 2,675,606 - 2,675,606
3,480,518 - 3,480,518
- 7,000,000 - 7,000,000
29,447,099 - 25,724 29,472,823
53,587,846 14,053,127 3,251,809 70,892,782
7,298,888 - 5,246,543 12,545,431
13,143,093 - 20,128,622 33,271,715
5,019,582 - 1,973,508 6,993,090
18,913,861 15,033 221,927 19,150,821
29,232,166 (6,569,288) - 22,662,878
$73,607,590 $  (6,554,255) $ 27,570,600 $ 94,623,935
$127,195,436 $ 7,498,872 $ 30,822,409 $ 165,516,717
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City of Brockton, MA
Balance Sheet- Governmental Funds
June 30, 2011 (1)

Other
Assets General Governmental Total

Cash and investments $79,688,383 $ 27,430,931 $ 107,119,314

Receivables, net;
Property taxes 6,777,857 - 6,777,857
Motor vehicle excise 2,484,301 - 2,484,301
Departmental and other 38,330 - 38,330
Tax liens 4,456,841 - 4,456,841
Intergovernmental 2,870,045 2,885,284 5,755,329
Total receivables 16,627,374 2,885,284 19,512,658
Long-term note receivable 7,451,183 - 7,451,183
Long-term intergovernmental receivable 16,171,048 - 16,171,048
Deposit with health claims agent 7,245,000 - 7,245,000
Total Assets $ 127,182,988 $ 30,316,215 $ 157,499,203

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Warrants and accounts payable $ 3,477,827 $ 2,743,653 $ 6,221,480

Accrued liabilities:
Tax abatement refunds 1,703,610 - 1,703,610
Payroll and related withholdings 8,712,515 16,998 8,729,513
Health claims payable 4,306,037 - 4,306,037
Bond anticipation note payable - 896,000 896,000
Deferred revenue 31,176,417 395,657 31,572,074
Total liabilities 49,376,406 4,052,308 53,428,714

Fund balances:

Nonpendable 7,451,183 5,201,284 12,652,467
Restricted 26,112,216 19,280,818 45,393,034
Committed 4,869,582 1,490,722 6,360,304
Assigned 20,453,183 347,238 20,800,421
Unassigned 18,920,418 (56,155) 18,864,263
Total fund balances $77,806,582 $ 26,263,907 $ 104,070,489
Total liability and fund balances $127,182,988 $ 30,316,215 $ 157,499,203

(1) Extracted from the annual audit.
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City of Brockton, MA

Balance Sheet- Governmental Funds

Assets

Cash and investments
Receivables, net:
Property taxes
Motor vehicle excise
Departmental and other
Tax liens
Intergovernmental

Total receivables

Long-term note receivable
Long-term intergovernmental receivable
Deposit with health claims agent

Total Assets

Liabilities and Fund Balances

Warrants and accounts payable
Accrued liabilities:

Tax abatement refunds

Payroll and related withholdings
Health claims payable
Bond anticipation note payable
Deferred revenue

Total liabilities

Fund balances:
Reserved for:
Encumbrances and continuing appropriations
Deposits held
Note receivable
Unreserved:
Designated for subsequent year's expenditures
Designated for extraordinary & unforseen expeditures
Designated for stabilization
Designated for health claims
Undesignated, reported in:
General fund
Special Revenue funds
Capital Projects funds
Permanent funds

Total fund balances
Total liability and fund balances

(1) Extracted from the annual audit.

June 30, 2010 (1)

Other

General Governmental Total
$84,871,049 $ 18,126,897 $ 102,997,946
6,308,402 6,308,402
2,365,900 2,365,900
348,149 348,149
3,429,300 - 3,429,300
3,014,653 10,064,018 13,078,671
15,466,404 10,064,018 25,530,422
7,451,183 7,451,183
19,374,822 19,374,822
6,744,800 6,744,800
$ 133,908,258 $ 28,190,915 $ 162,099,173

$ 5,054,154 $ 3257881 $ 8,312,035
1,578,539 - 1,578,539
9,647,177 127,864 9,775,041
3,835,502 - 3,835,502

- 9,000,000 9,000,000
33,815,001 822,763 34,637,764
53,930,373 13,208,508 67,138,881

2,129,668 166,286 2,295,954
6,744,800 - 6,744,800
7,594,432 7,594,432
9,656,070 602,790 10,258,860
4,869,582 4,869,582
4,307,493 4,307,493
26,627,871 26,627,871
18,047,969 - 18,047,969
- 13,379,850 13,379,850
(4,272,830) (4,272,830)

5,106,311 5,106,311

$79,977,885  $ 14,982,407 $ 94,960,292
$133,008258 $ 28,190,915 $ 162,099,173
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City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures

and Changes in Fund Balances- Governmental Funds(1)

June 30
2011 2012
Rewvenues:
Real and personal property taxes, net $ 102,552,359 $ 106,728,051
Motor Vehicle and Other Excise 6,453,016 6,729,299
Penalties and Interest on Taxes 1,399,808 1,694,109
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 191,011 188,881
User Charges and Other Revenues 4,709,641 3,989,410
Fees 1,751,886 1,780,971
Licenses and permits 2,138,531 2,044,967
Intergovernmental 152,715,724 163,524,900
Fines 431,418 808,373
Investment income 470,818 345,421
Contributions 13,134,609 14,195,703
Total Revenues 285,948,821 302,030,085
Expenditures:
Current:
General Government 11,480,291 11,303,185
Public Safety 36,566,539 37,337,236
Education 142,631,868 153,505,472
Public works 8,733,165 5,595,546
Human senices 2,077,830 2,194,788
Culture and recreation 1,875,244 2,087,123
State and county assessments 5,658,876 6,022,609
Pension and fringe benefits 67,335,563 76,903,470
Court judgments 133,226 161,056
Capital outlay 483,080 582,058
Debt senice 13,194,988 11,267,156
Total Expenditures 290,170,670 306,959,699
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (4,221,849) (4,929,614)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating Transfers In 6,146,430 8,150,910
Operating Transfers out (4,159,514) (7,632,656)
Other 63,630 212,368
Bond proceeds - -
Bonds premium 53,213 284,565
Payments to refunding bond escrow agent (1,071,213) (4,646,815)
Issuance of refunding bonds 1,018,000 4,362,250
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,050,546 730,622
Excess (deficiency) of Revenues Over
Expenditures and Other Financing Uses (2,171,303) (4,198,992)
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 79,977,885 77,806,582

Fund Balance, End of Year

$77,806,582 $73,607,590

(1) Extracted from City's audited financial statements.
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City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances- Governmental Funds*

June 30
2008 2009 2010
Revenues:
Real and personal property taxes, net $ 92,101,172  $ 95588735 $ 97,073,442
Motor Vehicle and Other Excise 7,428,602 6,379,821 6,330,498
Penalties and Interest on Taxes 1,567,170 1,426,544 1,619,799
Intergovernmental 158,473,527 147,233,595 152,401,565
User Charges and Other Revenues (1) 2,625,085 2,035,361 1,863,045
Payment in Lieu of Taxes 250,929 185,816 263,086
Fines, Licenses and Permits 2,348,237 668,256 2,772,606
Investment Income 2,738,588 847,311 465,816
Contributions 14,531,327 14,388,380 14,860,275
Fees 726,216 1,385,859 1,633,587
Licenses and permits - 2,004,126 -
Total Revenues (2) 282,790,853 272,143,804 279,283,719
Expenditures:
Current:
Education 139,185,475 128,454,533 132,547,974
Public Safety 37,065,317 37,009,397 37,237,861
Public Works (3) 7,269,213 8,795,802 6,494,963
Pension and Fringe Benefits 58,514,818 65,831,713 68,801,529
General Government 13,338,042 11,613,497 10,993,590
Culture and Recreation 2,033,497 1,768,568 1,926,882
State and County Assessments 4,963,785 5,372,254 5,605,388
Human Services 1,907,545 1,866,668 1,838,839
Court Judgments 422,196 255,872 229,955
Capital Outlay (4) 669,200 496,973 638,400
Debt Service 13,115,304 12,814,575 12,987,630
Total Expenditures (5) 278,484,392 274,279,852 279,303,011
Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures 4,306,461 (2,136,048) (19,292)
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Operating Transfers In (Out) Net (6) 393,571 656,943 2,263,539
Proceeds of Long-Term Debt - - (876,777)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 393,571 656,943 1,386,762
Excess (deficiency) of Revenues Over
Expenditures and Other Financing Uses 4,700,032 (1,479,105) 1,367,470
Fund Balance, Beginning of Year 75,389,488 80,089,520 78,610,415
Fund Balance, End of Year $80,089,520 $78,610,415 $79,977,885

(1) Trash fee and Departmental receipts. Sewer and water operations are accounted for as enterprise.
(2) Excludes all Enterprise revenues.
(3) Includes a long-term contract for trash pickup.
(4) Prior to fiscal 1998, the City accounted for capital expenditures within current operation expenses.
(5) Includes some Enterprise expenditures. See note (6) below.
(6) Operating transfers are budgeted items (see audited financial statements attached hereto as Appendix A).
They are intended to recapture expenditures borne by the General Fund in support of Enterprise and Spec
*Complied from the City's audited financial statements.
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Free Cash — General Fund

Under Massachusetts law, an amount known as "free cash" is certified as of the beginning of each fiscal year by the State
Bureau of Accounts and this amount, together with certain subsequent tax receipts, is used as the basis for subsequent
appropriations from available funds, which are not required to be included in the annual tax levy.

The following table compares free cash under the UMAS system with Unreserved General Fund Balance and total
General Fund Balance under GAAP.

General Fund Unreserved General Free
Balance Fund Balance Cash
June 30 GAAP GAAP (UMAS)

2013 (est.) $68,000,000 $28,600,000 $12,000,000
2012 73,607,509 29,232,166 13,318,577
2011 77,806,582 18,920,418 (1) 14,701,332
2010 79,977,885 18,047,969 16,948,909
2009 78,610,415 10,338,742 9,656,070
2008 80,089,520 16,762,531 14,490,760

(1) Starting in fiscal 2011, General Fund balance includes Stabilization fund.

It has been the City's policy in recent years to appropriate essentially all of its certified free cash by fiscal year end, and to
generate new free cash through conservative budgeting procedures and strict budget oversight. Among the purposes for
which free cash has been appropriated during the five most recent fiscal years include general budget operations, court
judgments, capital purchases and transfers to the Supplemental Reserve and Stabilization funds.

Free Cash — Enterprise Funds

In addition, the State Bureau of Accounts annually certifies the amount of “free cash” in each of the City's enterprise
funds, as set forth below.

Water Sewer Recreation Refuse Renewal
July 1 Enterprise Fund  Enterprise Fund  Enterprise Fund Enterprise Fund (1) Energy Fund

2013 (est) $ 2,500,000 $ 3,900,000 $ 150000 $ 1,000,000 $ 25000

2012 923,199 3,078,216 354,676 1,549,353 78,038
2011 3,032,671 4,562,091 267,455 845,961 44,873
2010 1,810,967 1,748,393 209,302 1,171,286 76,156
2009 5,063,034 2,569,144 224,200 1,221,957 187,347
2008 1,714,493 (174,236) 35,621 1,152,794 84,458

(1) Established in fiscal 2002.

Tax Increment Financing for Development Districts

Under recent legislation, cities and towns are authorized to establish development districts to encourage increased
residential, industrial and commercial activity. All or a portion of the taxes on growth in assessed value in such districts
may be pledged and used solely to finance economic development projects pursuant to the city or town’s development
program for the district. This includes pledging such “tax increments” for the payment of bonds issued to finance such
projects. As a result of any such pledge, tax increments raised from new growth properties in development districts are
not available for other municipal purposes. Tax increments are taken into account in determining the total taxes assessed
for the purpose of calculating the maximum permitted tax levy under Proposition 2 %. (See “Tax Limitations” under
“PROPERTY TAXATION" above.) The City has not established any such development districts.

34



Other Tax Increment Financing

Pursuant to separate legislation, Massachusetts General Law Chapter 23A, the City has executed TIF agreements as part
of its Economic Opportunity Area/Economic target Area status. Beginning in 1997, the City has executed a total of 50 TIF
agreements with a total of value of $78.3 million. These agreements ranged from 1 year in length to 20, and ranged in
value from $32.9 thousand to $14.5 million. The most remote expiration date is in 2025. Of the 50 total, 11 TIF
agreements have already expired, and 5 more have been revoked. Also pursuant to the same legislation, beginning in
1997 the City executed a total of 7 special tax assessment agreements, with a total value of $9.3 million, ranging in value
from $171 thousand to $4.8 million. All of these special tax assessment agreements have expired.

Reserve Funds

The City of Brockton maintains a special reserve fund for extraordinary and unforeseen expenditures called the
"Supplemental Reserve”. Since fiscal 1992, one and one-half percent of the “Gross Amount to be Raised” on the annual
tax computation form for the previous fiscal year has been appropriated to this fund in the budget for the current fiscal
year. Expenditures from this fund can be made only by the Mayor, with City Council approval. The Supplemental Reserve
Fund is accounted for in the General Fund balance sheet as “Unreserved: Designated for Extraordinary and Unforeseen
Expenditures”.

Since fiscal year 1993, the City has maintained a Stabilization Fund. Funded by an annual appropriation, the Stabilization
Fund plus interest income may be appropriated for any municipal purpose by a two thirds majority vote of the City Council.
It is accounted for in the General Fund balance sheet as “Unreserved: Designated for Stabilization”. Supplemental
Reserve Fund and Stabilization Fund balances at July 1 each year have been as follows:

Supplemental Stabilization
July 1 Reserve Fund Fund
2013 (est.) $5,281,676 $5,600,000
2012 5,019,582 7,721,213
2011 4,869,582 3,668,809
2010 4,869,582 4,307,493
2009 4,720,203 2,387,467
2008 4,569,331 2,114,004

Enterprise Funds

The City of Brockton has five Enterprise Funds which are accounted for as Special Revenue Funds in the City's audited
financial statements.

Water Enterprise Fund. The Water Enterprise Fund was established in fiscal 1990. Effective with the creation of the
water commission, rates are recommended by the water commission, subject to approval by the City Council. Prior to the
creation of the commission, water rates were set by the Mayor at the recommendation of the Commissioner of Public
Works. This fund is currently self-supporting, but future rate increases will be required to support capital needs and pay
for the desalinated water. See “City of Brockton, Massachusetts — Municipal Services — Water Supply” above.

Sewer Enterprise Fund. The Sewer Enterprise Fund was established in fiscal 1992. Sewer rates are set by the City
Council with the approval of the Mayor. The City has expended from retained earnings to help fund necessary capital
projects with an objective of annually generating the reserve balance at about 10% of revenues. This fund is fully self-
supporting.

The City in 2006 concluded consent decree negotiations with the Massachusetts Department of Environmental Protection,
the US Environmental Protection Agency, the Massachusetts Attorney General and the U.S. Department of Justice
relative to permit violations at the city’s sewer treatment plant. The settlement required major capital expenditures for
upgrading the plant, improving its treatment processes, and rehabilitating the collection system. Some of this work was
initiated while the negotiations were in progress. The City originally anticipated that the financial cost of the work would
approximate $85 million, to be expended and accomplished over about five years. The city council has approved
borrowing for the work and has also authorized rate increases in phases in 2005, 2006, 2007, 2008 and 2009. The rate
increases in the aggregate were more than 60% but still leave city sewer rates competitive with those of MWRA
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communities. The increases are expected to be sufficient to finance operations and maintenance costs, borrowing costs
for the construction projects, penalties of $120,000, and $180,000 in required supplemental environmental projects
(SEPs). All of the SEPs also have been paid for. The construction projects were on schedule. However, the most recent
cost estimates indicate that inflation may add about $10 million to the estimate of $85 million in cost. In May of 2009, the
city council authorized an additional $11 million of borrowing for the added costs that had been anticipated in the rate
increase of 30% approved in the Fall of 2008.

Recreation Enterprise Fund. In fiscal 1993, the City established the Recreation Enterprise Fund. Fees for golf and
recreation activities are set by the Parks and Recreation Commission. The General Fund subsidizes the Recreation Fund
for the specific purposes which otherwise could not be afforded. The subsidy for Recreation Fund programs in the fiscal
years from fiscal 2008 through fiscal 2013 has ranged from $350,000 to $520,000 per year in direct subsidy plus about
$450,000 per year in indirect costs.

Refuse Enterprise Fund — In fiscal year 2002, the City established the Refuse Enterprise Fund for the pick-up and
disposal of garbage, trash, and other refuse from the City’s residential properties. The City provides service weekly. The
City charges a flat fee per single family unit ($220 per year in fiscal 2002; $280 per year since fiscal 2003). Single family
residences are limited to one barrel per week for this fee. Additional pickup/disposal service may be obtained at the price
of $1.00 per bag. Initially, the City’s General Fund subsidized the Refuse Fund. For fiscal 2003, the subsidy was $2.113
million. In fiscal 2004, the Mayor budgeted a subsidy of $1.112 million, but the fund actually required only $634 thousand
and thus generated a surplus for retained earnings. Accordingly, beginning in fiscal 2005, the City has no longer
subsidized the Refuse Enterprise Fund. Instead, the Retained Earnings balance from the prior year's operations has
been used to help pay for budgeted operating costs.

Renewable Energy Fund - By Chapter 5 of the Acts of 2005, the City was authorized to install, finance, and operate solar
energy facilities. Section 5 of that Act permitted the City to establish an enterprise fund for operation of the solar energy
facilities. The construction of the facility was accomplished by a combination of City appropriation ($500,000), City
borrowings ($1,600,000) and various grant funds (almost $1.7 million). The City issued a public bid for the design,
construction, operations and maintenance of the facility, which was to be located on a former “brownfield” site. Global
Solar Energy Inc. of Arizona was the successful general bidder, with local partners. In October 2006, the construction of
the facility was concluded. Accordingly, during fiscal 2006 the facility was not in operation.

The City in 2006 conducted a public procurement for the sale of the facility’s generated electricity as well as so-called
“renewable energy certificates”. Constellation New Energy was the successful bidder and in November 2006 began to
purchase the facility’s output. The revenue derived from the sale of the facility’s output approximately equals the cost of
operations and maintenance, and contributes about one-half annual debt-service of $100,000.

In November 2006 the U.S. Internal Revenue Service notified the City that the project qualified for the issuance of up to

$1,600,000 in so-called “Clean Renewable Energy Bonds”. The City issued the full amount of that allocation in February
2008.
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Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Customer recievables, net
Intergovernmental receivables
Other

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent assets:

Other
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Warrants and accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Compensated absences and claims
Bonds, notes, and loans payable
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences and claims
Unearned Revenue
Landfill and postclosure care costs
Bonds
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted

Total net assets

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Net Assets- Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2012 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$ 5,966,976 $ 10,570,852 3,907,276 $ 20,445,104
7,005,991 10,286,300 3,952,056 21,244,347
5,281,801 - - 5,281,801
306,150 44,954 - 351,104
18,560,918 20,902,106 7,859,332 47,322,356
221,495 538,537 31,698 791,730
9,913,460 566,388 163,484 10,643,332
40,487,029 128,894,212 5,385,029 174,766,270
50,621,984 129,999,137 5,580,211 186,201,332
$ 69,182,902 $ 150,901,243 13,439,543 $ 233,523,688
$ 2,025,199 $ 807,719 531,919 $ 3,364,837
233,408 934,902 20,469 1,188,779
92,313 35,108 35,543 162,964
1,369,467 4,956,905 150,000 6,476,372
3,720,387 6,734,634 737,931 11,192,952
1,735,195 2,690,031 2,651,201 7,076,427
2,057,786 1,290,189 - 3,347,975
- 1,127,000 - 1,127,000
26,342,777 76,584,634 1,154,511 104,081,922
30,135,758 81,691,854 3,805,712 115,633,324
33,856,145 88,426,488 4,543,643 126,826,276
27,970,046 47,914,060 4,244,002 80,128,108
7,356,713 14,560,697 4,651,899 26,569,309
$35,326,759 $62,474,757 $8,895,901 $106,697,417

(1) Extacted from audited financial statements of the City.
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Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Customer recievables, net
Intergovernmental receivables
Other

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent assets:

Other
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Warrants and accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Compensated absences and claims
Bonds, notes, and loans payable
Total current liabilities

Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences and claims
Unearned Revenue
Landfill and postclosure care costs
Bonds
Total noncurrent liabilities

Total liabilities

Net Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt
Unrestricted

Total net assets

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Net Assets- Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2011 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$ 7,919,962 $ 9,171,763 3,631,273 $ 20,722,998
6,824,463 9,658,706 3,864,889 20,348,058
6,086,937 799,985 - 6,886,922
306,151 49,956 - 356,107
21,137,513 19,680,410 7,496,162 48,314,085
229,830 575,401 37,177 842,408
4,335,982 26,810,742 162,709 31,309,433
42,058,802 105,278,818 5,407,559 152,745,179
46,624,614 132,664,961 5,607,445 184,897,020
$ 67,762,127 3 152,345,371 13,103,607 $ 233,211,105
$ 1,462,662 $ 935,429 653,080 $ 3,051,171
245,280 946,883 18,288 1,210,451
104,931 36,159 33,548 174,638
1,312,022 4,902,527 150,000 6,364,549
3,124,895 6,820,998 854,916 10,800,809
1,539,729 3,027,451 2,904,456 7,471,636
551,815 1,290,190 - 1,842,005
- 1,081,000 - 1,081,000
26,036,508 81,663,118 1,305,171 109,004,797
28,128,052 87,061,759 4,209,627 119,399,438
31,252,947 93,882,757 5,064,543 130,200,247
25,133,191 46,323,900 4,115,097 75,572,188
11,375,989 12,138,714 3,923,967 27,438,670
$36,509,180 $58,462,614 $8,039,064 $103,010,858

(1) Extacted from audited financial statements of the City.
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City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Net Assets- Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2010 (1)
Enterprise funds

Assets Water Sewer Other Total
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,714,684 6,373,695 4,008,670 $ 19,097,049
Customer recievables, net 6,351,922 10,974,130 3,817,745 21,143,797
Intergovernmental receivables 217,363 10,903,578 - 11,120,941
Other 306,151 49,957 - 356,108
Total Current Assets 15,590,120 28,301,360 7,826,415 51,717,895
Noncurrent assets:
Other 245,528 618,026 43,377 906,931
Capital assets:
Nondepreciable 3,731,390 18,666,202 130,359 22,527,951
Depreciable, net 43,202,901 108,703,441 5,530,141 157,436,483
Total noncurrent assets 47,179,819 127,987,669 5,703,877 180,871,365
Total assets $ 62,769,939 156,289,029 13,530,292 $ 232,589,260
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Warrants and accounts payable $ 750,547 3,005,307 634,601 $ 4,390,455
Accrued expenses 333,776 946,638 37,540 1,317,954
Compensated absences and claims 104,689 38,891 42,640 186,220
Bonds, notes, and loans payable 1,288,922 4,413,202 150,000 5,852,124
Total current liabilities 2,477,934 8,404,038 864,781 11,746,753
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Compensated absences and claims 1,363,790 3,108,603 3,015,453 7,487,846
Unearned Revenue - 1,290,190 - 1,290,190
Landfill and postclosure care costs - 1,058,000 - 1,058,000
Bonds 21,964,982 86,619,358 1,453,149 110,037,489
Total noncurrent liabilities 23,328,772 92,076,151 4,468,602 119,873,525
Total liabilities 25,806,706 100,480,189 5,333,383 131,620,278
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt 23,897,750 47,240,661 4,057,351 75,195,762
Unrestricted 13,065,483 8,568,179 4,139,558 25,773,220
Total net assets $36,963,233 $55,808,840 $8,196,909 $100,968,982

(1) Extacted from audited financial statements of the City.
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Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fees
Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance
Contractual Services
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Debt Subsidies

Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue

Income (loss) before transfers and capital grants

Transfers In
Transfers Out
Total transfers in (out)

Change in net assets

Total net assets, beginning of year
Total net assets, end of year

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets- Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2012 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$ 14,588,841 $ 18,498,239 $ 8,090,909 $ 41,177,989
463,759 343,584 242,571 1,049,914
- - 5,210 5,210
$ 15,052,600 $ 18,841,823 $ 8,338,690 $ 42,233,113
$ 4,553,216 $ 1,433,669 $ 1,568,671 $ 7,555,556
891,726 1,643,290 70,672 2,605,688
711,193 1,200,152 266,921 2,178,266
7,135,645 4,023,638 6,148,374 17,307,657
613,391 325,525 214,575 1,153,491
1,571,773 3,966,501 280,469 5,818,743
15,476,944 12,592,775 8,549,682 36,619,401
(424,344) 6,249,048 (210,992) 5613712
304,297 349,424 212,684 866,405
(562,587) (2,295,869) (8,524) (2,866,980)
43,348 432,842 - 476,190
(214,942) (1,513,603) 204,160 (1,524,385)
(639,286) 4,735,445 (6,832) 4,089,327
- - 863,669 863,669
(543,135) (723,302) - (1,266,437)
(543,135) (723,302) 863,669 (402, 768)
(1,182,421) 4,012,143 856,837 3,686,559
36,509,180 58,462,614 8,039,064 103,010,858
$ 35,326,759 $ 62,474,757 $ 8,895,901 $ 106,697,417

(1) Extracted from audited financial statements of the City.
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Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fees
Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance
Contractual Services
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Debt Subsidies

Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue

Income (loss) before transfers and capital grants

Transfers In
Transfers Out
Total transfers in (out)

Change in net assets

Total net assets, beginning of year
Total net assets, end of year

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets- Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2011 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$ 14,726,496 $ 17,470,429 $ 7,995,004 $ 40,191,929
333,814 195,921 249,876 779,611
- - 125 125
$ 15,060,310 $ 17,666,350 $ 8,245,005 $ 40,971,665
$ 4,471,957 $ 1,718,618 $ 1,600,155 $ 7,790,730
872,612 1,533,233 61,475 2,467,320
627,197 1,351,631 163,660 2,142,488
6,276,912 3,612,526 6,712,012 16,601,450
778,747 511,274 192,671 1,482,692
1,576,638 3,575,166 256,189 5,407,993
14,604,063 12,302,448 8,986,162 35,892,673
456,247 5,363,902 (741,157) 5,078,992
285,986 331,629 209,145 826,760
(596,103) (2,230,539) (21,202) (2,847,844)
44,405 451,086 - 495,491
(265,712) (1,447,824) 187,943 (1,525,593)
190,535 3,916,078 (553,214) 3,553,399
10,116 65,077 565,589 640,782
(654,704) (1,327,381) (170,220) (2,152,305)
(644,588) (1,262,304) 395,360 (1,511,523)
(454,053) 2,653,774 (157,845) 2,041,876
36,963,233 55,808,840 8,196,909 100,968,982
$ 36,509,180 $ 58,462,614 $ 8,039,064 $ 103,010,858

(1) Extracted from audited financial statements of the City.
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City of Brockton, Massachusetts

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets- Proprietary Funds

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fees
Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance
Contractual Services
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Debt Subsidies

Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue
Income (loss) before transfers and capital grants
Transfers In

Transfers Out
Total transfers in (out)

Change in net assets

Total net assets, beginning of year
Total net assets, end of year

(1) Extracted from audited financial statements of the City.

June 30, 2010 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$ 13,406,566 $ 18,504,572 $ 8,135,327 $ 40,046,465
364,312 382,619 267,481 1,014,412
- 31,569 1,975 33,544
$ 13,770,878 $ 18,918,760 $ 8,404,783 $ 41,094,421
$ 4,362,228 $ 2,159,516 $ 1,574,274 $ 8,096,018
1,129,227 1,845,650 60,281 3,035,158
962,886 1,294,011 139,726 2,396,623
5,063,942 3,062,592 6,520,897 14,647,431
384,449 408,579 265,862 1,058,890
1,284,982 2,605,191 278,624 4,168,797
13,187,714 11,375,539 8,839,664 33,402,917
583,164 7,543,221 (434,881) 7,691,504
262,137 265,661 199,887 727,685
(625,935) (2,142,400) (16,190) (2,784,525)
45,433 467,875 - 513,308
(318,365) (1,408,864) 183,697 (1,543,532)
264,799 6,134,357 (251,184) 6,147,972
106,500 1,067,877 714,983 1,889,360
(680,015) (943,458) - (1,623,473)
(573,515) 124,419 714,983 265,887
(308,716) 6,258,776 463,799 6,413,859
37,271,949 49,550,064 7,733,110 94,555,123
$ 36,963,233 $ 55,808,840 $ 8,196,909 $ 100,968,982
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Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fees
Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance
Contractual Services
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Debt Subsidies

Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue
Income (loss) before transfers and capital grants
Transfers In

Transfers Out
Total transfers in (out)

Change in net assets

Total net assets, beginning of year
Total net assets, end of year

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets- Proprietary Funds

June 30, 2009 (1)

Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$15,509,696 $ 18,306,084 8,177,752 $ 41,993,532
298,314 615,819 263,713 1,177,846
- 4,368 4,368
$ 15,808,010 $ 18,921,903 8,445,833 $ 43,175,746
$ 5,195,091 $ 3,241,918 2,831,296 $ 11,268,305
994,349 1,793,036 70,928 2,858,313
918,442 1,616,708 40,751 2,575,901
3,504,133 1,319,734 6,271,928 11,095,795
409,331 321,529 315,859 1,046,719
974,480 1,660,225 320,224 2,954,929
11,995,826 9,953,150 9,850,986 31,799,962
3,812,184 8,968,753 (1,405,153) 11,375,784
140,844 194,772 171,335 506,951
(660,668) (2,180,921) (18,503) (2,860,092)
46,555 484,226 - 530,781
(473,269) (1,501,923) 152,832 (1,822,360)
3,338,915 7,466,830 (1,252,321) 9,553,424
191,713 419,203 871,709 1,482,625
(530,681) (688,745) - (1,219,426)
(338,968) (269,542) 871,709 263,199
2,999,947 7,197,288 (380,612) 9,816,623
34,272,002 42,352,776 8,113,722 84,738,500
$37,271,949 $49,550,064 $7,733,110 $94,555,123

(1) Extracted from audited financial statements of the City.
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City of Brockton, Massachusetts

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets- Proprietary Funds

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Fees
Other

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Salaries and Benefits
Utilities
Repairs and Maintenance
Contractual Services
Other Supplies and Expenses
Depreciation
Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income (loss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense)
Interest Income
Interest Expense
Debt Subsidies

Total nonoperating (expenses) revenue

Income (loss) before transfers and capital grants

Transfers In

Transfers Out

Capital Grants

Total transfers in (out) and capital grants

Change in net assets

Total net assets, beginning of year
Total net assets, end of year

(1) Extracted from audited financial statements of the City.

June 30, 2008 (1)
Enterprise funds

Water Sewer Other Total
$11,067,971 12,429,366 7,905,385 $ 31,402,722
258,555 374,266 286,030 918,851
- 33,879 - 33,879
11,326,526 12,837,511 8,191,415 $ 32,355,452
3,695,574 1,784,582 1,999,794 $ 7,479,950
797,649 1,608,592 67,326 2,473,567
662,127 845,631 56,580 1,564,338
1,736,172 4,854,660 6,469,514 13,060,346
314,548 377,784 432,628 1,124,960
963,999 1,610,519 317,401 2,891,919
8,170,069 11,081,768 9,343,243 28,595,080
3,156,457 1,755,743 (1,151,828) 3,760,372
154,299 162,186 163,661 480,146
(509,358) (2,231,233) (120,632) (2,861,223)
47,411 499,939 - 547,350
(307,648) (1,569,108) 43,029 (1,833,727)
2,848,809 186,635 (1,108,799) 1,926,645
40,500 12,860 884,452 937,812
(436,169) (830,416) - (1,266,585)
- - 54,102 54,102
(395,669) (817,556) 938,554 (274,671)
2,453,140 (630,921) (170,245) 1,651,974
31,818,862 42,983,697 8,283,967 83,086,526
$34,272,002 $42,352,776 $8,113,722 $84,738,500
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INDEBTEDNESS
Authorization Procedure and Limitations

Bonds and notes are generally authorized on behalf of the City by vote of two-thirds of all the members of the city council.
Provision is made for a referendum on the filing of a petition bearing the requisite number of signatures within twenty days
of final passage on a loan order. Borrowings for certain purposes require state administrative approval. Temporary loans
in anticipation of current revenues and in anticipation of federal and state grants may be made by the Treasurer with the
approval of the Mayor.

Debt Limit

General Debt Limit. The General Debt Limit of the City consists of a Normal Debt Limit and a Double Debt Limit. The
Normal Debt Limit is 5 percent of the valuation of taxable property as last equalized by the State Department of Revenue.
The City can authorize debt up to this amount without State approval. It can authorize debt up to twice this amount (the
Double Debt Limit) with the approval of the State Municipal Finance Oversight Board consisting of the Attorney General,
the State Treasurer, the State Auditor, and the Director of Accounts.

There are many categories of general obligation debt which are exempt from and do not count against the General Debt Limit.
Among others, these exempt categories include revenue anticipation notes and grant anticipation notes; emergency loans;
loans exempted by special laws; certain school bonds, sewer bonds, solid waste disposal facility bonds and economic
development bonds supported by tax increment financing; and subject to special debt limits, bonds for water (limited to 10
percent of equalized valuation), housing, urban renewal and economic development (subject to various debt limits), and
electric, gas, community antenna television systems, and telecommunications systems (subject to separate limits). Revenue
bonds are not subject to these debt limits. The General Debt Limit and the special debt limit for water bonds apply at the time
the debt is authorized. The other special debt limits generally apply at the time the debt is incurred.

Revenue Anticipation Notes. The amount borrowed in each fiscal year by the issue of revenue anticipation notes is
limited to the tax levy of the prior fiscal year, together with the net receipts in the prior fiscal year from the motor vehicle
excise and certain payments made by the Commonwealth in lieu of taxes. The fiscal year ends on June 30. Notes may
mature in the following fiscal year, and notes may be refunded into the following fiscal year, to the extent of the
uncollected, unabated current tax levy and certain other items, including revenue deficits, overlay deficits, final judgments
and lawful unappropriated expenditures, which are to be added to the next tax levy, but excluding deficits arising from a
failure to collect taxes of earlier years. (See "PROPERTY TAXATION - Taxation to Meet Deficits," above.) In any event,
the period from an original borrowing to its final maturity cannot exceed one year.

Types of Obligations

General Obligations. Massachusetts cities and towns are authorized to issue general obligation indebtedness of these types:

Serial Bonds and Notes. These are generally required to be payable in annual principal amounts beginning no later than the
end of the next fiscal year commencing after the date of issue and ending within the terms permitted by law. A level debt
service schedule, or a schedule that provides for a more rapid amortization of principal than level debt service, is permitted.
The principal amounts of certain economic development bonds supported by tax increment financing may be payable in equal,
diminishing or increasing amounts beginning within 5 years after the date of issue. The maximum terms of serial bonds and
notes vary from one year to 40 years, depending on the purpose of the issue. The maximum terms permitted are set forth in
the statutes. In addition, for many projects, the maximum term may be determined in accordance with useful life guidelines
promulgated by the State Department of Revenue (“DOR”). Serial bonds and notes may be issued for the purposes set forth
in the statutes. In addition, serial bonds and notes may be issued for any other public work improvement or asset not
specifically listed in the Statutes that has a useful life of at least 5 years. Bonds or notes may be made callable and redeemed
prior to their maturity, and a redemption premium may be paid. Refunding bonds or notes may be issued subject to the
maximum applicable term measured from the date of the original bonds or notes and must produce present value savings
over the debt service of the refunded bonds. Generally, the first required annual payment of principal of the refunding bonds
cannot be later than the first principal payment of any of the bonds or notes being refunded thereby, however, principal
payments made before the first principal payment of any of the bonds or notes being refunded thereby may be in any amount.
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Serial bonds may be issued as “qualified bonds” with the approval of the state Municipal Finance Oversight Board composed
of the State Treasurer, the State Auditor, the Attorney General and the Director of Accounts, subject to such conditions and
limitations (including restrictions on future indebtedness) as may be required by the Board. Qualified bonds may mature not
less than 10 nor more than 30 years from their dates and are not subject to the amortization requirements described above.
The State Treasurer is required to pay the debt service on qualified bonds and thereafter to withhold the amount of the debt
service paid by the State from state aid or other state payments; administrative costs and any loss of interest income to the
State are to be assessed upon the city or town.

Tax Credit Bonds or Notes. Subject to certain provisions and conditions, the officers authorized to issue bonds or notes may
designate any duly authorized issue of bonds or notes as “tax credit bonds” to the extent such bonds and notes are otherwise
permitted to be issued with federal tax credits or other similar subsidies for all or a portion of the borrowing costs. Tax credit
bonds may be made payable without regard to the annual installments required by any other law, and a sinking fund may be
established for the payment of such bonds. Any investment that is part of such a sinking fund may mature not later than the
date fixed for payment or redemption of the applicable bonds.

Bond Anticipation Notes. These generally must mature within two years of their original dates of issuance but may be
refunded from time to time for a period not to exceed five years from their original dates of issuance, provided that for each
year that the notes are refunded beyond the second year they must be paid in part from revenue funds in an amount at least
equal to the minimum annual payment that would have been required if the bonds had been issued at the end of the second
year. For certain school projects, however, notes may be refunded from time to time for a period not to exceed seven years
without having to pay any portion of the principal of the notes from revenue funds. The maximum term of bonds issued to
refund bond anticipation notes is measured (except for certain school projects) from the date of the original issue of the notes.

Revenue Anticipation Notes. These are issued to meet current expenses in anticipation of taxes and other revenues.
They must mature within one year but, if payable in less than one year, may be refunded from time to time up to one year
from the original date of issue.

Grant Anticipation Notes. These are issued for temporary financing in anticipation of federal grants and state and county
reimbursements. They must generally mature within two years, but may be refunded from time to time as long as the
municipality remains entitled to the grant or reimbursement.

Revenue Bonds. Cities and towns may issue revenue bonds for solid waste disposal facilities and for projects financed
under the Commonwealth's Water Pollution Abatement or Drinking Water Revolving Loan Programs and for certain
economic development projects supported by tax increment financing. In addition, cities and towns having electric
departments may issue electric revenue bonds, and notes in anticipation of such bonds, subject to the approval of the
State Department of Telecommunications and Energy.

Debt Ratios

The following table sets forth the ratio of debt to estimated full valuation and per capita debt ratios at the end of the five
most recent fiscal years. The table considers the principal amount of general obligation bonds of the City of Brockton only
and does not deduct anticipated state grant payments applicable to the principal amount of outstanding bonds or debt that
may be supported in whole or part (i.e. water, sewer and school debt) by non-tax revenue.

Ratio Debt

Fiscal General Obligation Estimated Full Per Capita to Estimated
Year End Bonds Outstanding Population (1) Valuation (2) Debt Full Valuation (2)

2013 $ 224,358,209 (3) 93,810 $ 5,486,239,872 $ 2,392 4.09 %
2012 235,938,232 93,810 5,634,634,091 2,515 4.19
2011 240,013,728 93,810 5,629,189,085 2,559 4.26
2010 236,249,982 93,810 5,868,201,889 2,518 4.03
2009 248,114,810 93,810 7,174,223,590 2,645 3.46

(1) 2010 Federal Census.
(2) Reflects local assessed valuations.
(3) Projected debt outstanding as of June 30, 2013.
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City of Brockton
Direct Debt Summary
Projected as of June 30, 2013

Long Term Debt Outstanding:

School (1) $ 23,040,000
Water (2) 2,780,510
General (3) 4,907,800
Sewer (4) 1,976,690
MWPAT (5) 94,633,209
Pension Obligation Bonds ("POB") (6) 92,685,000
Stadium (7) 3,235,000
Clean Renewable Energy Bonds ("CREB") (8) 1,100,000
Total Outstanding $ 224,358,209

Temporary Notes:
Bond Anticipation Notes (9) 7,000,000
Total Direct Debt $ 231,358,209

)

(2)
3)

(4)
(5)

(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)

The unpaid balance of school construction grants payable by the Authority for debt service on school bonds over the
remaining terms of such bonds is estimated at $13,573,502. $15,701,000 of the outstanding school bonds is outside
the debt limit. See “State School Building Assistance” above.

Expected payment from self-supporting enterprise. Outside the debt limit.

Includes golf course, library, land acquisition and planning debt. $1,600,000 of the outstanding general bonds is
outside the debt limit.

Expected payment from self-supporting enterprise. $565,400 of the outstanding sewer bonds is outside the debt limit.
Expected payment from self-supporting enterprise. Bonds issued to Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust,
for water and sewer projects. Gross amount does not reflect subsidies from the MWPAT. $92,947,479 of the
outstanding MWPAT bonds is outside the debt limit.

Outside the debt limit, taxable.

$2,120,000 is taxable and outside the debt limit.

Outside the debt limit.

This Issue, payable June 13, 2014.
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Principal Payments by Purpose

The following table sets forth the projected principal payments by purpose on outstanding general obligation bonds of the
City of Brockton projected as of June 30, 2013.

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Bonded Debt
Principal Payments by Purpose

Fiscal

Year School Water General Sewer MWPAT POB Stadium CREB Total

2014 $ 3325375 % 369,125 $ 656525 $ 323975 $ 5937600 $ 1235000 $ 620,000 $ 100000 $ 12567,600
2015 3435375 363,075 601,275 315275 6,082,308 1,640,000 660,000 100,000 13,197,308
2016 3592375 361,760 597,000 308,865 6,134,331 2,150,000 660,000 100,000 13904,331
2017 3,742,000 359,300 601,000 302,700 6,285,246 2,770,000 660,000 100,000 14,820,246
2018 1544875 357,250 582,000 265875 6,333,170 3,375,000 130,000 100,000 12,688,170
2019 1,605,000 210,000 555,000 135,000 6,480,743 4,040,000 130,000 100,000 13,255,743
2020 1,670,000 210,000 480,000 135,000 6,525,741 4,760,000 125,000 100,000 14,005,741
2021 415000 110,000 445,000 95,000 6,614,462 5,545,000 125,000 100,000 13,449,462
2022 315,000 110,000 190,000 95,000 6,741,401 6,395,000 125,000 100,000 14,071,401
2023 325,000 110,000 200,000 - 6,895,406 7,325,000 - 100,000 14,955,406
2024 335,000 110,000 - - 6,958,242 8,330,000 - 100,000 15,833,242
2025 350,000 110,000 - - 7,101,914 9,420,000 - - 16,981,914
2026 360,000 - - - 6,097,991 10,595,000 - - 17,052,991
2027 375,000 - - - 4,660,752 11,865,000 - - 16,900,752
2028 390,000 - - - 2,482,008 13,240,000 - - 16,112,008
2029 405,000 - - - 1,139,033 - - - 1544,033
2030 420,000 - - - 812,660 - - - 1,232,660
2031 435000 - - - 829,445 - - - 1,264,445
2032 - - - - 257,579 - - - 257,579
2033 - - - - 263,177 - - - 263,177

$ 23040000 $ 2780510 $ 4907800 $ 1976690 $ 94633209 $ 92685000 $ 3235000 $ 1100000 $ 224,358209
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Debt Service Requirements

The following table shows the total debt service due on outstanding general obligation indebtedness of the City together
with debt service subsidies expected to be received from the Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust and the
Massachusetts School Building Authority.

City of Brockton, Massachusetts
Debt Service Requirements

Outstanding as of June 30, 2013

Fiscal MWPAT

Year Principal Interest Subsidy MSBA Subsidy  Net Debt Service
2014 $ 12,567,600 $ 8,732,953 $ (439,735) $ (2,597,546) $ 18,263,272
2015 13,197,308 8,285,879 (420,241) (2,597,546) 18,465,400
2016 13,904,331 7,786,628 (353,958) (2,597,546) 18,739,454
2017 14,820,246 7,234,800 (333,090) (2,597,546) 19,124,410
2018 12,688,170 6,646,704 (285,336) (1,061,106) 17,988,433
2019 13,255,743 6,159,056 (269,357) (1,061,106) 18,084,336
2020 14,005,741 5,632,650 (222,683) (1,061,106) 18,354,602
2021 13,449,462 5,071,142 (189,544) - 18,331,060
2022 14,071,401 4,533,989 (166,413) - 18,438,977
2023 14,955,406 3,964,733 (150,687) - 18,769,453
2024 15,833,242 3,348,952 (106,955) - 19,075,238
2025 16,981,914 2,686,923 (78,388) - 19,590,450
2026 17,052,991 2,007,843 - - 19,060,834
2027 16,900,752 1,279,393 - - 18,180,145
2028 16,112,008 515,000 - - 16,627,008
2029 1,544,033 105,048 - - 1,649,081
2030 1,232,660 69,331 - - 1,301,990
2031 1,264,445 36,110 - - 1,300,555
2032 257,579 7,839 - - 265,418
2033 263,177 2,632 - - 265,809

Total ~$ 224,358,209 $ 74,107,604 $ (3,016,386) $ (13,573,502) $ 281,875,924

Authorized Unissued Debt and Prospective Financing

The City has approximately $88,063,916 in authorized unissued debt. Of this amount $47,710,000 is authorized for
pension obligation purposes. $6,158,612 represents excess authorization for the construction of two elementary schools,
to be rescinded. The remaining $34,195,304 is authorized for various school remodeling ($27,695,848), water
($5,278,677), economic development ($1,000,000), and sewer ($220,779). The $36 million school remodeling project has
been approved to receive 80% state grant funding and the City expects its share of project costs to be approximately only
$7 million. The $47,710,000 pension obligation bond authorization above represents the unissued balance of an original
$149,225,000 authorization for this purpose and will remain outstanding. However, the City does not intend to issue
bonds against this balance, but there are no current plans to rescind the authorization.
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Overlapping Debt (1)

The City of Brockton is a member of Plymouth County, the Southeastern Regional Vocational School District and the
Brockton Area Transit Authority. The following table sets forth the outstanding bonded debt, exclusive of temporary loans
in anticipation of bonds or current revenue, of each overlapping entity, and the City of Brockton's estimated share of such
debt and the fiscal 2013 dollar assessment for each.

Bonded Debt as of FY 2013 Dollar

6/30/12 (1) Assessment
Plymouth County (2) $ 3,300,000 $116,997
Southeastern Regional Vocational
School District (3) 6,102,000 2,741,616
Brockton Area Transit Authority (4) - 2,000,246

)
O]

©)
(4)

Omits debt of the Commonwealth.

Source: Plymouth County Treasurer's Office. Assessment includes debt service and other County expenses
assessed upon the City in proportion to its equalized valuation. Legislation enacted in 1997 abolished the county
governments of Franklin and Middlesex counties as of July 1, 1997, with their assets, functions, debts and other
obligations being assumed by the Commonwealth. The abolishment of the Middlesex County government was in part
in response to a default by the county in the payment of general obligation notes of the county. The legislation also
abolished the county governments of Hampden and Worcester counties as of July 1, 1998. Legislation enacted in
1998 abolished the county governments of Hampshire, Essex and Berkshire counties as of January 1, 1999, July 1,
1999 and July 1, 2000, respectively. The legislation requires the state secretary for administration and finance to
establish a plan to recover the Commonwealth’s expenditures for the liabilities and other debts assumed and paid by
the Commonwealth on behalf of an abolished county. Unless these provisions are changed by further legislation, the
state treasurer shall assess upon each city and town within the jurisdiction of an abolished county an amount not
exceeding or equal to the county tax paid by each such city and town for the fiscal year immediately prior to the
abolishment of the county (or two years prior in the case of Essex county) until such expenditures by the
Commonwealth are recovered. It is possible that similar legislation will be sought to provide for the abolishment of
county government in all the remaining counties

Source: Treasurer's Office, Southeastern Regional-Vocational School District. Other District members are: East
Bridgewater, Easton, Foxborough, Sharon, Stoughton and West Bridgewater.

Source: Brockton Area Transit Authority.
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Coverage of Qualified Debt Service

The following table presents qualified debt service, projected state aid and the coverage ratio of total state aid to the City’s
outstanding State Qualified Bonds debt service. The table does not include debt of the Commonwealth.

Coverage Ratio

Outstanding State Total State Aid to
Fiscal Qualified Bonds Total Qualified
Year Debt Service State Aid (1) Debt Service
2014 $ 734,633 % 177,955,864 242.24
2015 675,383 181,514,981 268.76
2016 662,483 185,145,281 279.47
2017 654,583 188,848,187 288.50
2018 597,183 192,625,150 322.56
2019 544,408 196,477,653 360.90
2020 451,408 200,407,206 443.96
2021 452,158 204,415,350 452.09
2022 452,158 208,503,657 461.13
2023 452,314 212,673,731 470.19
2024 451,751 216,927,205 480.19
2025 455,445 221,265,749 485.82
2026 453,195 225,691,064 498.00
2027 454,875 230,204,886 506.08
2028 456,000 234,808,983 514.93
2029 455,400 239,505,163 525.92
2030 454,200 244,295,266 537.86
2031 452,400 249,181,172 550.80
Total $ 9,309,973 $ 3,810,446,550

(1) Includes total state aid available for coverage. State aid is taken from the fiscal 2014 Governor's Budget and is
increased at a rate of 2% each year thereafter. The State aid figures above no longer reflect school building
assistance grants as such grants are no longer paid by the Commonwealth; they are now paid by the Massachusetts
School Building Authority. Therefore, such payments no longer constitute “distributable aid” of the Commonwealth
under the Qualified Bond Act.

Contractual Obligations

Municipal contracts are generally limited to currently available appropriations. Contracts with specified purposes can be
granted extensions by statutory authority but are also subject to maximum term limits. A city or town generally has
authority to enter into contracts for the exercise of any of its corporate powers for any period of time deemed to serve its
best interest, but only when funds are available for the first fiscal year; obligations for succeeding fiscal years are subject
to availability and appropriation of funds. Municipalities have specific authority in relatively few cases to enter long-term
obligations not subject to annual appropriation, including contracts for refuse disposal. Municipalities may also enter into
long-term contracts in aid of housing and renewal projects. The City may have implied authority to require long-term
contracts to carry out authorized municipal functions, such as contracts to purchase water from private water companies.
Pursuant to the Home Rule Amendment to the Massachusetts Constitution, cities and towns may also be empowered to
make other contracts and leases.

Since October 1991, the City has contracted with independent vendors for the pick-up and disposal of residential trash.

Currently, Browning Ferris Industries, Inc. services as the contract vendor through June 20, 2009, at a fixed price bid of

$6.2 million per year. Beginning on July 1, 2007, that price may be escalated by a component of the Consumer Price

Index, with the annual escalation not to exceed 2.5% per year. The City extended the contract through December 2011.

The City issued a formal procurement and three vendors responded. All priced bids were lower than the present cost and

the City awarded the contract to Allied Waste through June 30, 2017 at a price savings in the first year of about $1 million.
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The contractor provides trash services for residents of five residential units or less. Commercial entities and residences of
more than five units must contract independently. In the City contract residential units are restricted to the pickup of one
32 gallon barrel per week. In order to place more trash at the curb, residents must purchase specially marked trash bags,
the cost of which is $1.00 per bag, with 75 cents going to the trash contractor and 25 cents to the City. Residents also
receive unlimited weekly recycling, weekly yard waste removal in season, and the pickup by appointment of bulky items
and white goods. Provisions are also made for separate handling of household hazardous waste.

In the summer of 1998 the state authorized the City, through approval of a home rule petition enacted as Chapter 199 of
the Acts of 1998, to enter into a contract for the operation and maintenance of the City’s water and wastewater treatment
plant for a period not to exceed twenty (20) years. By the provisions of the Act, in the spring of 1999, the City awarded
the contract to Professional Services Group, Inc. dated as July 1, 2000, and in August of 2000, the contract was approved
by the Mayor and City Council. Under the contract the City retains ownership of the plants, and the City is responsible for
capital improvements. Electricity costs are on a “pass through” basis to the City up to an annual kilowatt hour's
allowance, with the vendor responsible for costs beyond the allowance. Minor adjustments to the fixed contract operating
costs are allowed to compensate for significant variations in the volume of water or wastewater treated. Future costs will
be restricted to inflationary increases and to cost increases from changes in scope or law. Inflationary increases are
governed by the Producer Price Index for Commercial Natural Gas for the natural gas portion of the price and by the PPI
Finished Goods, excluding Food and Energy, for all other costs. Construction at the wastewater treatment plant also has
impacted its operations. As a result, the City and vendor negotiated a contract amendment for adjustments to price and
terms. This amendment was approved by the City Council in July 2007. The main elements of the amendment were to:

(1) Increase the fixed fee by about 3%,

(2) Provide separate price escalators for the chemicals, natural gas, labor, and all other costs, and

(3) Eliminate the maximum annual electrical consumption limit during the construction period and a one year
shakedown period.

The impact of this agreement was reflected in the FY08 budget and was anticipated in the present rate structure.

The City has also entered into a 20-year water supply contract for the purchase of its water. (See “City of Brockton,
Massachusetts — Municipal Services - Water Supply”). Pursuant to special legislative authority, the City’s payment
obligations under the contract constitute general obligations of the City which are not subject to annual appropriation.
Nonetheless, $5,309,375 was appropriated for fiscal 2011 and $5,571,250 was appropriated for fiscal 2012 for the full
cost of the year’s obligation to be offset with water revenues. The amount appropriated for this contract in fiscal 2013 was
$6,111,000.

RETIREMENT PLAN

The Massachusetts General Laws provide for the establishment of contributory retirement systems for state employees, for
teachers and for county, city and town employees other than teachers. Teachers are assigned to a separate statewide
teachers’ system and not to the city and town systems. For all employees other than teachers, this law is subject to
acceptance in each city and town. Substantially all employees of an accepting city or town are covered. If a town has a
population of less than 10,000 when it accepts the statute, its non-teacher employees participate through the county system
and its share of the county cost is proportionate to the aggregate annual rate of regular compensation of its covered
employees. In addition to the contributory systems, cities and towns provide non-contributory pensions to a limited number of
employees, primarily persons who entered service prior to July 1, 1937 and their dependents. The Public Employee
Retirement Administration Commission (“PERAC") provides oversight and guidance for and regulates all state and local
retirement systems.

The obligations of a city or town, whether direct or through a county system, are contractual legal obligations and are required
to be included in the annual tax levy. If a city or town, or the county system of which it is a member, has not established a
retirement system funding schedule as described below, the city or town is required to provide for the payment of the portion
of its current pension obligations which is not otherwise covered by employee contributions and investment income. “Excess
earnings,” or earnings on individual employees’ retirement accounts in excess of a predetermined rate, are required to be set
aside in a pension reserve fund for future, not current, pension liabilities. Cities and towns may voluntarily appropriate to their
system’s pension reserve fund in any given year up to five percent of the preceding year’s tax levy. The aggregate amount in
the fund may not exceed ten percent of the equalized valuation of the city or town.

If a city or town, or each member city and town of a county retirement system, has accepted the applicable law, it is required to
annually appropriate an amount sufficient to pay not only its current pension obligations, but also a portion of its future pension
liability. The portion of each such annual payment allocable to future pension obligations is required to be deposited in the
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pension reserve fund. The amount of the annual city or town appropriation for each such system is prescribed by a retirement
system funding schedule which is periodically reviewed and approved by PERAC. Each system'’s retirement funding schedule
is designed to reduce the unfunded actuarial pension liability of the system to zero by not later than June 30, 2030, with
annual increases in the scheduled payment amounts of not more than 4.5%. The funding schedule must provide that
payment in any year if the schedule is not less than 95 percent of the amount appropriated in the previous fiscal year. City,
town and county systems which have an approved retirement funding schedule receive annual pension funding grants from
the Commonwealth for the first 16 years of such funding schedule.

Pursuant to Chapter 188 of the Acts of 2010, a system (other than the state employee’s retirement systems and the
teachers’ retirement system) which conducts an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2009, or later, may establish a retired
schedule which reduces the unfunded actuarial liability to zero by no later than June 30, 2040, subject to certain
conditions. If the schedule is so extended and a later updated valuation allows for the development of a retired schedule
with reduced payments, the retired schedule shall be adjusted to provide that the appropriation for each year shall not be
less than that for such year under the prior schedule, thus providing for a shorter schedule rather than reduced payments.

In 2010, the Board of the Contributory Retirement System of the City of Brockton voted to extend the funding schedule to
the year 2030 (not 2040). Previously, the board had adopted a schedule to fully fund the system by 2019 (as opposed to
the previous statutory requirement of 2028). At the same time, the board voted to incorporate actuarial valuing of assets,
rather than market, also known as asset smoothing.

The actuarial value of assets is determined by projecting the market value of assets as of the beginning of the prior plan
year with the assumed rate of return during that year (8.0%) and accounting for deposits and disbursements with interest
at the assumed rate of return. An adjustment is then applied to recognize the difference between the actual investment
return and expected return over a five year period. This preliminary actuarial value is not allowed to differ from the market
value of assets by more than 20%. The calculation of the actuarial value of assets as of January 1, 2011 is presented in
the table below, from the report “City of Brockton Retirement System” from Buck Consultants, LLC as of the same date,
the date of the most recent valuation.

Actuarial Value of Assets

() Market value at January 1, 2010 $308,238,475
(2) 2010 Contributions $19,693,476
3) 2010 Payments ($35,406,443)
(4) Net interest adjustment at 8.0% on (1), (2), and (3) to December 31, 2010 $24,030,559
(5) Expected market value on January 1, 2011 $316,556,068
DH+@+G)+4)
(6) Actual market value on January 1, 2011 $331,045,255
@) 2010 (Gain)/Loss ($14,489,187)
(8) 80% of 2010 (Gain)/Loss ($11,591,350)
9) 2009 (Gain)/Loss ($35,302,666)
(20) 60% of 2009 (Gain)/Loss ($21,181,600)
(11) 2008 (Gain)/Loss $143,436,890
(12) 40% of 2008 (Gain)/Loss $57,374,756
(13) 2007 (Gain)/Loss $1,008,727
(14) 20% of 2007 (Gain)/Loss $201,745
Actuarial value on January 1, 2011, (6) + (8) + (10) + (12) + (14)
(15) but not less than 80% nor greater than 120% of (6) $355,848,807
(16) Ratio of actuarial value to market value 107.49%
a7) Actuarial Value Return for 2009 18.58%
(18) Actuarial Value Return for 2010 2.16%
(29) Market Value Return for 2009 21.59%
(20) Market Value Return for 2010 12.82%
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City, town and county systems may choose to participate in the Pension Reserves Investment Trust Fund (the “PRIT”
Fund), which receives additional state funds to offset future pension costs of participating state and local systems. If a
local system participates in the PRIT Fund, it must transfer ownership and control of all assets of its system to the
Pension Reserves Investment Management Board, which manages the investment and reinvestment of the PRIT Fund.
Cities and towns with systems participating in the PRIT Fund continue to be obligated to fund their pension obligations in
the manner described above. The additional state appropriations to offset future pension liabilities of state and local
systems participating in the PRIT Fund are required to total at least 1.3% of state payroll. Such additional state
appropriations are deposited in the PRIT Fund and shared by all participating systems in proportion to their interest in the
assets of the PRIT Fund as of July 1, for each fiscal year. The City has not participated in the PRIT.

Cost-of-living increases for each local retirement system may be granted and funded only by the local system, and only if
it has established a funding schedule. Those statutory provisions are subject to acceptance by the local retirement board
and approval by the local legislative body, which acceptance may not be revoked. The City voted to accept the cost-of-
living funding responsibility, the cost impact of which is incorporated in the funding.

As of the January 1, 2011 valuation, there were 1,278 retired and disabled retired persons and surviving beneficiaries
receiving pensions which totaled $35.4 million under the contributory plan. The trend in annual required contributions of
the City for each retirement system is presented below.

Fiscal Year Contributory Non-Contributory
2014 (budgeted) $16,004,577 $17,290
2013 15,408,092 15,963
2012 12,551,287 29,029
2011 10,115,288 55,900
2010 9,767,584 96,433

The decline in assessment contributions from fiscal year 2006 to fiscal year 2007 occurred. In November of 2005,
pursuant to the provisions of Section 4 of Chapter 483 of the Acts of 2004 (the Act), the City funded a portion of its
unfunded accrued actuarial liability (UAAL) through the issuance of pension obligation bonds. The City sold $101,515,000
in Federally Taxable Pension Obligation Bonds dated November 23, 2005, at a true interest cost (TIC) of 5.512%.
According to a Plan of Finance described below, on November 30, 2005, the City paid $100 million in net bond proceeds
to the Retirement System, of which $3,143,836 was applied to the unpaid balance of the City’'s 2006 assessment of
$17,597,103, with the balance of $96,856,164 being applied to a portion of the City’s share of the Retirement System’s
UAAL. None of the proceeds of the City’s pension bonds were applied for the benefit of any other entity participating in
the System; there are three other employers in the System.

As required by Section 4 of Chapter 483 of the Acts of 2004 (the Act) and guidelines issued by the Executive Office for
Administration and Finance (the “EOAF”) of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the City submitted a financial plan (the
“Plan”™) to EOAF providing for the funding of a significant portion of the City’s unfunded pension liability with $100,000,000
of proceeds of the Bonds. The City believes that the Plan takes advantage of the potential benefits and minimizes the
potential risks of issuing the bonds in a manner that is fiscally prudent and in the best financial interest of the City. The
Plan was approved by the Commonwealth’s Secretary for Administration and Finance on November 9, 2005.

According to the Retirement Board’s then consulting actuary, Buck Consultants, the UAAL of the Retirement System as of
November 30, 2005 was estimated to be $146,225,000, of which approximately $137,900,000 constituted the City's
share, with the balance belonging to the other independent participants of the system. The deposit of $100,000,000 of
pension obligation bonds net proceeds into the Retirement System in November, 2005 eliminated all but a little over 10%
of the City’s share of the estimated UAAL of the Retirement System. The City will pay annual debt service on the pension
obligation bonds in lieu of the annual payments to the Retirement System that would otherwise be required under the
previous funding schedule on that portion of its estimated UAAL. The difference between the annual debt service on the
pension obligation bonds and the payments to the Retirement System, based on an actuarial schedule which assumes
8.0% investment return and 4.75% rate of salary increase, that would otherwise be required to amortize that portion of the
City’s unfunded pension liability is expected over the life of the bonds, to result in savings to the City. This financial
benefit will occur if over the life of the pension obligation bonds the Retirement System is able to earn a rate on its
investment which meets or exceeds the TIC of 5.512% on the pension obligation bonds. In accordance with the EOAF
guidelines, debt service on the pension obligation bonds has been structured to produce no savings in the first five years
and annual savings in approximately equal amounts thereafter when compared to a pro forma funding schedule that
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would otherwise amortize the City’s unfunded liability through 2028 with an increase in the annual payments of 4.5% each
year, the slowest amortization permitted by law.

Any future variation in actual experience from actuarial assumptions may result in additional UAAL (and amortization
payments) or an overfunding of the City’s unfunded actuarial liability (and credits). Based on the historic investment
performance of the Retirement System and certain other factors, the City reasonably expects that actual experience will
be better than assumed in the Plan. The City recognizes, however, that the actual experience of the Retirement System
could be worse than assumed in the Plan. In fact, in calendar year 2008, that did occur. At January 1, 2009, compared to
January 1, 2008, for the total plan, the Total Actuarial Accrued Liability had increased from $437.1 million to $462.1
million, while the market value of the system assets had decreased from $392.2 million to $267.5 million, resulting in a
funded ratio decreasing from 89.7% to 57.9%.

As of January 1, 2010, the system’s actuarial liability had increased to $477.5 million, an increase of only 3.3%. Also as
of January 1, 2010 the market value of the plan’s assets had increased by 15.2% to $308.2 million. The funded ratio had
improved from 57.9% to 64.6%. However, during 2010 the Retirement Board voted to take advantage of legislation and to
stretch out the funding schedule to 2030, an increase from the previous schedule of 10 years, but only 2 years more than
the previous statutory requirement of 2028, and two years less than the new statutory requirement of 2040. In addition,
the Board voted to adopt “Actuarial Asset” valuation as previously explained. The result of this, as can be seen on the
previous table, was to increase asset values from $308.2 million to $363.9 million and improve the funding ratio to 76.2%.

As of January 1, 2011, the system’s actuarial liability had increased to $492.5 million, an increase of only 3.1%. Also as
of January 1, 2011 the actuarial value of the plan’s assets had decreased to $355 million and the funded ratio decreased
from 76.2% to 72.3%.

The following table depicts progress toward fully funding the system. The statistics are from reports submitted by the
Retirement System’s actuary. The statistics represent the System as a whole, including other participants such as the
Brockton Housing Authority. The City represents about 87.3% of the System. None of the proceeds of the City’s pension
bonds were applied for the benefit of any other entity participating in the System, and future valuations will reflect that fact.

FUNDING STATUS
Unfunded Unfunded

Valuation Value Accrued Accrued Funded
Date of Assets* Liability Liability Ratio
1/1/11 $355,848 $492,456  $136,607 72%
1/1/10 363,861 477,471 113,609 76
1/1/09 267,470 462,148 194,678 58
1/1/08 392,206 437,123 44,917 90
1/1/07 375,863 421,211 45,348 89
1/1/06 346,312 399,505 53,193 87
1/1/05 233,724 376,361 42,638 62
1/1/04 208,286 359,825 151,359 58
1/1/02 191,921 326,280 134,354 59
1/1/01 198,329 297,019 98,690 67
1/1/00 187,033 283,821 96,788 66
1/1/99 162,473 275,385 112,912 59
1/1/97 121,916 237,653 115,737 51
1/1/96 107,355 195,407 88,052 55
1/1/95 88,916 204,034 115,118 44
1/1/93 78,879 182,994 104,115 43

*Market value through 1/1/09, actuarial value thereafter.

The City has not made a payment into the Pension Reserve Fund established by the Plan of Finance referenced above.
The payment into the fund is required only in the event of gains against the plan. During calendar year 2006 the System
experienced an actuarial gain of about $6.5 million, but the City did not lower its fiscal year 2008 payment on the funding
schedule in order to benefit from that gain, so no budgetary savings occurred. No budgetary savings during fiscal year
2007 through 2013 occurred, so no payments have been made.
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The City may take advantage of the pension extension which was passed as part of the Municipal Relief Act of 2010
which provides that a system (other than the state employees’ retirement system and the teachers’ retirement system)
which conducts an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2009, or later, may establish a revised schedule which reduces the
unfunded actuarial liability to zero by not later than June 30, 2040, subject to certain conditions. If the schedule is so
extended under such provisions and a later updated valuation allows for the development of a revised schedule with
reduced payments, the revised schedule shall be adjusted to provide that the appropriation for each year shall not be less
than that for such year under the prior schedule, thus providing for a shorter schedule rather than reduced payments. As
mentioned previously, the City has extended its funding schedule to 2030.

An update of the January 1, 2011 valuation report was conducted as of January 1, 2012, and according to the update, the
system’s actuarial accrued liability had increased to an estimated $526.2 million, an increase of 6.8% at January 1, 2012,
with an estimated actuarial value of plan assets of $342 million, and funded ratio decreasing from 72.3% to approximately
65.0%. Half of this change is attributable to a small market loss, and the other half from mortality assumptions. The next
valuation as of January 1, 2014, will capture the strong market results of 2012 and should show improvements.

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

In addition to providing pension benefits, the City provides the majority of its retired employees with modest life insurance
benefits at a cost of less than $50 per year per retiree, and with payments for a portion of their health care insurance
costs. Both of these benefits are offered pursuant to the provision of Massachusetts General Laws Chapter 32B. The
City offers twelve different health insurance plan options, which are administered through two different health care
providers, with the City actually self-insuring. Benefits are paid by the City on a “pay as you go” basis. The annual
amounts needed to fund the City’s group life and health insurance costs for retirees have escalated from less than $6
million in fiscal year 1997 to a budget of almost $16.93 million in fiscal 2013.

In an attempt to mitigate this cost escalation, in December of 2001, the City adopted Section 18 of M.G.L. Ch. 32B. This
section provides, by local option, that all retirees from public employment who are eligible to receive Medicare benefits
must enroll in Medicare parts A and B in order to receive the municipality’s health care benefits. The section also
provides that the public employer must offer a Medicare extension plan which provides benefits of comparable actuarial
value to those offered prior to the adoption of Section 18, and the employer must pay the amount of any penalty due to
the Social Security Administration for a retiree who is enrolling in Medicare subsequent to the date when he was eligible to
do so. More than one-fourth of the City’s approximately 2,600 pensions who are receiving health benefits are not eligible
for Medicare by failing to achieve one or both of the tests of age 65 and 40 quarters of Medicare taxes paid. The
remaining three-fourths are now enrolled in Medicare A and B and one of the City’'s Medicare extension plans. Prior to
the City’s adoption of M.G.L. Chapter 32B Section 18, only one-third of the City’s pensioners were enrolled in Medicare.
When the City adopted Section 18, effective July 1, 2002, it began to reimburse retirees for 75% of the cost of Medicare
Part B. Even so, by the adopting of Section 18, the City achieved annual savings in fiscal 2008 of about $6 million. This
savings amount will grow over time as the penalty requirement is eliminated, and as employees retire in the future. Since
1987 all newly hired or rehired employees have paid the Medicare Tax, with the City matching, and so all of these
employees will be Medicare eligible. Moreover, effective July 1, 2006, the City ceased to reimburse its current retirees for
any portion of the Part B cost, except for fewer than 200 retirees whose incomes were 200% or less than the federal
poverty rate, for whom the City continued to reimburse 75% of the cost. This decision also saved more than $1.0 million
in cost in each year since 2007. In July of 2006, the City bargained with each of its employees unions the proposal that
no future Medicare B reimbursement would be provided to them upon their retirement. Unions representing employees
have so agreed.

All of the City’'s employees currently pay 25% of the cost of the funding rate of health insurance plans, except for slightly
more than 100 enrolled in the most expensive indemnity plan, who pay 30%. This percentage has been in effect since
July 1, 2003, when it was increased from 20%, the rate which had been in effect for ten years. Effective July 1, 2004,
almost all retirees also contribute 25% to the cost of their City health insurance plan. This contribution rate represented
an increase from either 10% or 15%, depending on the plan. A few retirees were allowed to retain lower contribution rates
because their incomes are 200% or less than the federal poverty rate.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) promulgated its Statement Nos. 43 and 45, which will require
public sector entities to report the future costs of these non-pension, post-employment benefits in their financial
statements. These accounting standards do not require pre-funding the payment of these costs as the liability for such
costs accrues, but the basis applied by the standard for measurement of costs and liabilities for these benefits is
conservative if they continue to be funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and will result in larger yearly cost and liability
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accruals than if the cost of such benefits were pre-funded in a trust fund in the same manner as traditional pension
benefits. Cities and towns that choose to self-insure all or a portion of the cost of the health care benefits they provide to
employees and retirees may establish a trust fund for the purpose of paying claims. In addition, cities and towns may

establish a trust fund for the purpose of pre-funding other post-employment benefits liability in the same manner as
traditional pension benefits.

The City is required to implement the new GASB reporting requirement for other post-employment requirement for other
post-employment benefits. The City engaged Buck Consultants to perform its second OPEB valuation pursuant to the

GASB requirements. The results are portrayed below using only the model for no pre-funding. The City has not adopted
a funding schedule.

Schedule of Funding Progress — Assumed interest rate of 4% in 2008 and 2012 & 4.25% in 2010

(a) (b) (b)-(a) (a)/(b) (c) [(b)-(a)]/(c)
Actuarial UAL as
Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Unfunded Annual Percentage
Valuation Value of Liability AAL Funded Covered of Covered
Date Assets (AAL) (UAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll
June 30, 2012 $0 $504.9 million $504.9 million 0% $173.4 million 291.2%
June 30, 2010 0 693.6 million 693.6 million 0 171.1 million 405.4
June 30, 2008 0 635.2 million 635.2 million 0 147.1 million 431.9

The tables below show funding schedules for selected fiscal years under both pre-funding and no-funding models.

Fiscal Year Amortization Expected
Ending In Normal Cost* of UAL* ARC* Benefit Payments
2012 $8,297,273 $17,726,824 $26,024,097 $16,106,912
2013 8,670,650 18,258,629 26,929,279 16,938,232
2014 9,060,829 18,806,388 27,867,217 18,207,902
2015 9,468,566 19,370,580 28,839,146 19,197,491
2016 9,984,651 19,951,697 29,846,348 20,156,178

*Assumed Full Prefunding Interest Rate of 7.5%.

Fiscal Year Amortization Expected
Ending In Normal Cost* of UAL* ARC* Benefit Payments
2012 $18,848,034 $19,292,988 $38,141,022 $16,106,912
2013 19,696,196 20,187,384 39,883,580 16,938,232
2014 20,582,525 21,103,300 41,685,825 18,207,902
2015 21,508,739 22,054,099 43,562,838 19,197,491
2016 22,476,632 23,044,036 45,520,668 20,156 178

*Assumed Pay-As-You-Go Interest Rate of 4.0%.

OPEB Pay-As-You-Go Health Insurance

Fiscal
Year

2013
2012
2011
2010
2009
2008

OPEB Pay As You Go Budget

$16,938,232
22,317,826
20,173,835
20,808,583
15,808,378
15,241,972

The source of all of the above tabular information is from the reports of the City’s actuaries.
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STATUS OF UNION CONTRACTS

The City employs approximately 4,250 full-time and part-time workers, 3,522 of whom are employed at the school department,
191 at the police department, 186 at the fire department, 111 at the public works department and the balance of 216 persons
in various other departments of the City. City employees (other than managerial and confidential employees) are entitled to
join unions and to bargain collectively on questions of wages, hours and other terms and conditions of employment.
Approximately 4,159 City employees are represented by unions including employees of the school, police, fire, public works
and various other departments. The following are the bargaining units for City employees:

Approximate

Expiration Number of
Union Date (1) Employees

City:
Brockton Association of Engineers, Technicians and Inspectors 6/30/2013 22
Brockton Building and Construction Trades Council 6/30/2013 9
Brockton City Employees Union 6/30/2013 41
Brockton City Hall Administrative Services Association 6/30/2013 65
Brockton Department Heads' Association - SEIU Local #888 6/30/2013 12
Brockton Laborers' Local #1162 6/30/2013 58
Brockton Laborers' Local #1162 - Water/Sewer 6/30/2013 46
Brockton Police Association 6/30/2010 131
Brockton Police Supervisors' Union 6/30/2013 38
Brockton Public Library Association - Full Time 6/30/2013 16
Brockton Public Library Association - Part Time 6/30/2013 16
Fire - Local #144 6/30/2010 183
School:
Brockton Education Association 6/30/2014 1391
Brockton School Custodians Association 6/30/2013 122
Independent Brockton Admin. Assistants & Technical Employee Assoc - IBAA & TEA 6/30/2013 89
International Brotherhood of Police Officers Local 566 6/30/2013 10
Brockton Food Service SEIU, Local 888 6/30/2013 149
Brockton Education Paraproffesional Association 6/30/2013 350
Prinipals & Associate Principals 6/30/2013 28
Central Office Administration 6/30/2013 23
Monitor Teacher Assistants 6/30/2013 113
Non-Union 6/30/2013 1202
School Year Non-Union 6/30/2013 19
School Lunch Aides 6/30/2013 26

Total: 4159

(1) Expired contracts are currently in negotiations.

LITIGATION

At present there are various cases pending in various courts throughout the Commonwealth where the City of Brockton is
a defendant. In the opinion of the City Solicitor for the City of Brockton, none of the pending litigation is likely to result,
either individually or in the aggregate, in final judgments against the City that would materially affect its financial position.

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
/s/ Martin Brophy, Treasurer

May 30, 2013
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KPMG LLP

Two Financial Cenler
60 South Street
Boston. MA 02111

Independent Auditors' Report

The Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Brockton, Massachusells;

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, cach major [und, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Brockion,
Massachuscus (the City), as of and for the year ended June 30, 2012, which collectively comprise the
City"s basic financial stalements as listed in accompanying the table of contents. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the City’s management. Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial
statements based on our avdit.

We condueted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Stomdards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes considerntion of internal control over financial reparting as o basis for
designing nudit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, hut not for the purpose of expressing
win opinivn oo the ellzctiveness ol the Cluy's inernal control over finuncial reporting. Accordingly. we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and
significani estimaies made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion. the financial statements referred o above present fairly. in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-tvpe aclivities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Brockton, Massachusetts, as of June 30, 2012,
and the respective changes in financial position, and where applicable, cash flows thercof for the vear then
ended in conformity with LLS, generally accepted accounting principles.

In accordance with Govermment Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 25, 2013,
on our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its
complianee with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements und other matters.
The purpose of thal report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting
and compliance and the results of that testing, and not 1o provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance, That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit

FRWG LLE i @ Dwelwesie imesd lisoliy parinershio
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Li.S. generally accepted accounting principles require that the management’s discussion and analysis and
required supplementary information, as listed in the accompanying table of contents (collectively referred
to as RS1), be presented to supplement the basic financial statements, Such information, although not a pan
of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who
considers it 1o be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statemenis in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context, We have applied certain limited procedures to the
RS1 in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inguiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses Lo our inguiries, the basic financial statements,
and other knowledge we obtained during owr audit of the basic nancial statements, We do not express an
opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with
sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

KPMe LLP

March 25, 2013
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 31, 2012
{Unaudited)

As management of the City of Brockton (the City), we offer readers of the Citv's financial statements this
narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the City Tor the lscal year ended June 30, 2012,

Brocklon is a City located in Plymouth County, 20 miles southwest of Boston. The City has a population of
approximately 93,810 (2010 ledersl census) and occupies a land area of 21.4 square miles. Brocklon is the
population cenler ol a primary metropolitan statistical area of approximately 170,000 persons. Government is by
an elected mayor and 11-member City council,

The City provides general governmental services for the territory within its boundaries, including police and fire
protection, public education. water and sewer maintenance, trash disposal and parks and recreational facilities,
Residential trash disposal and operation of the water filtration and wastewater treatment plant facilities are
contracted out to private parties.

Financial Highlights

. The assets of the City exceeded its liabilities at the close ol fiscal year 2012 by approximately
$£200.8 million (net assets).

. The City’'s total net assets decreased in fiscal vear 2012 by approximately $7.8 million, or 3.8%. This is
primarily due to the recognition ol a 3233 million increase in the other post employment benefit (OPEB)
liability,

. At the end of fiscal vear 2012, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was approximately

520.2 million or 2.3%. of total general fund expenditures.

. The City’s total bonded debt decreased by approximately $6.4 million during fiscal vear 2012, This
decrease wis due Lo scheduled debl repavments and debt refunding exceeding new debt issuances,

Overview of the Financial Statements

Our discussion and analysis of the City is inlended 1o serve as an introduction to the City’s basic linancial
statements. The City’s basic financial statements are comprised of three components: (1) government-wide
financial statements, (2) fund financial statements, and {3) notes o the Gnancial slatements, This analysis also
contains other required supplementary information in addition to the basic inancial statements themselves.

Governmeni-Wide Financial Statements — The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar to private-sector business.

The statement of net assets presents information on all of the City's assets and liabilitics, with the difference
belween the two reported as net assets. Over Lime, increases or decreases in net assets may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the Cily is improving or deteriorating,

The statement of sctivities presents information showing how the City's net assets changed during the most
recent fiscal yvear. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change
peeurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement
For sorne items that will result in cash Mows in fulure Nscal periods (e.g.. uncollected taxes and earned bul unused
sick and vacation time).
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management's Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2012
(Unaudited)

Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported
by taxes and intergovernmental revenoes (governmental activities) lrom other functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type aclivities). The
governmental activities of the Cily include general administration, public salety. education, public works, human
services, and cultural development. The business-type activities of the City include water and sewer systems and
recreational and refuse activities.

Fund Financial Statements — A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used 1o maintain control over
resources thal have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local
governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the City can be divided into three categories: governmental funds, proprictary
funds, and fiduciary funds.

Governmental Funds — Governmental funds are used to sccount for essentially the same lunctions reported as
governmental activities in the government-wide financial stutements. However, unlike the povernment-wide
financial statements, povernmental fund financial stalements focus on near-term inllows and outflows of
spendable resources, as well as on balances ol spendable resources available at the end of the liscal year, Such
information may be useful in evaluating a government’s near-term financing requirements,

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial statements, it is
useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented for
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better understand
the long-term impact of the government’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance
sheet and the governmental fund stalement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance provide a
reconcilintion lo facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.

The City maintains 40 governmental funds, Information is presented separately in the governmental fund balance
sheet and in the governmental Tund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balance for the
general fund and school reef repairs Tund, which are the City's major governmental funds, Data [rom the other
nonmajor governmental funds are combined into a single, aggregated presentation,

Proprictary Funds — Enterprise [unds (one type of proprictary fund) are used to report the same functions
presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial stalements. The City uses enterprise funds
to account for its water and sewer systems und its refuse, recreational and renewable energy activities,

Proprictary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial stalements, only in
more detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the water and sewer
systems, both of which are considered 1o be major funds of the Cily. Refuse. recreationnl and renewable energy
activities are combined into a single nonmajor fund.

Fiduciary Funds — Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside the
government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources
of those funds are not available 10 support the City’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary funds is
much like that used for proprictary funds,
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2002

[ Unaudited)

Fiduciary [und reporting focuses on net assets and changes in net assets. The fiduciary fund category is split into
two classifications: a pension trust fund and agency funds. Agency funds are custodial in nature {assets equal
liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. The City's agency fund accounts for police
and fire ofT-duty details, as well as the school lunch program’s meals tax,

The City 15 the trustee. or fiduciary, for its employees™ pension plan. The City's fiduciary activities are reported
In a separate statement of fiduciary net assets and a statement of changes in fiduciary net assets. These activities
are excluded from the City's government-wide financial stalements because the City cannot use these assets to
finance its operations.

Notes to Basie Financial Statements — The noles provide additional information that is essential to a full
understanding of the data provided in the governmeni=wide and fund financial statements,

Other Information — In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, these financial
statemnents also present certain required supplementary information (RS1).

The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for the general fund and for its enterprise funds, A budgetary
comparison schedule has been provided lor the general fund as R51 to demonstrate compliance with this budget.
Also provided as RS1 s the information concerning the City's progress in funding its obligations to provide
pension and post employment health benefits e ils employvees,

Government-Wide Financial Analysis

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s financial position, In the
case ol the Cily, ussels exceeded liabilities by approximately $200.8 million at the close of the most recent Tiscal
VCAr,

A significant portion of the City’s net assets reflects its investment in capilal assels, less any related debt used 1o
acquire those assets that is still outstanding. This amount inercased by approximately $18.7 million, or 8.9%;
{rom the prior liscal year. The City uses these capital assets to provide services 1o citizens; consequently, these
assels are not available for future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital assets is reported net of
related debt. it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt are generally provided from other
sourees, since the capital assets themselves typically are not used to liquidate these liabilities.

An additional portion of the City’s net assets (20.9%) represents resources that are subject to external restrictions

on how they may be used. The remaining balance of a negative $69.4 million (34.5%) represents unrestricted net
deficit.
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2012
{Unaudited)

Comlensed Statement ol Net Assets
(T thousandsy

Convernmental activities [business-ty pe activitics Tatal
2011 2011 FIIH 2011 012 INTT
Current and other assels b 15| 987 245 BHL 43,104 49,156 306,101 293,024
Cnpiral assers 188,732 169,173 185,410 1 84.053 374,142 3533278
Totnl nsscts i 44719 415,083 233,524 233211 h74,.243 R 260
_—_—,,,e,e,e,,,  ———— e e ———
Lang-term debl cutstondmg § 129,790 131,393 1111558 1153369 240348 245,762
Oithier liabalities 216,788 177,985 16 268 14.831 233056 192 816
Totsl habilities 3 340,578 W9 TR 126,826 1 240,200 473,404 430378
——— ——————eey R
et wasels:
livested in cupital sssets,
el of relnted debe % 148,087 113,985 HU, 128 75,572 218215 MNI9.557
[testricted 41 940 A0,504 — — 41,999 A0,544
[lrestriciod |45 5450 | 78,500 20,5649 27.439 (i 170 [51. 4641
Tetal net nsacts % a4, 141 L5, 676 106,097 103,011 2041, B35 2R BET
P ——— N e——————
Toval Net Assets

During fiscal year 2012, the Cily’s net assets decreased by about $7.8 million, or 3.8%. The decrense in net assets
was due to the recognition of the increase in the City"s OPEB net obligation totaling $23.3 million,

Geavermmenial Activities — Assets

For governmental activities. current and other assels increased $6.1 million, coupled with an increase in capital
assets of $19.6 million, resulting in an increase in assets of $25.7 million. The increase in the capital assels was
the result of the ongoing Green Repair replacement of school rools, windows, and boilers.

Crovernmental Activities — Liabititiey

Covernmental activities liabilities increased by $37.2 million. I'here was an increase of S38.8 million in other
liabilities and a $1.6 million decrease in long-term debt outstanding, The increase in other labilities was
primarily due to the recognition of a $23.3 million increase of the OPEB net obligation while the decrease in
long-term debt outstanding was due to scheduled debt repayments offset by increases in debt service due to new
debt financing,

The City's 2012 annual required contribution (ARC) was $38.1 million. Interest on the net OPER obligation and
adjustments to the ARC totaled $244 thousand. Contributions against the ARC on a pay-as-vou-go basis totaled
$15.1 million resulting in an increase in the government-wide net OPER obligation of $23.3 million. While the
City"s net OPEB obligation is $159.7 million as of June 30, 2012, ultimately. over the next 28 vears, the City will
recognize the entire OPEB obligation, which is estimated at $504.9 million as of June 30, 2012, the date of the
Clity"s most recent acluarial valuation.
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management's Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2012

(U nnudited)

Business Tvpe Activities — Assets

For business type activities, there was an increase in net assets of $3.7 million. Current and other assets
decrensed by S51.0 million, while capital assets increased by S1.4 million, and total assets increased by
8313 thousand. The decrease in current and other assets was due primarily (o the decrease in the recognition of
intergovernmental receivables related to the major ongping investment in and upgrade of the wastewater and
witler reatment plant. The increase in capital assets is due 1o the City’s continued investment in capital spending
that has been funded with borrowings from the Massachusetis Water Pollution Abatement Trust (MWPAT). In
2012, additions to business type activities capital assets totaled $34.4 million, which is reflected in construction
in progress, buildings, machinery and equipment and infrastructure. The work, when completed, will have
improved the processing capability and increased the throughput capacity of the plant.

Business Type Activities — Lighitities

Business type activities liabilities decreased by $3.4 million. There was an increase of $1.4 million in other
linbilities and a decrease of $4.8 million in long-lerm debt outstanding. The decrease of the long-term debt was
e result ol yearly required debt service paviments exceeding new issuances.

Gevernmental Activities — Statement of Activities

Gross expenses for governmental activities were $371.6 million for fiscal year 2012, This reflected a decrease of
S1.6 million, or less than 1.0%. Included in this net decrease is the City's recognition of $23.3 million of
additional expense across all category of governments related to the increase in the City's OPEB net obligation.

Total general revenues for governmental activities of $153.0 million offset total net expenses of $164.5 million.
Major ongoing revenue contributors were the net property tax at S107.9 million, an increase of $4.7 million. The
remaining categories in tolal increased by $15.5 million, excise taxes at S6.8 million, an increase of
5203 thousand; intergovernmental at $35.1 million, an increase of $16.0 million and other totaling $2.8 million. a
decrease of S781 thousand.

In assessing the City's revenue adequacy to [inance governmental activities, it is important 10 acknowledge the
criticality of payments from oulside agencies, especially from state and federal programs, Total revenues Tor
governmental activities were 83597 million, OI this tota] almost $193.8 million, or 53.8%, is from
operating/capital grants contributions as well as churges for services, which is mainly from state and federal aid.
Further, the City received $33.1 million in intergovernmental aid that is classified as general revenue, An
additional 30.0% of the total is derived from the City's property tax. The severe constraints on the Cily’s revenue
fTexibility to pay for governmental activities is demonstrated by the fact that almost 90% of its revenues are
oblained from either intergovernmental sources over which the City has no control, or from the property tax, a
source whose growth is limited by state law.

A statewide tax limitation statute known as “Proposition 2% limits the property tax levy to an amount equal to
2':% of the fair market assessed value of all taxable property in the City. This limit is called the levy ceiling. A
secondary limitation is that no levy in a fiscal year may exceed the preceding year's allowable 1ax levy by more
than 2%, plus taxes levied on certain property newly added to the tax rolls. This restriction is called the levy
limit. The levy limit can be overridden by a citywide referendum vote, but the levy ceiling is an absolute limil.
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Management's IMscussion und Analysis
June 30, 2012
(Unaudited)

For fiscal year 2012, the City levied a total of $108.2 million in gross real estate properly taxes against an
aggregale Fair market assessed value of $5.6 billion. This levy compared 1o a maximum allowable levy under the
levy limit of $108.2 million, leaving only a small amount in unused levy capacity without the approval of the
volers. However, the levy comprised only 1.9% of the City’s agaregate assessed value. With voter approval, the
City could levy an additional $32.6 million and still remain under the levy ceiling, Accordingly. the taxing
cipacity exists to substantially improve the City's revenues for financing povernmental activities, but converting
this potential capacity to real revenues would require voter approval.

Business Type Activities — Statement of Activitiey

Business-Tvpe Activities — The business-type aclivities increased the City's net assets by approximately
£3.7 million, or 3.6%.

I'he water fund incurred a $1.2 million decrease; the Sewer fund contributed S4.0 million of the increase, the net
nssets for the combination of the nonmajor recreation, refuse and renewable energy funds increased $900
thousand, The nonmajor refuse fund is self-sulTicient. The nonmajor recreation and renewable energy funds
require a transfer of general fund revenues to support ils programs. Most of the reereation [und’s revenues derive
from the golf course, but those revenues are not sufficient to pay for both the golf course operations and other
park and recreation programs. For this reason. a transfer of other revenues is required, The Solar Energy facility
has begun to generate and sell electricity.

I'he operations of the water fund and Sewer fund are self-sufficient. The water and Sewer funds are designed to
recover the costs of operations of those funds. In the water fund the operating loss totaled $424 thousand. In the
Sewer fund the operating income lotaled $6.2 million. In the water and Sewer funds, cash Now from operations
of $3.2 million and $9.2 million, respectively. In both of these funds a major upgrade 1o the wastewater and
water treatment plants is ongoing und required a major contribution of resources to finance both the construction
itsell’ and the impact of construction in increased plant operating costs.
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Condensed Statement of Changes in Net Assels
(11 thousands)

Covernmentil netlvities Rusiness-tvpe activitiey Tutul
R I ¥ i 013 2011
Revenies
Frogram revenues:
Chasge fior services 5 12,372 12615 42233 40972 55,1n% 33,607
Uperating granls 193.836 187357 866 527 194,702 188,184
Capital grants 370 w7 470 405 6 1402
Cieneral revenuss
Property loes 107, 5%5 103.228 — - 107 K&s 103 228
Facise taves 6,774 6,571 — —_ 6,774 6,571
Intergovermnmental ERAN L 19,068 — - me 1%, 68
{Hher 2814 1,504 — — 2814 3,594
Tl revenues 339670 133,360 41,57% 42 2494 403,245 175,654
Fapensey
Gienerl gavermiment 2. 0h9 I8,507 — 24,094 | 8,507
Public salety 03,407 i8,323 — - G307 38323
Tueatioe 251,761 J58.9T0 — - 253,76l 238070
Puhlic warks 67490 [0, 341 — 0, 7o I, 341
Flirmnm wervices 3492 1,173 — 3492 4473
Culvare and recreation 3,678 14539 — 3678 1,439
State and county ksessmenls 6,023 059 - - 6,023 3659
Court judgments &l 133 — 6l 133
Intercst om lumg-term dicbe 7,188 7301 — — 7.188 7301
Enterprise accounts:
Water —_ 1, 040 15,2041 16,040 13200
Sewer — - 14880 14,533 14 889 14,332
(hher — 8,558 9,007 R.A5K S.007
loal expenses 371608 371,208 Y 487 3R, 740 411043 411,946
Fxcess (deficienoy)
belore transfors (11,938) (39 846 4088 1554 (78300 {16,292}
['rangters 403 1,512 [403) (1,512) = ==
Tutul transfors ani 1,512 [ELEEY] (1,512 — —
Chinge in net assels (11535 14,234 1085 12 17830 [36,297)
el wasels -~ heginmng ol yer 105,676 R 103,01l (IR 2IR.6RT 244 979
Nl waseld = end of yepr % 9414 | |08 670 106,606 [[EXR) 2,837 208,647
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Financial Analysis of the City™s Governmental Funds

As noted earlier, the City uses lund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements,

Governmental Funds — The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s
financing requirements, In particular, unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government’s
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal yeur.

As of the end of the fiscal year 2012, the City's governmental Tunds reported combined fund balances of
approximately $94.6 million, a decrease of approximately $9.4 million. or 9.0%, in comparison with the prior
vear. The general fund balance decreased by $4.2 million, from $77.8 million to $73.6 million, the school roof
repairs fund decreased by $6.8 million, from $220 thousand 1o (36.6) million and the combined fund balances for
all the other funds increased by 51.5 million, from $26.0 million to $27.6 million,

In assessing these balunces, it is imporlant o note that the “Balance Sheel — Governmental Funds™ does not
include capital assets or bonded indebtedness, Please refer 1o the “Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities™ and the
“Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Statement of Nel Assets.™ These reconciliations
will demonstrate that essentially the City's decrease in fund balances of $9.4 million, compared to its decrease in
net assels of $1 1.5 million, a difference of $2.1 million, is explained largely by the following factors;

1. 8900 thousand — the positive effect ol revenue accruals,

2. $19.6 million — the positive effect of the amount by which capital assets was increased. net of depreciation
expense,

3. $900 thousand — the amaortizalion effect of the pension asset in the statement of aclivities, which is not
included in the operating statement of the governmental funds.

4, $22.3 million — the negutive effect of increases in other liabilities, primarily OPEBs, which did not require
the use of current resources.

5. $2.6 million — the negative effect of the collection of the long-term intergovernmental receivable that is
recorded as revenue in the governmental lunds,

6. 5450 thousand — the negative eflect of the amount by which the amortization of deferred losses on
refundings and bond issue costs exceed bond premiums.

7. 51.9 million - the positive effect of the amount by which the repayment of bond principal are expenditures
in the governmental funds but reduce long-term liabilities in the stalement of net asscis.

OF the total ol ending fund balances of 5%4.6 million, $12.5 million constitutes “nonspendable” Tund balance,
which is not available for spending by the City because this fund balance amound cannot be spent because they
are either not in spendable form or they are legally or contractually required to remain intact. $33.3 million
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constitutes “restricted for” fund balance, which are amounts the use of which is subject to constraints imposed by
external parties, including creditors, grantors, and laws and regulations of other governments, or imposed by City
Charter or cnabling legislation. $7.0 million constitutes “committed to™ fund balance. amounts that can only be
used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by [ormal action of the government's highest level of
decision-making authority. For the City, this formal action takes the form of statutes, which are passed by the
City Council and approved by the Mayor, $19.1 million constitutes “assigned 10" fund balance, amounts that are
canstrained by the City's intent for use for specilic purposes, bul are considered neither restricted nor committed.
$22.7 million constitutes “unassigned”™ fund balance, amounts in the general fund that are not otherwise
constrained for a specitic purpose more narrow than the general operations of the City,

The general fund is the chiel operating fund of the City, Total fund balance was approximately $73.6 million, a
decrease of $4.2 million. This decrease in fund balance was largely driven by a defliciency of revenues and other
financing sources over expenditures and other financing uses.

As a measure of the general [und’s liquidity. it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total
fund balance to total fund expenditures. Unassigned fund balance represents 9.5% of total general fund
expenditures, while total fund balanee represents 24.0% of that same amount,

The City's lignidity has deelined somewhat since fiseal yeur 2003, This recent lrend toward declining balances,
especiully for the stabilization, unreserved, and undesignated categories. has occurred because revenues have not
grown to compensate for certain heavy cost pressures, especially from health and pension benefits. Accordingly,
the City has drawn down reserves in order tp maintain services.

The school roof repairs fund aceounts for the rehabilitation ol several school rools, boilers and windows related
to the Massachusetts School Building Assistance Bureau Crreen Repair Program. AL June 30, 2012, the 1otal fund
balance was (36.6) million which will be eliminated in future years with the permunent financing of its short—
term debl,

Proprietary Funds

The City’s proprictary funds provide the same type ol information found in the business-type activities financial
statements. but in more detail,

I'he net assets of the proprietary funds at the end of the current fiscal year totaled approximately $106.7 million.
Changes in net assets of the proprietary funds il the end of the cumrent fiscal year totaled an increase of
approximately S3.7 million, or 3.6%.

The Proprietary Funds of the City are comprised of five (5) enterprise funds: water, sewer, recreation, refuse, and
renewable energy, The results for the water and Sewer (unds are reported separalely: the results [or the
recreation, reluse, and renewable energy funds are combined. The water. sewer, and refuse enterprise funds have
long been self sulTicient financially, The nonmajor recreation fund. which includes a golf course, has never been
self sufficiemt. The operation of the golf course creates a modest surplus, but a substantial subsidy from the
general fund is required w support the full range of recreation programs. he nonmajor renewable energy fund is
also not self sufficient. The operation of the renewable energy fund ereates a surplus, but a subsidv from the
general fund is required to support the renewable energy fund cost of debt service.
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For the water fund, the fiscal year 2012 operating loss wus $424 thousand, or 2.8% ol operating revenues,
Nanoperaling revenues (expenses) and transfers essentially netled 1o a negative $738 thousand, and so net assets
decreased by $1.2 million, Cash flow [rom operations was $3.2 million.

For the Sewer fund, operating income was $6.2 million, or 33.2% of operating revenues. However, nonoperating
expenses and transfers decreased net assets by $2.2 million. The aggressive construction schedule for the upgrade
of the wastewater treatment plant increased capital assets, but it also increased long-term debt and interest
expense, which basically nets to a zero effect on the Sewer fund’s net assets. The strong operating income was
driven by an increase in sewer rates in the middle of 2008. This sewer rate increase has a full year effect in fiscal
year 2012. Further, the rate increase is meant 1o recover future costs, which resulted in a strong operating income
in fiscal year 2012, Cash flow from operations was $9.2 million.

For the combined results of the other enterprise funds, the value of net assets increased by S900 thousand, or
10.7%. The operating loss for combined other enterprise funds was $211 thousand loss in fiscal year 2012 or
2.5% of operating revenues. With the benefit of net transfers in (general fund subsidy) and the nonoperating
revenue of $1.1 million, the operating loss of $211 theusand was reduced down 1o a $900 thovsand increase in
net aasels,

Budgetary Highlights

In fiscal year 2012, the original budget called for $299.3 million in spending. OF this amount $155.2 million was
for Education spending, $39.8 million was for Public Safety spending, $55.5 million was for Fringe Benefit
spending and $48.8 million for all other categories.

Resources, including transfers in from other funds of $700 thousand, totaled $282.5 million, creating a planned
deficit of approximately $16.8 million. Offsetting this deficit was a contribution from “Free Cash™ of
$16.9 million. The remaining total of approximately (S150)thousand was applied to Other Financing
Sources/Uses.

In the final budget, a total of $300 million in spending was awthorized, an increase of $600 thousand, The
budgets that made up this amount included the following: the general government budgets were increased by
S123 thousand; the public safety budget by $320 thousand; and Human services budgets were increased by $174
thousand, To help finance the additional $600 thousand in authorized spending, the other financing sources/uses
were increased by 81.0 million.

On an actual basis, resources were higher than the final budget by S6.4 million. The majority of revenue
categories resulted in a positive variance with the exceptions of payments in lieu of taxes, user charges and other
revenues, and investment income. The City’s revenue estimates normally are conservative and actual results
typically exceed budget by 1.5% to 2.0%. For f(iscal year 2012. the positive variance was largely driven by Real
Estate, Personal Property, Excise taxes, Fees, Licenses und Permits revenues. and Intergovernmental revenues.
The incresse in the Real Estate and Excise taxes were the result of increased collections in the categorics of
personal property, real estate. and tax title revenues. The Fees category increased as a result of the City receiving
the yearly fee Tor the local cable franchise, The Licenses and Permit revenue increased as a resull of an increase
in the City departments licenses and permits fees.
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On the expenditure side, a favorable variance of $5.4 million was achieved. The City has typically achieved 1 to
2% positive variance on spending. For fiscal year 2012, this positive variance was driven by actual budgetary
expenditures less than budgeted expenditures in the general government. public safety, debl service and pension
and fringe benefit line items. The rcasons [or the positive variances in the general government, public safety and
pension and linge benefit were due to conservative bhudgeting in these line items.

As a result of the revenue and expenditure positive variunces, the City’s fiscal year 2012 general [und operations
estimated to create free cash of upproximately $11.7 million to be used in the FY 2013 budget.

Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital Assets — The City's investmenl in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of
June 30 2012 amounted to approximately $374.1 million (net of accumulated depreciation). This investment in
capital assets includes land, land improvements. construction-in-progress, buildings. muchinery and equipment,
Infrastructure, and historical works of arl. The total increase in the City's investment in capital assets of
H20L9 million for fscal year 2012 represented an inerease of 5.9%. Capital assets for governmental aclivities
increased by $19.6 million, or 11.53%, while capital nssets for business-type activities increased by $1.4 million,
or less than 1%. The increase in capital assets for business-lype activities was primarily caused by construction in
progress, both in water and sewer enterprise funds, bul especially for the project 1o upprade the water and sewer
treatment plants. The increase in capital assets for governmental activities is the result of capital additions
exceeding depreciation. With the completion of construction activities for two schools in FY 2012, the City has
started an approximately $35.8 million Green Repair project to rehab several school roofs, boilers and windows.

Mujor capital assets included the lollowing:

Capital Assels
(ot thoasunds’
Covernmental netivities Rusiness-tvpe uclivitics Tutal
EITH 111 2 k11 12 2011
| aarul b T4l 7411 3246 106 15657 [0L65T
Cemsiruction in progross 13520 147 7397 28064 31.318 33
Histonical works of an .50 () — — 18G9 1805
Buikdings 123431 1284659 136297 HLTR 261 778 241629
Lond improvensents 1362 21w 424 i73 1788 2872
Machirery and eguipment 133 1732 1led 1 6505 6 A28
Infrasisucture 22047 L1145 34879 36,204 37826 58,312
Tetal 5 188,732 LG4, 173 |85 40 | 84,0155 174,141 353,20
Ea—— "B ———— B " ———————
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Long-Term Debt — At the end of the current fiscal year, the City had total bonded debt outstanding of
approximately $240.3 million. The entire amount is backed by the full faith and credit of the City,

Outstanding Debt

{In thousanuls )
Liovermmieatal setivities Business-tvpe aclivities Tutal
HH 011 W12 — i1 012 11
General obligathon bomds. net 5 12979 131,393 110,338 115269 240,348 246,762
Tl 5 129 700 131,391 110538 L1359 ) 348 246,762

I'he overall net increase is attributable to the following factors:

The City's bonded debt decreased by approximately $6.4 million or less than 2.5%. The decrease was
atiributuble to scheduled repayments and an advanced refunding exceeding new issuances. The Cily issued a total
of new debt totaling 514.2 million. This consisted of loans totaling $1.2 million to fund the City's Brockton High
School Stadium Rehab. $5.3 million of advanced relunding of TY 2002 515,616,000 General Obligation bonds,
1.6 million to Tund the City's Parking, Garage Rehab, $5.9 million of MWPA'T bonds to fund replacement of
water meters and upgrades 1o the Silver Lake and Avon Reservoir treatment facilitics. This increase in long-term
debt was offset by principal pavments and the advanced refunding of debt during the current fiscal vear tolaling
$20.9 million.

Total long-term debt of the City represents a claim of about 64.2% of the City’s wtal capital assets, and a claim
of about 35.6% of the City’s total assets. As a percentuge of the fair value of taxable property in the City, the
long-term debl comprises only 4.3%,.

The City maintains an “A” (stable outlook) rating from Standard and Poor’s and an “Aa3” rating from Moody's
for general obligation debt.

Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets

While the economic circumstances confronting the City had deteriorated considerably over recent fiscal vears,
more recently, conditions have become more stable. During the earlier period, revenue assistance from the state
declined in both nominal and real terms, This was initially true even for aid to education, although in the later
years this trend was reversed. However, for revenue assistance other than for education, the decline was
particularly steep. For example, the City's unrestricted state aid was reduced by about $11.6 million from nearly
$28 million in FY 2008 to nearly $16.4 million in FY 2012, a reduction of about 41%. The governor's FY 2013
proposal ot first increased by about 6% aid W education and held other revenue assistance aboul level, but
ultimately the state provided a “one-time"™ distribution of additional unrestricted state aid of about $1.3 million.

During this period, the state has provided municipalities with two new, local option revenue sources: the ability
to raise the lodging excise tax from four percent up to six percent, and the ability to add 0.75% to the meals tax.
The City has adopted both measures. The meals wx provided abour 3430 in new revenue in I'Y 2011, a year of
purtial implementation, and 5820 thousand in FY 2012, a full vear. The lodging tax increase added about
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5200 thousand in new revenue, so between the two measures, the City expects more than 1 million in on-going,
nEw revenues,

Although the property tax levy has provided a predictable, steady source of revenue growth, the City’s properly
values in combination with the state’s property tax limitation law, Proposition 2%, so-called, limit the ability of
the property tax to finance the City’s budget. [n FY 2013, it provided only about 30% of the City's total spending
in the general and enterprise funds. State revenue assistance comprised 46%. The enterprise funds contributed
revenues equal 1o 13%; other local receipts contributed 6%, and the remaining 5% was provided by appropriating
balance sheet reserves.

In this revenue environment. with current cost pressures, it is important to fully appropriate the allowable
property tax levy, to re~capture to the extent possible the cost of services through imposing user fees, to be
judicious in appropriating balance sheet reserves, and to replenish these reserves when possible, However, many
taxpavers and residents have been harmed by the recession and its aftermath effeets, and concerns for these
constituents have manifested in the attitude of elected afficials to levy taxes or impose fee inereases, In TY 20013,
contrary to the recommendation of the mayor and chiefl financial officer, the City Council did not appropriate the
full property tax levy allowed by law; the amount of $1.0 million was not levied rather than appropriated to the
City 'y stabilization fund. The City's recreation, and renewable energy enterprise funds are mainly self-supporting
through fees, and the utility enterprise Tunds (water, sewer, and refuse) are conently Cully sell’ supporting.
However, no wlility lee increases have been adopted by the City Council for several years, even though lor the
past two years, water fee increases have been requested, Capital spending has suffered us a result,

The growth rates in the funding sources other than the property tax have not been as reliable. The heavy reliance
on state aid has become problematic in a period when almost all of the increase in state assistance has been
restricted to educalion. This is especially pronounced when unrestricted stale aid has been reduced. In the
meantime, recenl cost pressures on employcee and retiree benefits and pensions have continued, and modest
inflation recovery increases in wages and salaries have also raised expenditure levels, Accordingly, maintaining
the same level of services in recent years has resulted in drawing down some of the Cily's reserves, Favorable
budgel variances lrom conservative budgeting, including an unexpected surplus in snow removal costs in FY
2012, have allowed Tor some replenishment of those to assist in the FY 2014 budget. The governor's proposal lor
FY 2014 would resull in substantial increases to hoth aid 1o education and unrestricted state aid. However, this
proposal relies on a substantial restructuring and inereasing of the slate’s income tax, somewhinl offset by a
reduction in the sales tax, and so the state uid proposal may not survive in ils current form. It is quite likely that
the final state revenue budaet for FY 2014 will look very much like it did in FY 2013, This would mean an
increase in aid to education and level funding or only a modest increase to unrestricted state aid. In that case, the
City will need to tap into a portion of the remaining reserves in order to maintain services in FY 2014,

Despite recent improvements, unemployment nationally and locally remains quite high. The City also has been
deeply affected by the home mortgage foreclosure crisis. However, the local housing market recently has begun
to show signs of price stability. Nonetheless, the monthly average median value of a single family home in
calendar 2012 was lower than it had been since calendar 2002, For the condominium market, the comparable
year would have been calendar 2000. However, in lfrom calendar 2011 through calendar 2012, the average
monthly median decreased by about 2%, mostly rom the first six months, with stbility in the last six. For
condominiums, the average monthly median price remuined flat from 2011 to 2012,
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I'he City’s overall assessed value declined from FY 2012 to FY 2013 by $148.4 million, or 2.6%. However, there
has been some significant aclivity in recent vears, The Bemardi Auto Group has redeveloped a large parcel olf
Route 24 (o create two separale dealerships, a Hvundai and a Honda, with an investment of $24 million. This
project was granted a substuntial Tax Incentive Financing agreement. but in future years it will provide healthy
growlh in property tax revenue, The Cerberus private equity fund in December 2010 closed on the acquisition of
the Good Samaritan Medical Center as part of its acquisition of the Caritas Catholic hospitul chain. This
ownership has converted the property from tax exempt to taxable. In addition, the ownership is making
substantial, on-going improvements to the facility. The revenues will be a signilicant addition 1o the City’s tax
levy of about $1.3 million. As expected. the hospital has challenged the City's assessment, bl the City has
increased its reserve for abatements to protect against losing that challenge, The City’s valuation was the result ol
the independent work of an expert consultant, and the City is conlident in the value developed by the consultant.
In the past lew months, the Trinity Financial Corp. has proposed the redevelopment of an entire City block in the
downtown areir. The project will be developed in two phases and will be comprised of mixed use residential
housing, commercial space, and parking. The project blends private risk capital, both debt and equity, with public
financing, including some City land for parking and a $4 million state grunt, When both phases have been
completed, the project will have cost $100 million. which represents the largest investment in downtown
Brockton in memaory.

The City has continued 10 engage with its unions over the issues of wages and bencfits, especially health
insurance cosis. All City unions had contracts which were sellled and approved for fiscal vears 2008 through
2010, The terms of the settlements varied with each union, but contained similar elements. Base wages were
increased by 7% over the three year period, but certain other increases were also granted, including for education,
These terms varied by union, Depending on these factors, an employee’s total compensation incrense could range
from 10 to 153%; the averupe was about 12.5%. One of the muajor objectives achieved by the City was the
agrcement to increase the employee contribudion o the indemnity health insurance plan from 25% to 30%. The
City also obtained the agreement that the City will not reimburse any portion of the Medicare Pant B cost when
eligible employees retire and enroll in Medicare, The City and its unions are currently engaged in bargaining for
the fiscal years subsequent 1o FY 2010, Considerable progress has been made toward new seftlements for I'Y
2001 theough FY 2003, but the deals are nol final at this writing,

The School Department had seutled contracts lor both certified and noncertified stall covering fiscal vears 2009,
2010, and 2011, These contracts settled on the following patiern: 2% in FY 2009, 3% FY 2010, and 3% at the
start of FY 2011 and a further 2% at mid-year. Then, prior to FY 2011, the school committee and some of the
unions, ineluding the largest, the teachers’ union, modilied the FY 2011 pattern and extended the contracts
through 'Y 2013, in order to avoid lavofls in Y 2011, The new pattern called for 3% in FY 2011, a 2%/1.5%
split in FY 2012, and a 0.5%¢1.5% split in FY 2013, The school commillee also recently executed a one vear
contract with its teachers for FY 2014 for a 2% salary increase. The parties also agreed to 4 modification of
teacher evaluations 1o allow the district to continue to qualify for federal grant funding.

In Febroary 2012, the mavor requested that the City Council approve a local option statute, which would have
removed the issue of health insurance benefit plan design from colleetive bargaining for all City and school
workers and retirees by either joining the state’s Group Insurunce Commission plans or adopting new City plan
designs with similar benefits. Although substantial savings were projecled for this step, the initiative was
opposed by union members and retirees, who pledged in public to engage in good faith bargaining over plan
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design, The City Couneil unanimously voted to not accept the statute, Subsequently, the City and all of its school
and municipal unions engaged in prolonged and substantive bargaining under a separale provision of stale law
which permits the union and retirees 1o barpain as a coalition of interests an proportienately weighted vote, With
this process, the coalition of all employees/retirees and the City reached agreemenl on new plan designs with
significantly increased co-puyments. However, unlike the GIC plans, the new City plans do not contain annual
deductibles. The plans for active emplovees and retirees who are nol eligible for Medicare are effective on July 1,
2013, and the plan for Medicare eligible retirees was effective on January 1, 2013. The coalition and the plans are
in effect for four vears. The plins are expected to save an estimated $4.7 million annually in cosis to the Ciry,
based on cost of the plans in effect on July 1, 2012, which are being replaced. The retiree plans also signilicantly
reduced the City's OPEB estimate.

The adverse impact of costs rising more rapidly than revenues could be avoided by a voter referendum to
averride the provisions of the property lax limitation statute, Proposition 2%, Even with the recent property
vitluation decreases, the City enjoys override capacity and could increase its levy., The FY 2013 nssessed
valuation of the City would support a maximum levy of just over $137.0 million at 2,5% of assessed value, The
actual FY 2013 levy was $111.5 million, and an additional $1.0 million of allowed levy wasn't appropriated. At
2.25% of assessed value, the City could levy $123.4 million. The tax increase on the average resident with a
single family home would be about 830 per vear for every million in increased levy, While the City's voters have
twive declined W approve overrides in City relerendum elections, the capacity for them o do so exists, [ needed,
a signilicant amount of additional revenue could be obtained at a modest cost to the average taxpayer.

Requests for Information

‘This information is designed to provide a general overview of the Citys finances for all those with an interest in
the Citv’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this document or requests for
additional financial information should be addressed to the Finance Department, City Hall, 45 School Street,
Brockton, Massachusetts 02301.



Assels:

Cash and mmvestments

Receivables, nel:
Property taxes
Intergovermmental

Customer receivahles, net

Orher

Other assets

Lang-term note receivable
Long-term intergovernmental receivable

Pension asset
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable
Depreciable, net

L.iabilities:

Waurrants and accounts payable

Total assets

Accrued labilities:

Interest

Payroll and related withholdings
Tax abatement relunds

Rond anticipation nole
Noncurrent habilities:

Due within one year:
Compensated absences and claims
Bonds. note and loans payable
Due in more than one year:
Compensated absences and claims
Lincamed revenue

Statement of Netl Assets

Landfill closure and posiclosure care costs

Bonds, note and loans payuhle
Other post employment benefits

Total liabilities

Nel assels (deficits):

Invested in capilal assets, nel of related debt

Restricted for:
Permanent funds;
Nonexpendable
Expendable
Health claims

Iederal, state and local gronts

Cther

Lnrestricted

Tolal net assels

June 30, 2012
Governmental Business-type

aetivities activities Total
$ 104663288 20,445,104 125.108.392
12,403,683 12,403,683
14,902 465 5,281,801 20,184 266
= 21,244,347 21,244 347
2,455,285 351,104 2,806,389
9,247 463 91,730 100,039,193
7,205 BRS — 7298 888
13,373,302 — 13,573,502
87,442 640 - 87,442,640
33.140 403 10,643,332 43,783,735
155,591,673 174,766,270 330,357,943
440,719,290 233,523,688 674,242,978
14,738,119 3,364,837 18,102,956
2378267 1,089 BT 3468154
11,752,966 98,892 1,851 858
1,772,730 — 1,772,730
7,000, 00 T.000, 000
4,985,512 162.964 5146476
5.146,730 6,476,372 11,623,122
11,448,142 7,076,427 18,524,569
25,724 3,347.075 3,375,699
3,035,955 [, 127,000 4162955
124,643,654 (04,081,922 228,725,576
159,652,673 —_ 159,652,673
346,378,512 126,826,276 473,404,788
148,086,672 80,128,108 228 214,780
5,246,543 - 5,246,543
723,788 — 723,788
6623612 — 6,623,612
15,8950 — 15 891,504
3513330 - 3,513,330
(95,944,671} 26,569,309 (69,373,302
$ 94140778 106,697 417 200,838,195

—=—

See accompanving notes to basic financial statements.

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
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Assets
Cash and investments

HKeceivabies, net:
Property taxes
Maotor vehicle excise
Deparimental and other
Tox liens
Intergovernmental

Tortal receivahles

e Tromm ather unds

Lang-term note receivable

Long-term interpovernmental receivable
Deposil wilh heallb claims agent

Tolal asscis
Liabilities and Fund Balances

Warrants and accounts payahle
Averued lizbilitics:

T abutement reluncls

Pavroll and velated withholdings
Phoe 1o ether funds
Health elaims payable
Bond anticipation note pavahle
Deferred revenus

Total labilitics
Fund balonces (delicis):
Nonspendable
Resmicied
Committed
Assizned
Unassigned

Tatal thnel Balances

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHLSETTS

Balance Sheet = Governmental Funds

Jure 30, 2002

Sehool Oriher

General Roof Repairs Covernmental Total
5  TH586,173 — 26077115 1H.663,288
7047582 — —_ 747,582
2,253,325 — 2253325
18815 — 181,143 201,960
5,356,101 — — 5,356,101
2841 444 TAYR K72 4.562,149 14,942,465
17.517.267 7498872 4.745.2% 25701433
2,675,606 — — 2,675 61
T.298 888 - — 7.298,888
13.573,502 - —_ 13,373,502
7.544.000 — - T4 MM
£ 127195436 7498 872 3).822 409 165,516,717

e
$ 7,193,534 4.377.321 3,167,064 14,738,119
1,772,750 — 1,772,750
LL693,945 — a2l 11,752,960
— 2675600 — 2675600
3480518 — —_ JABDSIR
_ T A0 — T MY
29.447.4099 — 25724 20.472 823
51547846 14.053.127 3.251,80% 70.892 782
72U 488 — 5,246,543 12545411
13.143.093 — 20,128,622 1271715
5.0149,582 = 1,973,508 6,993,091
1913, 861 15.033 221927 19,150,821
20,232,166 (6,309 28K} —_ 22662878
T3.007.550 (6,554,135) 27,570,600 94,623,915
7.498.872 30,822,409 165516717
s s

Fatal labilities and leod balances S 127,195,436

Sece necompanying notes to basic financial statements.
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS

Reconciliation ol the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet (o the Statement of Net Assets

June 30, 2012

Total fund balance — governmental funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statements of net assels
are different because:
Capital assets used in governmental activities are nol financial resources
and therelore are not reported in the [unds
Revenue is recorded on an accrual basis
Bond issuance costs are capitalized in the government-wide statements
Pension asset is not a fnancial resource and therefare not reported in the funds
Other costs are capitalized in the government-wide statements

Some liabilities ure not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds, Those liabilities consist oft
Taxable bonds
Other general obligation bonds
Bond premiums
Deferred bond gains (losses)
Other post employment benefits
Accrued interest on bonds
Landfill and postelosure care costs
Compensated absences and claims

Mt nssels of governmental aclivities

See accompanying noles lo basic financial statements.

$

s

94,623,935

188,732,076
29,447,099
1,567,658
B7.442.640

| 35,8015

(96,145,000
{32.819.,550)
{1.389,073)
563,219
(159.652.673)
(2,378.267)
(3,035,955
{12.951,136)

~(307,808.435)

94,140,778



CIFY OF RROCKTON, MASSAUHUSETTS
Statermnerd of Reverues, Expendilures, amd Changes i Fund Belonce — Governmental Furds

Yeat ended June 34, 2012

Reévenues:
Real il personal property taxds, nel
Muitoe vehicle aml other excise
Pealines amd mierest on mxes
Paements in liew of laxes
L'ser charges and olher revenze
Fees
lacenses and permuls
Intergovernmenial
Fmes
Investment inaoime
Cantrihutions

Tuetal revenues

Expenditurzs:
Current:
Ciencral governmient
Public safety
Educution
Public works
Humman services
Cultore and recreslion
Statz end comnty assessmenis
Peasinn and fringe benelils
Court judemernts
Chapital vutliy
e servics
Total expenditiunes
Exicess (defiemeney ) of reveénues uver expendinurcs
Oifer fimancing souEroes {usesy
Operme lansicrs in
Operting lnmslors out
{hher
Rond procesds
Honds premum

Peyments to refunding bomd escrow sgent
Issuance of refunding honils

Tutal wther finsncing souices { uses)

Fxcess (deticieney ol revenues gnd other finaneing
sources over espendiunes und ather financing uses

Fund balance, beginning vl year
Fimed belance, end of vear

See accompanymz notes to hagg fingne izl slalcments

Sehuol Other

Cieneral Rool Repairs oo ermmaemtal Fustal
Iibe, 728,051 — — L 728,051
6,729,399 — — 6,739 399
160 100 —_— — L6, 100
IKR RR] — — 12K R&|
LGR0AI0 — 21240 5701 K50
1,7H0 971 —_ 4 pdh,040 6A27 011
2044 967 —_ — 2044 967
163,524,900 15,265,775 13,508 74 212,100471
KUK 373 — 257914 1066, 28T
145,421 — 150,215 B G
Ieb, 155,703 —_ LR ) | 4,808 7uy
02 080 0835 15205775 43,845 50 361,181,34)
11,303,185 - & Ve 699 15449 8584
17317235 - 1815982 300151218
153 305472 444919 1435 0 135 3147169
55395345 — 691 317 6.286.86]
2,19 788 — 3w 2506297
14711 - 100,131 2,196,254
5,022 509 — - 6,022 6119
T 1470 — TES03 470
I61,056 — 161,056
5820558 215 00 1.564,771 23,7401 740
11,267 156 —_ £,18 11,273 540
I G55, 50U 22039840 A543, 781 37404233
{4,924 614 15,7 14.005] 1. 157 2500 12,860,569
RI15.910 - 4117377 12268 287
1032 556) — 14233 554 {11.K65 240
212368 — - 212,358
=2 . 2 B0 G 2800 030
284 565 — — 284 505
4545815 — {4,646 E1 5)
4,362 250 - 1,362,250
TAl 622 — 2681 T3 3414415
(4,198 592 16,774,065} | 526513 (4,446,554
77,806,382 219810 26,044 057 I D70 4R
73607590 16,550 255) @4 621933

275600
-

=]
LV




CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues. Expenditures, und
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement ol Activities

Year ended June 30, 2012

Nel change in fund balances — total governmental funds P {9.446.554)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:
Governmental funds report capital additions as expenditures. In the statement of
activities. the cost ol those assets is depreciated over their estimated uselul lives.

Depreciation expensc ($8.194,622) exceeded capilal additions (827,753.378), 19,538,756
Accrual basis revenues can resull in more or (less) revenues reported in the

statement of aetivities depending upon timing of billings and collections. H68,229
Callection of longsterm intergovernmental receivable that is recorded as revenue

in the governmental [unds. (2.597.547)
Repavments of bond principal are expenditures in the governmental funds but

reduce long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets. 1.915.400

Amortization of bond premiums ($213,589) add to net asscts while the amortization
of deferred losses on refunding ($152,657) and bond issue costs ($140,912)
decrease net assets, This is the amount by which the amortization of deferred

losses on refundings and bond issue costs exceed bond premiums. {453.526)
Amortization of the pension asset in the statement of activities is nol included
in the operating statement of the governmental funds. 005,904

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of
current financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in
the governmental funds, This amount represents the difference between an
increase in interest pavable (S8,008), a decrease in lundfill liability (5142,026),
decrease in accrued claims ($695,095) and decrease in compensated absences

(3204.073) and increase in other postemployment benefit liabilities ($23.319,026). (22.285 840)
Change in net assets of governmenital activities £ (11.535,084)
= ———————)

See accompanying notes 1o basic financial statements,

23



CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Net Assets — Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2012

Assers

Current assels:
Cash and cash equivalenls
Customer receivables, net
Intergovernmental reccivable
Other

Total current nasets

Naneurrent assets:
Other
Capital assets:
Mondepreciable
Depreciable. net

Total noncurrent asscls
Total assets
Liabilities
Current Liabilities:
Warrants and accounts payable
Averoed expenses

Compensated absences and ¢laims
Bonds, notes, and loans payable

Total current liabilitics

Moncurment habilities:
Compensated absences and claims
L'ncamced revenue
Landfill and posiclosure care costs
Bonds

Total noneurrent liabilitics
Total liabilities
Met Assets

Invested in capital assets, net of
related debt
Unrestricted

Total nct assects

3

Enterprise funds

See accompanying notes to basic financial statements,

Water Sewer (Mher Total
5966970 10,570,832 1907276 20,445, 1 0:
7.005,991 10,286.300 3.952.056 21,244 347
5,281,801 — — 3.281.801
306,150 44934 350,104
18,560,918 20,902, 106 7,859,332 47,322,356
221,495 33R.537 31,698 791,730
9913460 366,388 163 484 10,043,332
40,487,029 128,894 212 5.385.029 174,766,270
A0.621.984 129999157 5580211 186.201.332
69,182,902 150,901,243 13,439,543 233.523.688
025,194 ROT.TI19 531,919 3,364,837
233408 034,942 20,469 1,184,779
92,313 35,108 15,543 162,964
1, 36467 4,056 M5 1 50,000 0,476,372
3,720 187 0,734,634 TAT.031 11,192,952
1,735,195 2.690.051 2.651,201 7076427
2,057,786 1,290,189 —_ 3,347,975
— 1,127.000 - 1,127 0040
26,342,777 76,584,634 1,154,511 104,081,922
A, 135,758 1,691,854 J.R05,712 115.633,324
33,856,145 88,426 488 A4.543,643 126,826,276
27,970,046 47 914,060 4,244,002 80,128,108
7.356,713 14,560,697 4651 899 26,569,309
15,326,759 62.474.757 8,895,901 106697 417

_ —



CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets

Operating revenues:
Charyes for services
Fees
Other

Total operating revenues

Clperating expenses.
Salaries and benefits
Litilivies
Repairs and maintenance
Contractual services
(rther supplies and expenses
Depreciation

I'otal operaling expenses
Operating income (lnss)

Nonoperating revenue (expense):
Inlerest income
Interest expense
Dbl subsidies

Tatal nonoperating
{expenses) revenue

Income (loss) belore
transfers

Transfers in
Iranslers oul

Tenal tronslers in fout)

Change i net assets
l'otal net assels. beginning of year
Tolal net assets, end of year

1

Year ended June 3, 2002

Enierprise funds

Proprictary Funds

Sece accompanying notes to basic financial siatements.

Water Sewer her Tuotal
14,588,841 18,498,230 £.090,909 41,177,989
463,759 343584 242,571 1049914
— 5.210 5,210
15,052,600 18,841,823 B.338.690 42233113
4,553,216 1,433,660 1,568,671 7.5553,556
891,726 |G43,290 70,672 2605088
711,193 1,200,152 266,921 2,178,266
T.135,645 4,023,633 6. 148,374 17.307.657
613,391 325,525 214,575 1,133,491
1.371.773 3,966,501 280,469 5.818.743
13,476,944 12592775 E.549 682 36.619.401
(424,344) 6.2949.048 (210,992) 5613712
304,297 349424 212,684 B 405
(562,587} (2,295,869 (B.524) (2,866,980
43,348 432.842 476, | 9
(214.942) (1,313,603) 204, 160 (1.524,38%)
(639.286) 4 735445 {6,832) 4 089,127
—_ 863,669 863,669
{543,135) (723,302) - (1,266,437}
(543,135) (723.302) B6 3,669 {402,768)
(1,182,421 4,012,143 RS6,837 3,086,559
36,504,180 38462614 A,030 064 103,010,858
35,326,759 62,474,757 8,895,001 106697 417
—————— —_— —_—— —_—




CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSENTS
Sistement of Cash Mows = Fropretary Fumls

Cash Mows fom operation
Cysh recerved from costumers
ol padd o employees
Cish pod o vendirs

Met cush provided by (used i) operations

Cinh Mloas from noncapilel Tnancing activilies
Transfers

Boet cash provided by (used in
nonenpitl financing aclivities

Cinsh Nows trom copitial and relazed tnaneing
whvilics
Acyuisition omd construction of capital msscis
Lesterest paid on deh
b 1z502d
Repyment of long-term delt
Dbt subsidies

Met cash used i capital and related
financing achivities

Cosh Nows from investing petivity:
Irlerest income

et cosh provided by investing activity

Incrense {(decrease) in cosh umd
cash equivalents

Cash anil cash equivalents, beginming of yeor
Cashand cash caquivalents, end of year

Recaneiliztion ol nperiling meame (1048) o nel cash
provided by fused n) operations:
Oiperntmg income {loss)
Heconciliation of operstuyg moome {lass) o
net cash provided by {used in) operations
Deprecintion expenss
Changes in aperating assets i linhilities:
Accounts recervable
Waerains and sccounts pavable
Onher gesets and habil e

Met cash provided by (used i} operations

See sceampanying notes 1o basic financial stilements.

Y ear ended June 30, 2012

Enterprise funds
Waler Newer hther lotal

b 14,871,072 18.214,22% §,251.523 41,336,823
(4,372 444) {1.773,274) (1.817,843) {75963 565)
17,283 4450 {72503 (6,421,703 (21,325,650}
3215179 9220452 (IR8.023) | 2,04 7,608
(341,135) (723,312) bR (402, 7681
(543135 [723,302) B3, 009 (402, THE)
(3.5TTATE) 11.337,541) {258,714} (70173, 735
(535397T) {2.332,140) (3,613 (3 884 730}

6,70 972 1,809,347 — Eald a1y
{5,630, 1%2) R LRy (A0 AR HCE RS
43348 £32.842 — 474, 190
{4.929.327) (7447 485) (412327 (12,789,139
304,297 349,424 212,68 Risis, 405

04,297 344,424 212,084 Rih 35
(1.952.980) 1,359 089 276,003 {277,894}

7,910 962 9171, 763 1,631,273 20,722 998

b 5 00,59 Th [0,570, 452 3907276 20,445, 104
5 (424,344 2 249 (48 (210,992 5613712
1,571,773 3,960,501 2R0.409 K18, 743
{181,528} {627 554) IRT.I6T) {890, 289
360458 {129.985) (119,073 301400

1 688 820 (237.51%) {151, 2600 1,200,042

5 1215179 92252 {188,023 12047, 608

= EE




CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS

Staternent of Net Assets — Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2012

{Except for Pension Trust, which is us of December 31, 2011)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

Receivables:
Imterest and dividends
Receivable for securities sold
Contributions from employers
Other

Total receivables

Investments, at fair valoe:
Short-term:
Domestic
Fixed income:
Domestic
Internaticnal
Equities:
Domestic
Internaticnal
Multi-nssct
Real estate
Alternative

Total investments
Total assets
Liabilities
Payable for securitics purchased
Accounts pavable and ather liabilities
Total liabilities
Net Assecis
Held in trust for pension benefits

See accompanying notes 1o basic linancial statements.

s

Pension
trusi fund

Agency
funds

2,137,714

Q00,740
44,177
505,872
49,679

522,531

216411

1,500,468

216.411

3,193,322

85,318,412
20,403,505

101,807,701
50,932,057
12,679,867
18,755,888
17,621,174

310,712,426

314,350,608

738,942

132,364
247,577

738,942

379,941

313,970,667
—————

S

738,942



CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
slatement of Changes in Mel Assets — Fiduciary Funds

Year ended December 31, 20011

Additions:
Cantributions:
Emplovers
Emplovees
Orther

Total contributions

Investment income:
Net depreciation in fair value of investments
Investment income

Total invesiment income
Less investinenl expenses

Net investmenl income
Intergovernmental

Total additions

Deductions:
Benetits
Member refunds and transfers 10 other systems, net
Administrative expenses

Total deductions
Change in net assets
Mel assels, beginning of vear

Met assets, end of vear

See sccompanying notes to basie financial statements,

Pension
trust fund

13,743,334
093,365
5.000

20,841,650

(6.377.702)
6,433,384

55,642
3,032,452

(2,976.770)
204,477

18, 159.d6

34,255,058
255,447
278218

36,088,723

(17.929317)
331,899 984

313,970,667
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACIHIUSETTS
Motes 1 Basic Financial Statements

June 30, 2012

Financial Statement Presentation

The City of Brockton (the City) is governed by an elected mavor, who has general supervision of and
control over the City's boards. commissions, oflicers and departments. The legislative body of the City is
the City Council, which consists of cleven elected members serving two-year terms. ULS. generally
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) requires that the accompanying basic financial statements present
the City of Brockton (the primary government) and its component units, Component units are ineluded in
the Ciy's reporting entity if their operational and financial relationships with the City are significant,
Pursuant 1o this criteria, the City of Brocklon Retirement System (the System) has been identified as u
companent unit, The System was established under the authority of Chapter 32 of the Massachusetls
General Laws (MGL), as amended. and is an independent contribulory retirement system available o
emplovees ol the City, The powers of the System are vested in the Retirement Board. The System has been
included in the Cily’s fiduciary funds as a pension trust fund for reporting purposes. A complete set ol
financial statements of the System for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 can be obtained by
contacting the Brockion Retirement Board at 15 Christy’s Drive. Brocklon, MA 02301,

The Brockton Redevelopment Authority and the Brockton Educational Foundation both meet the definition
of a component unit; however, their operations are not significant and accordingly are not included in the
financial statements ol the City,

The City has entered into juint venlures with other municipalities w pool resources and share the costs,
risks, and rewards ol providing goods or services fo venture participunts directly, or for the benefit of the
general public or specified service recipicnts. The following is a list of the City’s joint ventures, their
purpose, the address where the joint venture financial statements are available, and the annual assessment
paid by the City in 2012:

Annual

Joint venture and address Purpose assessment
Brockton Avea Transit Authority
43 School Strect
Brockton. MA 02301 To provide public transportation  § 1,954,295
Southeastern Regional School District
250 Foundry Street
South Easton, MA 02375 To provide educational services 2.702,679

26 (Continued)
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CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHOUSETTS
Notes 1o Basic Financial Stalemenis
June 30, 2012

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

I'he linancial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with GAAP as applied to local
governmental units.  The Governmental  Accounting  Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted
stundard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial principles. The City also
applies Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Statements and Interpretations issued on or before
November 30, 1989. to its governmental and business-type activities and proprictary [unds provided they
do not contlict with or contradict GASB pronouncements. The most significant of the City's accounting
policies are described below.

fa)  Basis of Presentation

The financial condition and results of operations of the City are presented as of and for the vear
ended June 30. 2012, except for the System, which is presented as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2011,

Government-Wide Stalements

The statement of net assets and the statement of activities display information about the primary
povernment (the City). These stwlements include the Mnancial activities of the overall povernment,
except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of
internal activities. These statements distinpuish between the governmental and business-type
activities of the City. Governmental activities generally are [inunced through taxes,
intergovernmental revenues, and other nonexchange transactions. Business-type activities are
financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

I'he statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for
the different business-type activitics of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a program or function and,
therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function, Indirect expense allocations that have been
made in the funds have been reversed for the stulements of activities. Program revenues include
{a) fees, fines. and charges paid by the recipients of goods or services offered by the programs and
{b) grants and contributions that are restricted 1o meeting the operational or capital requirements of a
particular program. Revenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are
presented as general revenues,

Fund Financial Statements

The fund financial statements provide information about the City’s lunds, including its fiduciary
funds. Separate statements for cach fund category — governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary — are
presented. The emphasis of fund financial stalements is on major governmental and enterprise funds.
cach of which is displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental and enterprise funds
are aggregated and reported as nonmajor Tunds,

Proprictary fund operating revenues, such as charges tor services. result from exchange transactions
associaled with the principal activity of the lund, Exchange transactions are those in which each
party receives and gives up essentially equal values, Operating expenses for proprietary funds
include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses. and depreciation on capital assets. All
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revenues and expenses nol meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and
expenses.

The City reports the following major governmental fund:

Crenmeral Fumd — This is the City's primary operating fund. 11 accounts for all linancial resources of
the general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund,

Schaol Roof Repairs — This fund accounts For the rehabilitation of several school roofs, boilers and
windows rclated 1o the Massachusetts School Building Assistance Burcau Green Repair program.

The City reports the following mujor enterprise funds:

Warer Fund — This fund accounts for the provisions of water treatment and distribution to its
residential and commercial users located within the City.

Sewer Fund — This fund accounts for the provisions of sanilary sewer service to the residents and
commercial users located within the City,

Additionally, the City reports the following [und types:

Pension Trust Fund — Accounts lor the activitics of the System. which accumulates resources for
pension benelit payments to qualified employees of ils contributing members.

Agency Funds — These funds nccount for off-duty police, fire and custodial details, The City'y
agency funds are custodial in nature (assets equals liabilities) and do not involve measurement of
results of operations.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting

Government-Wide, Proprietary, and Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements — The povernment-wide,
proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the ceonomic resources
measurement focus. The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported
using the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded
at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take place. Nonexchange
iransactions, in which the City gives (or receives) value withoul directly receiving (or giving) equal
value in exchange, include property taxes. grants, entitlements, and donations. On an accrual hasis,
revenue from property taxes is recognized in the [iscal year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue
from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed
by the provider have been met.

Governmental Fund Financial Statements — Governmental funds are reported using the current
financial resources measurement [ocus and the modilied accrual basis of accounting. Under this
method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available. The City generally considers
nongrant revenues reported i the governmental funds to be available i the revenues are collected
within sixty duys after year-end. Grant revenues that the City earns by incurring obligations are
recognized in the same period as when the obligations are recognized. Expenditures are recorded
when the related fund liability is incurred. except for principal and interest on general long-term
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debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the
extent they have matured. Tax abatement refunds are recognized as fund liabilitics for refunds filed
prior to year-end and paid within a year. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as
expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general long-lerm debt are reported as other
financial sources,

Under the terms of grant agreements. the City funds certain programs by a combination of specific
cost-reimbursement grants, categorical block grants, and general revenues, Thus, when program
expenses are incurred, there are both restricted and unrestricted net assets available to finance the
program, It is the City’s policy to first apply cost-reimbursement grant resources to such programs,
followed by categorical block grants, and then by general revenues.

Deferred Revenue

In the governmental fund financial sttemems, deferred revenue represents monies received or
revenues accrucd that have not been carned or do not meet the “available™ criteria for revenue
recognition under the modified accrual basis of accounting.

Cash amd Cash Equivalents

To improve cush management, cash received by the City is pooled. Monies Tor all funds, except
those restricted by MGL to be held separutely, are maintained in this pool, Individual fund integrity
is maintained through City records. Each fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “cash and cash
equivalents” on the balance sheets.

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, all highly liquid investments with maturities of
three months or less when purchased are considered to be cash equivalents.

Tivestment Valuation

The City's investments are carvied at fair vulue, The City alsp invests in the Massachusetts
Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT). which is an external investmen! pool and is not SEC
registered. This fund is state regulated and is valued at current share price. See note 3 for discussion
of the System’s invesiments.

Compensated Absences

Ihe liahility for compensated absences reported in the government-wide and proprietary fund
statements consists of unpaid, accumululed annual vacation and sick leave balances. The liability has
been caleulated using the vesting method, in which leave amounts for both emplovees who currently
are eligible to receive termination payments and other employees who are expected to become
eligible in the future to receive such pavments upon termination are ineluded,

Cupital Assets

General capital assets are those assets not specifically related to activities reported in the proprietary
funds. These assets generally resull from expenditures in the governmental funds. These assels are
reporied in the governmental activities column of the government-wide statements ol nel assets hut
are nol reported in the fund financial stutements. Capital assets utilized by the proprietary funds are
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reporied hoth in the business-type activilies column of the government-wide statements of net assels
and in the respective funds.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and
requirements during the year. Donated fixed assels are recorded at their estimated values as of the
date received. The Cily maintains a capitalization threshold of $10,000, The Citv's infrastructure
consists of bridges. culverts, curbs, sidewalks, storm sewers, streets, und water and sewer lines.
Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repuirs that do not add to the
value of the asset or materially extend an asset's life are not capitalized.

All reported capital assets are deprecialed except for land. construction in progress and historical
works of art. Improvements are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital
assets. Useful lives for infrastructure were estimated based on the City's historical records of
necessary improvements and replacement. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over the following uselul lives:

Buildings A0 = 50 years
Luand improvements 20 weurs
Machinery and equipment 520 years
Infrastructure 15 = 100 vears

Net Assets and Fund Balance

In the Government-wide and Proprietary Fund Financial Statements, net assets are reported in the
tollowing categorics:

Invested in capital assets, net of related debr: Capital assets, net of accumulaled depreciation,
and outstanding principal balances of debt attributable o the acquisition, construction, or
improvement of those assets,

Restricted: Net assets the use ol which is subject to constraints imposed by external parties,
including creditors, grantors, and laws and regulations of olher governments, or imposed by
City Charter or enabling legislation, Nonexpendable amounts are required 1o remain intaci
under such constraints.

Unrestricted: Remaining net assets not considered invested in capital assets, net of related dehi
or restricled.

For purposes of net asset classification, when botl restricted and unrestricted resources are availuble
for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are
needed.

In the Governmental Fund Financial Statements, fund balance is reported in the tollowing categories:
Nomspendable: Amounts that cannol be spent because they are either not in spendable form or

they are legally or contractually required (o remain intact.
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Restricted: Amounts the use of which is subject to constraints imposed by external parties,
including creditors, grantors, and laws and regulations of other governments, or imposed by
City Charter or enabling legislation,

Committed: Amounts that can only be used for specific purposes pursuant to constraints
imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making authority. For
the City, this formal action takes the form of statutes, which are passed by the City Council
and approved by the Mayor.

Assigmed: Amounts that are constrained by the City’s intent for use for specific purposes, but
are considered neither restricted nor committed,

Unassigned: Amounts in the general fund that are not otherwise constrained for a specific
purpose more narrow than the general operations of the City.

For purposes of fund balance classification, when both restricted and unrestricted resources are
available [or use, it is the City™s policy to use restricled resources first, then unrestricted resources as
they are needed, When unrestricted resources are vsed, committed resources are used first, followed
by assigned nnd unassigned resources, respectively,

The City maintaing a stabilization account in secordonee with MGl Chapter 40 Section 3B (hat is
reported as unassigned fund balance in the general fund. The City may appropriate in any year an
amount not exceeding 10% of the amount raised in the preceding fiscal year from real and personal
property laxes, or a larger amount as approved by the Depantment of Revenuve. Further, the
stabilization account may not exceed 10% of the City’s equalized valuation as defined in MGL
Chapter 44 Scction |, Funds can be appropriated from or added 1o the stabilization account by 2/3
vote of City Council. The balance of the stabilization accounts was $7,721,213 at June 30, 2012 and
is classified as unassipned,

Net Assets

Mel assets represent the difference between asscts and liabilities. Net assets invested in capital assets,
net of related debt consisis of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation. reduced by the
outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction. or improvement of
those assets. Net assels are reported as restricled when there are limitations imposed on their use
either through the enabling legislation of the City or through external restrictions imposed by
grantors or laws or regulations.

The City applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both
restricted wd unrestricted net wssets are available,

Bond Discounts, Premiums, Reacquisition Costs, and Issuance Costs

In the governmeni-wide and proprictary fund financial statements, bond discounts/premiums,
reacquisition costs, and issuance costs arc deferred and amortized over the term of the bonds using
the straight-line method. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred charges.

4 {Continued)



(k)

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
Motes to Basic Financial Statements

June 30, 2012

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond discounts, premiums, and
issuance costs in the period the bond proceeds are received. The lace amount of the debt issued is
reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debl issuance are reported as other
linancing sources while discounts are reported as other financing uses, [ssuance costs, whether or not
withheld from the actual debt proceeds, are reported as expenditures,

Use of Estimuates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingen! assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates,

{37 Receivables

(a)

(h)

Property Taves

Real and personal property tases are bascd on values assessed as of each January 1 and are due in
guarterly installments on August |, November |, February 1. and May | By law, all tuxable property
in the Commaonwealth must be assessed at 100% of [air cash value. Taxes due and unpaid after the
respective due dates are subjeet to interest and penalties, The City has wn ullimale vight 10 foreclose
on property for which taxes have not been paid. Property taxes levied are recorded as receivables in
the fiscal vear of the levy.

A statewide tax limilation statule known as “Proposition 2% limits the property tax levy to an
amount equal to 2%% of the value of all taxable property in the City. A secondary limitation is that
no levy in a fiscal year may exceed the preceding year’s allowable tax levy by more than 244%, plus
laxes levied on certain property newly added to the tax rolls, Certain Proposition 2% taxing
limitations can be overridden by a City-wide referendum vote,

Note Receivable

In January 2002, the City issued an $8.0 million note (the Note) to the Brockton 21st Century
Corporation (the Corporation), to partially finance the construction of a 4,700 seat baseball stadium
for minor league baseball and a 14,000 square-foot conlerence center.

The Corporation was created by a special act (the Act) of the Massachusetts Legislature in 1993 to
serve as o private Corporation for economic development in the City; costs ol the activities of the
corporation pursuant to the Act qualify as public purpose expenditures.

The lacilities are leased by the Corporation to a private third party who operales both the conference
cenler and a minor league baseball team,

The Mote was financed with the issuance of a like amount of taxable bonds.
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The Note matures in liscal year 2022, has an effective interest rate of 6.31%, and is secured by the
stadium, related conference center, and all stadium-generated lease revenues paid to the corporation,
and almost all conference center lease revenues. The scheduled principal payments are as follows;

Fiscal year:
2013 ! 161912
2014 172,137
2015 | 83,007
2016 | 94,564
2017 206,850
2018 -2022 6,380,418

Total s 7,208 888

The Note provides that in the event that the project revenues are insufficient 1o fully satisfy both
principal and interest payments due for a particular a vear, the City will look to the amount of the
hotel motel excise tax receipts of the previous year for a mechanism to provide a credit (available
hotel/matel tax) to apply to the shortfall, Specifically, the Agrecment specifies that the amount of
loan repayment shortfall should be treated as having been paid up to the amount of the available
hotel/motel tix. This amount is defined as ninety percent of the hotel/morel 1ax receipts of the prior
fiscal vear up 1o and including the first S500,000 and fifty percent of the amount above $300,000, It
has been the City's practice to apply cash loan repayments from the Corporation first to principal
amounts due and then to interest amounts due. The available hotel‘motel tax subsidy is then applied.
Through FY 2012, the available hotel/motel tax has been applied exclusively to interest pavmenty
due, as the cash pavments had always been sufficient 1o salisfy the principal amounts,

This basehall stadivm and conference center is constructed on Citv-owned land that has been leased
to the Corporation for an annual ground lease payment of $10 for the term of the Mote, after which
time the lease payment amount will be based upan fair markel value,

Long-Term Receivable

The City participates in the Commonwealth’s school building assistance program, which is
administered by the Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA). The MSBA provides
financiul assistance (90% of total costs) o the City to build andfor renovate schools. As of June 30,
2012, under MSBA’s contract assistance program, the City was due funds wotaling $16.171.048.
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In the General Fund, the receivable is offset by deferred revenue because the revenue is nol
considered available. The following is a schedule of the five-year paydown as of June 30, 2012
through 2017, and in five-year increments thereafler:

Fiscal vear:
2013 $ 2,597,546
2014 2,597 546
2015 2,597,546
2016 2,597,546
2017 2,597,546
2018 - 2022 3183318

Total 5 16,171,048

Intergavernmental Receivabies
Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust (MWPAT)

In order to fund continuous upgrades to the City's wastewater treatment plant, the City has entered
inte loan agreements with the MWPA'T. When the loan agreements are exccuted, the City is
responsible tor paying the debl service on the loan. However, the City docs not receive all loan
proceeds when the loan agreemenls are executed.

The City annually enters into loan agreements with MWPAT for the purposes of upgrading water
and sewer infrastructure. The City records the entire amount of the loan at inception; however, the
proceeds from the loan are nol received until such time the work is performed. As of June 30, 2012,
the City has recorded reccivables in its waler and Sewer funds for approximately $35.3 million,
representing the amount of loan proceeds not ye! received from the MWPEAT,

Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA)

In order to help fund the replacement ol school reofs and school repairs, the City has entered into an
agreement where the MSBA will fund 80% of eligible costs of the school construction under the
Green Repair Program. The City works on a cost-reimbursement basis and as of June 30, 2012, the
City incurred costs of 57.5 million for which reimbursements have not been received. That amount is
recorded as an intergovernmental receivable in the Other Governmental Funds,
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(4) Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the vear ended June 30, 2012 was as follows:

FPrimary Government

Beginning Ending
balance Inereases Decrenses balance
Governmental activities;
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 5 74106598 — — TA10.698
Construction in progress 3,247,188 23.172.289 2,499 2186 23,920,191
Historical works of an 1,809,514 — — 1.809.514
T'otal capital assets,
not being depreciated 12,467 400 23172289 2499 286 33.140,403
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 202258952 1,560,742 — 203819684
Land improvemenis 2,160,828 1,412,582 — 9.5373.410
Machinery and equipment 21,997,863 593,098 - 22,500,941
Intrastructure 89,291,236 3313933 —_ 92, 803, 18Y
Total capital assets,
being depreciated 321.708.879 T080.375 — 328.789,254
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings 73,600,376 4,287,998 s T7.BRR, 374
Land improvements 5.962.132 249287 — 0.211.419
Machinery and equipment 18,265,126 974447 - 19,230 573
Infrastroctire 07,175,325 2,682 800 - 69,858,215
Total accumulated
depreciation 165,002,959 8. 194,622 — 173,197 581
Total capital assets,
being depreciated, net 156,705,920 (1114247} — 155,591,673
Governmental capital
assets, net § 169173320 22058,042 2,499,286 188.732.076
e e e ———
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Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

Governmental activities:

General government b 225,077
PPublic safety 1,056,083
Public worls 2,443,603
FEdueation 4,108,820
Human services 92407
Culture and recreation 268,632
T'otal depreciation expense —
governmental activities $ 8,194,622
_— -
Beginning Ending
balance Increases Decreases balance
Business-tvpe activities:
Water:
Capital assets, nol being
depreciated:
Land g 2.929.492 — - 2 9194454
Construction in progress 1406490 5577478 - 6,983,968
Total capital nssets.
not being depreciated 4,335,982 55377478 - 0913.460
Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings 25,966,781 — — 25,966,781
Land improvements 105,700 — - 105,700
Machinery and equipment 0,560,947 — 10,560,947
Infrastruetire 31,395 534 — — 32,395,514
Total copital assets, being
depreciated 69,028,967 — 69,028,967
Less accumulated deprecialion for:
Buildings 2.812.201 634668 — 3446869
Land improvements 112,691 86l — 103,551
Machinery and equipmem 8.656,874 366,725 — 9,023.5%
[nfrastructure 15,198,199 569,520 — 15967919
Total accumulated
deprecinlion 26,970,165 1,571,773 28,541,938
Total capital assels
being depreciated, net 42 058,802 [1.371,773) - 40,487,029
Water capila! assels, net 46,394,784 4.005,705 — 3,400,489
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Sewer:
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land
Canstruction in progress

Total capital assers, not
being depreciarad

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings
Land improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Total eapital nssats,
being depreciated

Less aecumulated depreciation for:

Buildinga

Land improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure

Tetal accumulated
depreciation

Tatal eapital assets
being deprecinted, net

Sewer capital assets, net

Other:
Capital assets, not being
depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress

T'otal capital assets, not
being depreciated

Capital assels, being depreciated:
Buildings
Land improvements
Machinery and equipment
Infrasiructure

Total capital assels,
being depreciated

June 30, 2012

Beginning Ending

balance Inereases Decreases halance
186,327 - - 186,327
26,624,415 U115 27,156,299 80,061
26,810,742 011,945 27,156,299 566,388
110,191,940 27072548 137.264 488
238,000 —_— _ 258 0041
42,728 807 509 347 - 43,238,154
38,056,640 — - 38,056,640
[0],235 3R7 27.581.895 — 218,817,282
20,731,580 3.092. 493 —_ 23,826,073
258,000 - — 238.000
41,840,901 231,734 — 42072635
23,124,088 42274 23,766,362
85,956,509 1,966,501 - §9.,923,070
105,278,818 23.615.394 — 125,594,212
132,084,560 24,527,139 27,156,299 129 466,600
130,359 — 130,359
32,350 33.125 32,350 33,125
[62,70% 33,123 33,350 163,484
862,298 — — R62,29%
32,455,301 — 32,459,301
2422077 257939 —_ 2,680,016
6.865,192 — 6,865,192
42,608 868 257939 _— 42,866,807
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Beginning Ending
balance Increases Decreases balance
|.ess accumulated depreciation lor:
Buildings s 304,842 17,727 — 522569
Land improvements 31,989,544 46,173 — 32035719
Machinery and equipment 2117 66 101,638 2,219,245
[nlrastructure 2.589.317 114,928 - 2,704,245
Total seeumuluted
depreciation 37,201,309 280,469 — 37.481,778
Total capital assets being
depreciated, net 5,407,559 (22,50 — 5,385,029
Other capital assets, net 5.570,268 10,393 32,350 5.548.513
Business-lype nctivities
capilul assets, nel $ 184,054,612 28.543.639 27,188,649 LB5 4019 6012
——— — ]

(5)  Deposits and Investments

The following represents the City’s essential risk information about deposits and investments.

fu)

(b)

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the Cily’s deposits may not be
returned. The City carries deposits that are insured by Federal Deposit Insurunce Corporation (FDIC)
insurance or collateralized with securities held by the City or the City's agent in the City's name,
The City nlso carries deposits that are not collateralized and are uninsured. As of June 30, 2012, the
City's bank balanees of uninsured and uneollaleralized deposits totaled $114.796,208. All of the
System’s deposits wre fully insured by FDIC insurance or collateralized with securities held by the
Swvstem or the System’s agent in the System's name,

Investment Policy

The provisions of Massachuselis General Laws (M.G.L) ¢. 32, see 23(2) govern the Cily's
investment practice,

Diversification is atlained through wvaried investment management styles thal comply with
Massachusetis state law, This is accomplished through the retention of investment managers that
adhere to M.GUL, . 32, sec 23(3), the “Trudent Person™ rule,
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Intervest Ruate Risk

Ihe following is a listing of the City's fixed-income investments and related maturity schedule
(in years) as of June 30, 2012 for the primary government and December 31, 20010 lor the retirement
syslem (in thousands):

luvestment fvpe Fair vulue Less than 1 1-5 - 10 More than 10
Retirement system:
Short-lerm investment und 5 ER LS ER LS — —
LS. Troasury notes and
b3 14,050 1LTTE 5315 2425 3.5538
LS. agenicics 4,572 — 4.572 —_ —_
Municipal bonds 912 — - 213 679
Corporate bonds 55,880 TRE 12,510 28,341 14.234
Poisled funds — domestic 6,909 — 0,909 - —
Pooled funds - international 20,404 20404 - —
Asset backed:
CMOs 2932 — — —_ 2,932
Cher 37 — - —_ 57
Subtatal 08916 i, Tl 49714 A1 14445
iy
LIS, Treasury notes and
bonds 674 11} 210 414 -
115, apenics 1807 115 1322 3T —
Corporate boads 986 — 28 638 -
MMM 11,276 11.27h — -
Suhtatal 14.743 11441 1.860 1,442
‘lotal b4 123,659 18.201 51570 FLA43 21445
—— = ==

The City’s and System’s guidelines do not specifically address limits on maturities as a means of
maniging its exposure to fair-value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The manager of each
[ixed-income portlolio is responsible for determining the maturity and commensurate returns of
hisfher portlolio,

The asset backed investments held by the System as of December 31. 2011 are highly sensitive to
changes in interest rates.

Credir Rivk

The City and the System allows investment managers to apply discretion under the “Prudent Person™
rule. Investments are made, as a prudent person would be expected to act with discretion and
intelligence, to seck reasonable income, preserve capital. and. in general, avoid speculative
investments.

The City's fxed-income investments as of June 30, 2012 lor the primary government and
Diecember 31, 2011 for the retirement system were rated by Standard & Poor's and/or an equivalent
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national rating organization, and the ratings are presented below using the Standard and Poor's rating
scale (in thousands);

Investment fype Fair value AAA A BEE to 1B 00 MNut ruted
Retiremenl system:
Shert-term invesiment find 30 — 3,194
LIS, agencies 4,572 43572 — — —
Municipal bomnds 912 912 — —_ -
Corporate bonds 55 EBO 21.08Y 14626 165 —
PPoaled fiunds — domestic 6,909 — - — 909
Pooled mds — infermational 20,404 — —_ 20,404
Assct backed:
CMODs 2912 1,708 1224 — —
(diher 57 57 == ey
Suhtaal 860 2K,338 15,850 168 10,507
Clry:
LLS, ngencies 1,807 |, 807 — -
Cuerparate Bonds ELI 344 — = 042
MM 11,275 — — = 11.275
Subzotal 14,068 2,151 11,917
Tatal 5 1%, w28 30,189 33.830 165 42,424
f————————— N ]

In addition to the above schedule, the City and the System have $675,160 and $14,055,664,
respectively, invested in LLS. government securitics, which are not included above as they are
explicitly guaranteed by the ULS. government.

Concentration Risk

The System has no investments in a single issuer, at fair value, that exceeds 3% of the System’s
investments as of December 31, 201 1. Additionally, the City has no investments in a single issuer, at
lair value, that exceads 5% of the City"s net assets as of June 30, 2012,

The City adheres to the provisions of M.G. L. ¢. 32, sec 23(2) when managing concentralion risk.
Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely alTect the fair value of
an investment or a deposit. Only the retirement system is statutorily allowed (o invest in foreign
currency securities. Similar to the investments in domestic equities, the City employs, or encourages
its investment advisor 1o employ, diversification, asset allocation, and quality strategies. Currency
hedging is permitied for defensive purposes. Currency hedging shall be effected through the use of
forward currency contracts. At December 31, 201 1. there were no open forward currency contracts.

Risk of loss arises from changes in currency exchange rates. Although the System does not have
investments denominated in foreign currencies, the System’s exposure to fluctustions in foreign
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currency for investments denominated in U.S. dollars includes $20,403,505 and $50,932.057 in
international pooled fixed income and equity funds, respectively,

{6} Retirement System

(i)

(h)

fc)

Pian Description

The City contribules to the System, an agent, multiple-employer, public employce retirement system
that acts as the investment and administrative agent for the Cily, the Private Industry Council, the
Brockton Housing Authority, the Brockton Redevelopment Authority and the Brockton Arca Transit
Authority, The System provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and
beneficiarics. The System is a member of the Massachusetts Contributory System, which is governed
by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The System is overseen by an independent five-member board consisting
of the following: Chairperson, City Auditor (Ex-Officio), Mayoral appointment, a member clecled
by the System members and a member elected by the other board members. Public school teachers
are covered by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Teachers” Retirement System, 1o which the
City does not contribute,

Basis of Accounting

The System’s linancial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting. Plan member
contributions are recognized in the perlod in which the contributions are due. Emplover contributions
to the plan are recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide
contributions. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the
terms of each plan,

Investments of the System are stated as lollows:
{a)  Domeslic and international bonds and equity sceurities are stated a quoted market value,

{b) Real estate funds are stated at appraised value or partner’s account value, whichever is maore
readily determinable,

{c)  Venture capital funds are stated at fair value,
{d) Domestic and international pooled funds are stated a net asset value,

Membership

The City's membership in the System consisted of the following at Junuary 1, 2011, the date of the
latest actuarial valuation;

Retirees and beneliciaries receiving henelits 5 1,278
Terminated plun members entitled tw but not receiving benefits 396
Active plan members 1,623
Total membership 5 3,297

_
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{d)  Contributions

(e

Plan members are required to contribute to the System, depending on their employment date, Active
members contribute 5%, 7%, 8%, or 9% of their regular gross compensation depending on Lhe date
upon which their membership began. Members hired after Januvary 1, 1979 must contribute an
additional 2% of regular compensation in excess of $30,000. Participating employers are required to
pay into the System their share of the remaining system-wide actuarially determined contribution,
The contributions of plan members and the participaling emplovers are governed by Chapter 32 of
the MGL,

The following table presents the schedule of the City's contributions:

Fiscal Anneal Intereston  Amartiration Change in
vear reguired et peasicn of net Pension Actual nct pension Nel pension
coding contribution assel [pension assel cost contribution awset el
2 § 11,711,589 B2 93 0,027 W5 11,835,563 12,742,561 G5 098 $7.442,540
2011 10,341,798 (0,847 336) 5002274 9456314 10358711 941,153 B6.536,642
2010 S 5H053T7 NIRRT [ 1,213,805 14,023 818 9900937 [4,042. 879 45,594,447

The System’s Retirement Board, the City Council and the Mayor approved the option for local
Tupling ol vesi-ul-living adjustments. The System’s funding schedule has been updated to reflect the
increased liabilities resulting from the adoption of this option. These cost-ol-living adjusiments will
be awarded automatically each vear, except in years in which the Retirement Board determines that
such an adjusiment would substantially impair the funding schedule.

Legally Required Reserve Accounts

The balances in the System’s legally required reserves at December 31, 2011 are as follows:

Deseription Amount Purpose
Annuity Savings Fund $ 75441270 Active members” contribution balance
Annuity Reserve Fund 27.705,953 Retired members’ contribution account
Military Service Credit 93,776 Mcembers” contribution account while on
military leave
Pension Reserve Fund 200,206,744 Amounts to fund fulure retirement bepefits
Pension Fund 10,520,924 Remaining nel ussets
Tatal £ 313,970,667
_—

All reserve accounts are funded at levels required by state statute,
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Funded Status and Funding Progress

The funded status of the Cily’s pension plan administered by the System as of January 1, 2011, the
maost recent actuarial valuation date, is as follows (in thousands):;

Actuarially accrued liability (AAL) b 402 457
Actuarial value of plan assels 155,849
Unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) b 136,608
Funded ratio (actuarial value of plan assetsfAAL) 72.3%
Covered pavroll {active plan members) b 74417
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 183.6%

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (RSI) following
the notes to the linancial statements, present multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial
vitlues of plan assels are increasing or decreasing aver time relative to the AALs for henefits,

[nn the January 1, 201 1 actuarial valuation, the individual entry age normal actuarial cost method was
used. The actuprial assumptions included an 8.0% investment rate of return, projected salary
increases of 4.75% and cost-of-living adjustments of 3.0% up to $12,000 annually. The actuarial
vialue of asscls was determined using a 3 year smoothing of the fair value of investments. The
System’s unfunded actuarial accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage ol pay on an
open basis, The remaining amortization period at January 1, 2011 was |9 years,

Long-Term Obligations

The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2012:

Muturing
throwigh Inderest Ohitstanding Catstanding
year el prreentige heginning enil
Gieneral long-term obligations June 3 range ol vear Adlditions Hedunctions of vear
Grovetnenental activitics
(remeral
Taxable 027 4755 - 6A5%a S 97 100 — Y55.040 U6 145 000
Crpneral obligation 2 (.00 - 6755 33,779,430 716225 B.122.650 32819550
Subtitul § 130 ETR R0 7.163.250 9477 650 128 96 550
| —— s
Sl (checuct )
Unarortzed bond premuwn £ 130T
Unamonred defomed amoants
on refindings §363.219)
Tutal geswernmental
activities bunded
debe. net [ 20 90 404
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Mlatnring
Uirough Interest Onidstancling, Ohutstanding
year endud prereeniage beginning end
Cieneral lang-term abligations June 3 e if yeur Adlditions Reductions o vear
Huginess-type sclivities
Wiler a0 (3.00% =775 % 17.350.713 5059836 5,636,192 277 362
Sewer 028 (2.00% -6 754 83,706,542 5O, 750 H,019.49453 A B84, 299
Oither 2019 1808 = 6 I [ A3 000 — | S0 00 |, 300
Subintal ¥ ON4307.250 6997 505 11 R, | 8% 11 238 6a |
Aukd i deduct )
Unamortirzd bond premium 11125521
Uramanred defored smounts
on nelundings 1135 888
Totnl business-rype
senvites bonded
det, net | 111558 2ud
Tostarl boandedd ek, e § 234 A0
_————
Othir langstees ohligations:
Self=insured henelit pluns:
Covernmentel petivities b 7,932 300 34,050,262 15,570,003 a4l 608
Pusiness-type sctivitics
Waler | 280 3585 641 247 A% B4S L And The
Sewer 2973067 - 371,983 2 ikl 084
Other 2ELLL4 51,060 J2T.851 2380633
Compensalad absonces, nel:
Covermmentzl activites 10234 129 198393 402 Y66 1 D%556
Business-ype activilies
Waler i 205 — 1,455 160,740
Sewer 1343 11512 _ 1240555
Chiher 126,5%0 15531 - (42,121
Tandfill clasure and postzlesune
care costs
Ciovernmenta] activities 3,177.98] - 142,026 3035955
Prusiness-type aclivilies.
Sawwer | ] 0 Ao i — [123mon
Other pual emplovment benefits
Civernmental petivities | 3,333 047 43 544, 304 20,275,342 159, 652 (T3
Tutal pther hing-term
ohhigations § 106 395 240 78,642,303 57,550,870 187 486 671

During 2012, the City issued $5,989.836 of Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust (MWPAT)
bonds for the Water fund.

On November 3, 2011, the City issued a total of 86,560,000 General Obligation Municipal Purpose Bonds.
The bonds funded S1,200,000 in High School Stadium Renovalions and $5.360.000 in Refunding Bonds,
of which $997 750 rclates o the Sewer {und, The refunding bonds will be used to advanced refund a
portion of the City’s $15.616.000 General Obligation Municipal Purpose Loan of 2002 Bonds, Interest on

47 (Continued)



CITY OF BROUCKTON, MASSACIIUSETTS
Motes to Basic Financial Statements

June 30, 2012

the honds will be payable semiannually on June 15 and December 15, commencing on June 15, 2012, The
interest rates range from 2% 1o 5% and are due serially through June 15, 2022,

On November 17, 2011, the City entered into a [.oan Guaraniee Assistance Program for a total of
$1.600.000. The bonds funded $1.600.000 in Parking Garage Renovations, Interest on the bonds will be
payable semiannually on February 1 and August 1, commencing on February |, 2012,

Muturity of Bond Indebtedness

Bond indebledness outstanding at June 30, 2012 matures as follows:

Governmental activities

" Principal Tnterest Total
Year ending June 30:
2013 % 5,146,750 6,527,787 11,674,537
2014 5,786,900 6308416 12,095.316
2013 6,330,650 6,048,222 12,384,872
2016 0999375 5,739,636 12,739,011
2017 7,773,000 5,392,141 13,165,141
2018 - 2022 32,551,875 21,639,424 54,191,299
2023 - 2027 49,480,000 11,149,573 60,629.573
2028 - 2031 | 4,890,000 526,142 15416142

§ 128,964,550 63,331,341 192,295,891
_—— ey

Business-1ype aclivities

Waler Sewer
Principal Interest Principal Interest
Year ending June 30

2013 5 1,369,467 582,345 4,956,905 2,050,087
2014 1,632,204 606,893 5.110,001 1.869 835
2015 1.635.367 562016 5,219,136 1,725,710
2016 1.679.110 316,690 5,242,081 1.578.070
2017 1,706,880 470,050 5.359.041 1.418,027
2018 -2022 3.170.087 1,696,037 26,880,355 4. 898,178
223 - 2027 7.908,959 765,094 24,836,302 1,492,692
2028 - 2032 3,582,288 [54.443 3080478 106,033

§ 27,704,362 5,357.368 80,684,299 15,138,652
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Busincss-type activities

Other Tolal
~ Principal Interest ~ Principal Interest
Yeur ending June 30
2013 b 150,000 3.000 6,476,372 2,635,432
2014 150,000 1,300 6,892,205 2478248
2015 100,000 — 6,974,503 2,287,726
2016 100,000 - 7,021,191 2,094,760
2017 100,000 — 1,163,921 1.888.077
2018 -2022 S00,000 — 35,550,442 6,504215
2023 - 2027 200,000 — 32945261 2,261,736
2028 — 2032 — — 6,662,761 260,476
5 1,300,000 4,500 109,688 636 20,500,720
b —— —_— = = —_—

The City has entered into loan agreements with the Massachusetts Water Pollution Abatement Trust
{(MWPAT) 1o finance certain water and wastewater related capital improvements. Since the City is legally
obligated for the total debt amounts, the full liability has been recorded in the Water and Sewer funds in
the accompanying busic financial statemenls, The City expects 1o receive 5384.630 and $3.092,933 of
Water and Sewer principal and interest subsidies, respectively. from MWPAT over the remaining life of
the loans as follows:

Business-type wetivities

Wiider Hewer Tadal
T Principal Imterest Frimcipal Interest Principnl Interest
subsidy suhsidy sulvsady suhsiddy subsidy sahsidy
Year ening June 3
o3 5 15,357 7193 1347 11253 100,871 FolL 23R
4 IR 0,990 112321 AR, IRR 130,357 F953TR
s 19,343 18,256 113,543 268 GER 133,388 2E5,944
il AR N T1.643 245 4404 92,139 261,619
() a1, 13454 73,551 213890 Y5744 237,344
g - 2Rz 120,220 43,804 [47.828 nian 268 (6 BAS Thé
=27 17033 2212 171504 134,86 198957 137073
Towl 5 242339 142,281 Tian 2,315,581 1.019,721 ZAST RAD
—_— — ————————————————————

The City is subject to a dual-level general debt limit: the normal debt limit and the double-debt limit, Such
limits are equal to 2'2% and 5%, respectively, of the valuation of taxable property in the City as last
equalized by the Commonwealth’s Department of Revenue. Debt may be authorized up to the normal debt
limit withowt state approval. Authorizations under the double-debt limil. however, require the approval of
the Commonwealth's Emergency Finance Board, Additionally. there are many categories of general
ahligation debt, which are exempt from the debt limit but are subject to other limitations.

As of June 30, 2012, the City may issue approximately $298 2 million of additional peneral-obligation debt
under the normal debt limit. The City has approximately $219.5 million of debt exempt from the debt limit,
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As of June 30, 2012, the City has total authorized unissued debt of $90.6 million, The remaining
authorized unissued debt is intended to finance the following:

School construction/Turnishings 5 33854460
Schoal relunding 5 ()
Refunding 2,430,000
Pension funding 47,710,000
Waler projects 5,278,677
Sewer projects 220,779
Economic development 1,000,000

£ 90,588,916

(8)  Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs

State and Federal laws and regulations require that the City place a final cover on ils Jandfill sites and
perform cerain maintenance and monitoring functions at the landfll sites for a minimum ol thirty vears
after closure. In addition 1o operating expenses related 1o current activities of the land(ill sites, an expense
provision and related liability are being recognized based on the future closure and postelosure care costs
thiat will be incurred near or after the dute the landfills no longer accepl waste, The recognition ol these
landfill closure and postclosure care costs is based on the amount of the lundfills used during the vear, The
estimated liability for landfill elosure and postelosure care costs is based on the percent usage (filled) ol the
landfills and is as follows at June 30, 2012:

Business-type
Governmental activities
activitics (Sewer fund)
Closure and postclosure care costs Y 3,055,955 1,127,000
Percentage usage (flled) 100.00% 49.00%

It is estimated that an additional $1,173,000 will be recognized as closure and postelosure care expenses
between the date of the balance sheet and the date the Sewer fund landfill is currently expected to be filled
1o capacily (the year 2047).

The landfill liability recorded by the governmental activities represents postelosure care costs only, as the
closure costs have been contractually assumed by a third party in exchange for the future use of the landfll
site. As of June 30, 2009, the landfill has been closed and the City began o incur postelosure care costs in
fiscal vear 2009.

The third party has placed an irrevocable letter of credit in the amount of $5.485.000 in trust to provide
assurance that funds will be available when needed for closure, maintenance, and/or corrective action.

The estimated wotal current cost of the landfill closure and postelosure care is based on the amount that
would be paid if all equipment, facilities, and services required 1o ¢close, monitor, and maintain the landfills
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were acquired as of June 30, 2012, However, the actual cost of closure and postclosure care may be higher
due to inflation. changes in technology, or changes in landfill laws and regulations.

() Temporary Borrowings

Under state law and by authorization of the City Council, the City is authorized to borrow on a temporary
basis to fund the following:

. Current operating costs prior 10 the collection of revenues through issuance of revenue anticipation
noles (FANs);

v Capital project costs incurred prior to ebtaining permanent financing through issuance of bond
anlicipation notes {BANs); and

. Federal and state-aided capital projects and other program expenditures prior (o receiving
reimbursement through issuance of federal and state-aid anticipation notes (FANs and SANs).

Temporary loans are general obligations of the City and carry maturity dates which are limited by statute,

Short-term debt activity for the year ended June 30, 2012 was as [ollows;

Cutstanding Quistanding

as of as of

June 3, June 30,
2011 Additions Reductions 212
Bond anticipation notes pavable:
Governmental activities:
School roof repairs Tund:

School construction § 896,000 000,000 896,000 T.000.000
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Operating Transfers and Interfund Balances

Operating transTers and their purposes during the year ended June 30, 2012 were as [ollows:

Coovernmuntil funds Enterprise inids Fiduciary Funds
Lrenernl Other Water Sewer Uther Apency
S mter receints — m heu of mes 5 541,135 . (543,135 = - =
Sewer reeeipls - lew ol taxes E AR - = {795 9661 =X
Otlwer Frterprise receipls — in
lige of laxes (222.710) — = — 222.7TIn =
Chemeral fund revenue — reorcation
st 1437 3h) —_ 487 46 -
Gieveral fond revenue — recreation
delv service costs 1226278} — — T1.663 153,613 —
Cigneral fund revenue — erani
maich 1244,192) 244,142 — - —
Special revenue Tund — councl
o aging 54,060 (854 060y — - - -
Special revenue fund — grant 16452 (10.452) A — = =
Parking authenty reserve -
parking autherio 270, 12750 66K ) — - =
Farking meser tees - packing
ooy ZHE Lo (2R3, 160 — — - -
Welahts and Meadires — servives Sl 3 1564,434) — -
Cemetary — Servites [ER | 14,000 — — -
Trueatier to Police Agency 1 720 — = ik TH}
General lund revemue — Transfer
il cubhe agrecment
reimbursemient 10 Special
Kevenue Fund (Rl L] 362 — T
Tustal b3 315234 i1 16207 i 33135} 17233001 i3 665 T20

At June 30, 2012 the School Roof Repairs Fund owes the General Fund $2.675.606.

Other Postemplovment Benefit {OPEB) Disclosures

GASD Statement No. 45, dccounting and Financial Reporting by Emplovers for Postemploveent Benefits
Cither Than Pensions, requires governments to wecount for other postemployment benefits, primarily
healthcare, on an accrual busis rather than on a pay-as-you-go basis. Accordingly, netuarially required
contributions are recognized as an expense on the government-wide statement ol activities when a future
retiree earns their postemployment benefit rather than when they use their postemployment benefit, To the
extent that an entity does not fund their actuarially required contribution. a postemployment benefit
linbility is recognized on the government-wide statement ol net assets over time.

In addition to the pension benefits described in note 6, the City provides postemployment health care and
life insurance benefits, in accordance with state statute and City ordinance, to participating retirces and
their beneficiaries.

As of June 30, 2012, the valuation date, 2913 retirees and 2,936 active members meet the eligibility
requirements as put forth in Chapler 32B of MGL. The City sponsors and participales in a single emplover
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delined benelit OPEB plan. The OPER plan is administered by the City and does not issue a stand-alone
linaneiul report,

Medical and prescription drug benelits are provided to all eligible retirees not enrolled in Medicare through
a variety of plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts and Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare.
Medical and preseription drug benelits are provided to retirees enrolled in Medicare through Medicare
Supplemental plans offered by Blue Cross Blue Shield of Massachusetts and Harvard Pilgrim HealthCare.

Groups | and 2 retirees. including teachers, with at least 10 vears or 20 years of creditable service are
eligible al age 55 or any age, respectively. Group 4 relitees with at least 10 vears or 20 years of creditable
scrvice are eligible at age 45 or any age, respectively. Retirees on ordinary or accidental disability
retirement are eligible at any age while ordinary disability requires 10 years of creditable service. The
surviving spouse is eligible to receive both pre-retirement and post-retirement death benefits, as well as
medical and prescription drug coverage.

fa)  Funding Policy

Employer and employee contribution rutes are governed by the respective collective bargaining
ugreements, The City currently funds the plan on u pay-as-you-go basis. The City and plan members
share the cost of benefits, As of June 30, 2012, the valuation date. the plan members contribute 10%
to 25% ol the monthly premium cost. depending on the plan in which they are cinolled, The Cicy
contributes the balunce of the premium cost.

(b)  Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPERB Obligation

The City's annual OPEB expense is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the
emplover (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the paramecters of
GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis. is
projected to cover the normal cost cach year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liability over a
period of thirty vears. The following tahle shows the components of the City's annual OPED cost for
the year ending June 30, 2012, the amount actually contributed to the plan, and the change in the
City"s net OPEB obligation based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2012,

Annual Required Contribution {ARC) b 38,141,022
Interest on net OPED obligation 5,453,346
Adjustment to ARC (5,208 642)
Annual OPEB cosl 38,384,726
Contributions made (15,065.700)
Change in net OPEB obligation 23.319.026
Net OPEB obligation — beginning of vear 136,333.647
Net OPEB obligation — end of year S 159,652,673
e
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The City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed (o the plan, and the
net OPED abligation were as follaws:

Percentage of

Annual OPER OPEHB cost Net OPEB
cost contributed ubligation
Fiscal year ended:
2012 b 38384726 39.25% % 1539.652.673

The City"s net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2012 is recorded on the government-wide statement
ol net assets.

(e)  Funded Status and Funding Progress

The funded status of the plan as of June 30, 2012, based on an actuarial valuation as of June 30,
20011, was as follows (in thousands);

Actuarially acerued liability (AAL) i) 504 888
Actuarial value ol plan assets —
Unfunded actuarial aeerved liability (UAAL) h 504,883
Funded ratio {actuarial value of plan assets/AAL) —%
Covered payroll (active plan members) $ 173,404
UAAL as a percentage of covered payroll 291.2%

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
ussumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
ussumptions about future employment, morlality, and the healthcare cost trend. Amounts determined
regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the Commission are
subject 1o continual revision as actual results are compared wilh past expectations and new cstimates
wre made about the future, The schedule of funding progress, presented os required supplementary
information following the notes to the financial statements, presents multi-vear trend information
that shows whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial accrued liabilities for benetits,

(i) Actugrial Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as
understood by the City and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing ol benefit costs between the City and plan
members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumplions vsed include techniques that are
designed to reduce shori-term volatility in actuarial acerued liabilities and the actuarial value of
assels, consistent with the long-term perspective of the caleulations.
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In the June 30, 2012 actuarial valuation, the projected unit credit cost method was used. The actuarial
assumptions included a 4.25% investment rate of return and an annual health care cost trend rate of
7.5%, reduced by decrements to an ultimate rate of 5% aller 5 years. The City’s unfunded actuarial
accrued liability is being amortized as a level percentage of pay on a closed basis assuming 4.5%
increases. The remaining amortization period at June 30, 2012 was thirty years.

(12) Risk Management

The City is exposced to various risks of loss related to general linbility, property and casualty, workers'
compensation, unemployment and employee health, and life insurance claims,

Buildings and property are insured against fire, thefl, and natural disaster to the exient that losses exceed a
deductible of $100,000 per incident. Vehicle damage and loss is insured to 51,000,000 with a deductible of
£1,000.

The City is sell insured lor workers” compensation and unemployment claims. The City is also sell insured
for these employees participating in the City’s Health Care Plans (Health Care Plans), Approximately 60%
of the City's employees participate in preferred provider Health Care Plans.

Both employees and the City contribute to the Health Care Plans based upon u percentage formula, 75%
(City) and 25% (employes). with the exeeption of Rlue Cross Blue Shield Master Medical, which is 70%
City and 30% employee. The retirees” contribution rate is 25%, except for those retirees who were 65 or
plder as of July 1, 2003 and whose annual household income was $22.340 or less for a single person over
65 years of age, or $30.260 for a lwo person houschold with one person over 65 years of age. For these
retirees. the contribution rates are 15% for Blue Cross Blue Shield (BCBS) Master Medical. BCBS Master
Medical Carve Out A&B, BCBS Medex 111, and BCBS Choice and 10% for 1IMO Blue. Harvard Pilgrim
Healthcare. and Ilarvard Pilgrim Enhanced. The 15% and 10% rates were established through a Tlome
Rule Petition voted and approved by the City Council and the Massachuselts General Courl, Stop loss
insurance s carried on the Health Care Plans for cliims in excess of S300,000 per covered person and
$2,000.000 maximum per covered person. The City maintains a working deposit with the administrator of
its Blue Cross Blue Shield Health Care Plans, Al June 30, 2012, that deposit was $250,000, which includes
Dental insurance, The financial arrangement with Harvard Pilgrim is monthly level funding of §1,375.000
with quarterly adjustments if necessary.

The City is insured for other types af general linbility: however, Chapler 258 of the MGL limits the Citv's

liability to a maximum of $100,000 per claim in all matters except actions relating to federalfcivil rights,
eminent domain, and breach of contract.
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Liabilities for self-insured claims are reported if it is probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount
can be reasonably estimated. These losses include an estimate of claims that have been incurred but not
reported. Changes in the self-insurance liability for the vears ended June 30, 2012 and 2011 were as

follows:
Workers’
compensilion Health care
plan plans Total

Balance at June 30, 20010 s (0,639,972 3,917,922 14,557.894

Provision for losses/change in estimate 839,993 36,289 863 37.129.856

Pavments for ¢claims (876.273) (35,814.323) {36,690,596)
Balance at June 30, 2011 10,603.692 4,393 462 14,997,154

Pravision for losses/change in estimale (293,444) 34,971,899 34 678,455

Payments for ¢laims (835,527) (35.815,909) {36.651,4306)
Balance at June 30, 2012 5 9474721 3,549,452 13,024,173

. _—— ———

The liability for claims and judgments consists of governmental and business-type activities in the amount
ol approximately $6,4 11,698 and 56,612,475, respectively,

{13) Commitmenis

On May 22, 2001, the City entered into a Water Purchase Agreement (the Agreement} with lnima,
Servicios Europeos De Medio Ambiente, S.A. (Inima), jointly with Bluestone Energy Services, operating
as Aquaria.

This Agreement provides lor oblaining additional waler from Aquaria’s desalinization facility, which it
designed. permitted, constructed, and operates. The plant employs conventional water treatment, Tollowed
by a reverse oamosis process to remove salinity. This will provide a minimum of live million gallons daily
(MGD) of potable water and will be readily capable ol expansion to ten MGD.

I'he Agreement expires in 2028 unless extended, renewed, or terminated. This Agreement may be renewed
for up to 30 additional years in five year rencwal terms.

Aquaria makes available to the City a minimum of the Firm Commitment of water on a daily and vearly
average basis, The Firm Commitment begins at 1.9 MGD and increases over the 20 yvears 1o 4.07 MGD.

Al the time that the contraet was enacted the schedule for the City™s fixed purchase commitment resembled
the projected growth in water demand for the City, but the schedule somewhal execeedad this curve,
especially in vears three to eight. In recent vears, water conservation measures and lack of” economic
growth have resulted in a demand curve, which is significantly less than that assumed in the fixed
commilment lable. As a result, the increased cost of financing the fixed commitment has fallen almost
exclusively more heavily on current users, rather than on new water consumplion, as was anticipated when
the contract was executed. In the event that other waler purchase contracts are executed, the City has the
right to offset its fixed commitment to a minimum of 2.0 MGD with the volume commitment of other long
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term purchasers or the right to reduce by about 50%, on a gallon for gallon basis, its fixed price for its
fixed volume commitment.

The rate charged to the City for the Firm Commitment is a fixed annual charge of $167.480 per year per
0.1 MGD of the City’s Firm Commitment; this charge is incurred regardless of whether the City takes the
water. [n addition, the City incurs an additional charge of $1.23 per 1,000 gallons for water actually
delivered. For example, with a firm commitment of 2.0 MGD plus actual usage of 1.0 MGD [or an entire
year, the City would pay nearly $3.8 million. The financial obligation is primarily attached to the fixed
price component, The rate structure is permitted to escalate with the Producer Price Index for Finished
Goods. excluding food after three years of water delivery. Accordingly, escalation will begin, in the
fourth vear of the contract, which is at the end of 2012. Fixed and variable charges are recorded in the
major Water fund when incurred, which totaled $5.4 million in fiscal year 2012.

As of June 30, 2012, based on the current fixed annual charge, the City expects 1o pay $107.6 million for
its Firm Commitment as follows:

Amount
Fiscal year:
2013 $ 5,861 800
2014 5,012,044
2015 5,962,288
2016 6,171,638
2017 6,380,988
2018 -2022 33,864 4506
2023 —-2027 34,082,180
2028 - 2029 9,410,470

5 107,645,864

(14) Fund Deficits
The following funds had deficit fund balances at June 30, 2012:

School Roof Repairs Fund 5 6,569,288
Other governmental funds:
Special revenue:

Federal and state law enforcement 5,800
Total b 6,575,154

e School Roof Repairs Fund deficit will be eliminated with the permanent financing of the School
Rehabilitation Bond Anticipation Note. The Special Revenue deficits will be eliminated upon satisfactory
completion of federal and state audits.

57 (Continued)



(15) Fund Balance Classification Details

CITY OF BROCKTON, MASSACHUSETTS
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The components of funid balance for the City’s governmental funds as of June 30, 2012 are as follows:

Fund balances

Menspendahle:
Permanent fund principal
Notes receivable

Restricled for:
General government
Human services
Public sulety
Public works
Culture/recrealion
Education

Committed to:
General government
Human services
Public safeiy

Assigned to:
General government
Human services
Public safety
Public works
Culwre/recreation
Education

Unassigned

['otal fund halances

School Other

General Rool Repairs Governmental
5 — — 5.246.543
7,298,888 — —
7,298,888 — 5.246.543
13,143,093 —_ 1.707.444
= — 215,171
—_ — 3,278,784
— — 4,718,672
= - 494,834
— — Q713,717
I3, 143,003 — 20,128,622
5,019.582 —_ —
- — 687,383
— - 1,286,125
5019582 — 1,973,508
14,985,386 —_ 57890
17,679 — 25.573
57.206 — 35
370692 —_ 15.126
453,899 — 127
3,028,999 15,033 123.170
18,913,861 15,033 221,927
29.232,166 (6.509,288) —

g

73,607,550

(6,554,255)

27,370,600
_—
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(Limandited)
Variance
Actual with final
amounts Brudget
Budgeted amounts (budgetary pasitive
Oricinal Final hasis) (negative)
Resources (inflows):
Raul smad personal property taxes, net 103,574,374 103,574,374 106,746,331 3.171.957
Wator wehicle and other excise 23330000 3,335,000 3 20707 BG5.70T
PPenaltics and interest on taxes [, 325,004 1,325,000 1654, 109 E ]
Payments in licw of taxes 2R3,000 285,000 | B4,.881 (96,1 14}
Liser charges and olher revenue 6,317,504 6,317,506 3.98%.410 (2,328.090)
Fees JBA.000 RS 000 1,780,971 1,355,971
Licenses and permits 1,275,000 1,275,000 2,044,967 Y96 T
lterpovernmental 162 66% 38 42,665 550 [£3.524.900 B35.320
Fines 10,00 101000 &(8.373 IRATE
[nvestment income 250,000 290,000 2R 361 (B0, 641
Translers in Al T 16 1,300,588 2345070 | 5082
Armuounts available for appropriation 2WT 535176 283167048 2805330679 6,366,631
Charges Lo approprialicns (oulllows):
Lurrent:
General government 14,173,112 14,490,054 12,247,152 2.24% 502
Fulilic safety 39832601 M 152851 3742406 2,710,545
Edualis 153,243,153 135,243,123 135,467,624 (229,47 5)
Public warks 7,337,668 (337608 926,703 410,945
| lman services 2203188 2437188 2,216,982 220,206
Culture and recreation 2065 958 2069 W5 2462144 (AU 161
State ard counly pasessmenlts GRS 353 8%, 3353 G022 0604 6,744
[ension and fringe beneties 55,460,294 53,460,294 3041042 414252
Court judgment 204, 106 204, 100 94 3749 10,72
Capital antlay 50,034 5034 SR2.058 (332,024
[deht service 12387738 12387738 11.267.156 1,120,582
Translers out 4,022,836 5,036,830 ) (T4
Total charges to appropriations 209 134,085 200 965 957 204 583,045 5380911
Excess (deficiency) of resources
aver churges Lo appropriations (16,7498, 904 {16.798.909) % [5.051.367) 11,747,542
Other budzet itemes:
Free cash 16,948 Q0 16,508,504
Other availakle funds EA0L004 (15000}
Potal ather budget ilems [, 708 S 16,748,904

Met hudgel b = ==

See neles o required supplementary information.

See guevmpanying independent andiors” report.
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(1) Budgetary Basis of Accounting

The City must establish its property tax rate each year so that the resulting property tax levy will comply
with the limits required by Proposition 21 and also constitute that amount which will equal the sum of
{a) the agaregate of all annual appropriations for expenditures and transfers. plus (b) provision [or the prior
fiscal vear's deficits, il any, less (¢) the aggregale of all nonproperty tax revenue and translers projected to
be received by the City, including available surplus funds.

The budgets for all departments and operations of the City, except that of public schoals, are prepared
under the direction of the Mayor. The School Department budget is prepared by the Schoal Commitee.
Original and supplemental appropriations are submitted by the Mayor and approved by the City Coungil,
The Finance Department independently develops revenue estimates, which effectively limit tolal
expenditures consistent with the City’s Chief Tinancial Officer’s requirement under Chapter 324 of the
Acts of 1990 (o certily the alTordability of spending requests,

The City's annual budget iz prepared on a basis other than GAAPR. The “actual” amounts column of the

Budgetary Comparison Schedule is presented on a “budgetary hasis” to provide a meaningful comparison

with the budgel, The major differences between the budget and GAAP bases arc that:

(a) Budgeted revenues are recorded when cash is received, except for real estate and personal property
tames, which are recorded as revenue when levied (budget), as opposcd 1w when susceptible o

acerual {GAAP).

(k) Encumbrances and continuing appropriations arc recorded as the equivalent of expenditures
{budget), as opposed to a reservation of fund halance (GAAP),

(2)  Expenditures in Excess of Budgel

In fiscal year 2012, the City had no expenditures in excess of budgeted appropriatians.

f() [ Continued)
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(3)  Explanation of Differences belween Budgetary Inflows and Outflows and GAAP Revenues and
Expenditures — General Fund

Budgetary inflows and GAAP revenues:
Actual amounts (hudgetary basis) “amounts available Tor appropriation™ from
the budgetary comparison schedule S 2B0335879
DilTerences — budgel to GAAP;
Property and excise taxes and intergovernmental revenues are reported as a
budgetary resource on the cash basis, rather than on the modilied

acerual basis 511,587
Cantributions for health claims are not reparted as a budgetary resource 14,195,703
Stahilization fund earmings 134,786
Transfers from other funds are inflows of budgstary resources but are not

revenues For financial reporting purposes (2,345,670

Total revenues as reporled on the statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances 5 302,030,083

Budgetary cutflows and GAADP expenditures:
Actual amounts (budgetary basis) “tutal charges to appropriation” from the
budgetary comparison schedule £ 204,585,046
Differences — budoet to GAAP:
Enterprise [und related budgelary expenditures are recorded as reductions

1o translers for GGAAP purposes (2,562,178
Health claims expenditures and aceruals are not reported as charges to

appropriations on a budgetary basis 23,685,581
Adjustments for expenditures, encumbrances, and aceruals, net (2.933,968)
Transfers to other funds are cutfllows o budgetary appropriations but are

not expenditures Tor finaneial reporting purposes (5.414,784)

Total expenditures as reported on the statements of revenues.
expenditures and changes in fund balances 5 306,959.699

al
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(1ellar amounts m thousands )

Sehedules of Funding Progress

Pension
Actuarial Actuarial
Actuarial value of acerued Unfumiled Funded ratio Covered
valustion date assiels (u) Tiability (h) {1-u) {alh) payroll (e} {{b-a)ic)
January 1,2001 % 155 B9 QU 457 IRENHES T21% § 4417 33 a0t
Janary 1, 206040 351,526 433,213 101,687 THE % 0482 [43.5
Junuary 1, 2008 3647 410270 32,623 Qn % 69345 4740
Oiiher Post Employment Henefits

June ML, 21112 % —_ 504 RRA 304 8RR —% 5 173,404 201 1%
June 30, 2010 093,570 643,570 - % 171,103 454
Jume 30, 2008 — 635,224 (35,224 — % 147 (84 4119

Sehedule of Contributions from City — Fension

Annual
required Percentage
contribution contribuled
Year cnded December 31
011 L 12,732 | 0%
2010 141,342 110
2009 9700 100

See accompanying mdependent audilurs” repor



